Epidemiology of sexually transmitted human papillomavirus infection in young females and their sequential male partners

Andrew W. Arthur

Department of Epidemiology, Biostatistics and Occupational Health McGill University, Montréal

April 2023



A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Science in Epidemiology.

© Andrew W. Arthur, 2023

ABSTRACT

Background: The etiologic role of human papillomavirus (HPV) infections in cervical cancer is well established. Secondary cervical cancer prevention requires a detailed understanding of vaginal HPV infection natural history. Characterizing HPV transmission from previous sexual relationships to subsequent sex partners may have implications for primary HPV-related cancer prevention.

Objectives: Manuscript 1 examines detection and clearance rates for vaginal HPV infections among females in new heterosexual relationships. Manuscript 2 characterizes type-specific HPV positivity between sequential male partners of the same female.

Methods: Genital HPV genotyping and sexual behaviour data were collected on recently-paired Montréal couples in the HPV Infection and Transmission among Couples through Heterosexual activity (HITCH) prospective cohort study. Females provided vaginal samples at 0-, 4-, 8-, 12-, 18- and 24-months, while males provided scrotal and penile samples at 0- and 4-months. Data from 501 women (aged 18-24) were analyzed in Manuscript 1; time-to-event statistics for detection and clearance of HPV infections were calculated at the woman- and HPV-levels using Kaplan-Meier analysis and rates. Data from 42 female-linked sequential partnerships (42 male 1–42 female–42 male 2) were used in Manuscript 2; 1,512 detectable HPV infections were analyzed. Observed/expected ratios for infection concordance between males 1 and 2 were calculated. Using mixed-effects regression, odds ratios (ORs) for male 2 testing positive for the same HPV type as male 1 were estimated. 95% confidence intervals are provided in parentheses. Analyses were performed for any HPV type and by subgenera of the Alphapapillomavirus genus. Subgenus 1 includes low oncogenic risk HPV types, subgenus 2 high oncogenic risk types, and subgenus 3 commensal types.

Results: In Manuscript 1, by 24 months, one or more incident HPV infections were detected in 40.4% (33.4-48.4) of women. Incident subgenera 1, 2 and 3 infections cleared at comparable rates per 1000 infection-months: 43.4 (33.6-56.4), 47.1 (39.9-55.5) and 46.6 (37.7-57.7), respectively. In Manuscript 2, detection of the same HPV type in males 1 and 2 occurred 2.6 (1.9-3.5) times more often than chance. The OR for male 2 positivity was 4.2 (2.5-7.0). Adjusting for the number of times the linking female partner tested positive for the same HPV type attenuated the relationship between male 1 and 2 positivity.

Discussion: In Manuscript 1, HPV-level analyses did not clearly indicate that oncogenic subgenus 2 infections take longer to clear than low oncogenic-risk subgenera 1 and 3 infections. In Manuscript 2, type-specific HPV positivity in males 1 and 2 was not independent. OR estimates suggested mediation by the number of times the female tested positive; infections were likely transmitted to male 2 via the female.

Conclusions: Type-specific estimates of HPV infection natural history can provide biologically informed parameters for cervical screening. HPV positivity in male 1-female partnerships predicted positivity in male 2 when the linking female partner was persistently positive. Vaccinating males may therefore prevent HPV infection in unvaccinated ordinal sexual connections.

RÉSUMÉ

Contexte : Le rôle du virus du papillome humain (VPH) dans l'étiologie du cancer du col de l'utérus est bien établi. L'étude approfondie des infections vaginales par le VPH est nécessaire pour la prévention secondaire du cancer du col de l'utérus via le dépistage moléculaire du VPH. La caractérisation de la transmission du VPH des relations sexuelles antérieures aux partenaires sexuels suivants pourrait informer la prévention primaire des cancers liés au VPH.

Objectifs : Le premier manuscrit examine les taux de détection et de clairance des infections vaginales au VPH chez les femmes ayant de nouvelles relations hétérosexuelles. Le deuxième manuscrit caractérise les infections au VPH de type spécifique entre les partenaires mâles séquentiels d'une même femme.

Méthodes : Le génotype du VPH génital et les comportements sexuelles des couples montréalais récemment formés ont été collectés au cours de l'étude de cohorte prospective L'infection et la transmission du VPH chez les couples hétérosexuels (HPV Infection and Transmission among Couples through Heterosexual activity (HITCH)). Les participantes ont fourni des prélèvements vaginaux à 0, 4, 8, 12, 18 et 24 mois, tandis que les participants ont fourni des prélèvements de scrotum et de pénis à 0 et à 4 mois. Les données de 501 femmes (âgées de 18 à 24) ont été analysées au sein du manuscrit 1 ; nous avons utilisé les taux Kaplan-Meier pour analyser la détection et la clairance des infections par le VPH au niveau de la femme et au niveau du VPH. Les données de 42 partenariats séquentiels liés à des femmes (42 mâle 1-42 femelle-42 mâle 2) ont été analysés dans le manuscrit 2 ; 1 512 infections détectables au VPH. Les ratios observés/attendus de concordance des infections entre les mâles 1 et 2 ont été calculés. Nous avons estimé les rapports de cotes (OR), avec intervalles de confiance à 95%, pour le mâle 2 testant positif pour le même type de VPH que le mâle 1 à l'aide de la régression à effets mixtes. Les analyses ont été effectuées

pour chaque type de VPH et par sous-genre de Alphapapillomavirus. Le sous-genre 1 comprend les types de VPH faible risque oncogène, le sous-genre 2 comprend ceux à risque oncogène élevé et le sous-genre 3 comprend les types commensaux.

Résultats : Dans le manuscrit 1, après 24 mois de suivi, une ou plusieurs infections incidentes au VPH ont été détectées chez 40,4% (33,4-48,4) des femmes. Les taux de clairance des infections incidentes des sous-genres 1, 2 et 3 étaient comparables ; 43,4 (33,6-56,4), 47,1 (39,9-55,5) et 46,6 (37,7-57,7) par 1000 infections-mois, respectivement. Dans le manuscrit 2, la détection d'un même type de VPH chez les mâles 1 et 2 a eu lieu 2,6 (1,9-3,5) fois plus fréquemment que le hasard. Le OR pour la positivité du mâle 2 était de 4,2 (2,5-7,0). L'ajustement pour le nombre de fois que la femelle commune a testé positive pour ce même type de VPH a atténué la relation entre la positivé des mâles 1 et 2.

Discussion : Dans le manuscrit 1, les analyses au niveau du VPH n'indiquaient pas clairement que les infections du sous-genre 2 oncogénique étaient éliminées plus lentement que celles des sousgenres 1 et 3 à faible risque oncogène. Dans le manuscrit 2, la positivité spécifique au type de VPH chez les mâles 1 et 2 n'était pas indépendante. Les estimés des OR suggéraient que le nombre de fois que la femelle testait positive pour ce type agissait comme médiateur ; les infections chez le deuxième mâle étaient vraisemblablement transmises via la femelle.

Conclusions : Les estimés spécifiques au type de VPH de l'histoire naturelle de l'infection, peuvent fournir des paramètres pour le dépistage du cancer du col de l'utérus informés par la biologie. La positivité au VPH dans un partenariat mâle 1-femelle était un prédicteur de la positivité chez le mâle 2 lorsque la femelle commune était positive de façon persistante. La vaccination des mâles pourrait donc prévenir l'infection par le VPH chez les contacts sexuels ordinaux non-vaccinés.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The greatest privilege of completing a Master of Science degree at McGill University has been working with Dr. Eduardo L. Franco. The first time I met with Dr. Franco to discuss supervision, I could not have been more excited to learn the ropes of infectious disease and cancer research from one of the field's foremost experts. I did not know how much more I would gain by working together over the past three years. Dr. Franco has given me the opportunity to prepare manuscripts for publication, present my findings at academic conferences, lead my own seminars, and work as an Assistant Editor for two keystone public health journals. For all of this I am truly grateful. I cannot thank Dr. Franco enough for always making time for mentorship – from discussing the next steps in my analysis, to helping me prepare applications for funding opportunities, to casual chats at the office.

Dr. Mariam El-Zein, the Division of Cancer Epidemiology's Associate Director for research has been a supportive, guiding presence since I arrived at McGill University. When I had a question, Mariam was there to help me search for an answer, and when I encountered a roadblock, she was there to reassure me that I could push past it. Two things I respect most about Mariam are her commitment to achieving the best possible end-product, and her ability to turn a difficult task into a surmountable challenge with conversation and laughter.

Dr. Ann Burchell has gone above and beyond her role as a member of my thesis committee. Each time I asked for another perspective on an analytical challenge that was cloudy from my own vantage point, Dr. Burchell provided a clarifying explanation. Additionally, Dr. Burchell helped me get involved in the Engage-HPV study, which resulted in an enriching knowledge translation internship that has informed my career goals and aspirations. I am grateful to Dr. Talía Malagón (epidemiologist and mathematical modeller at the Division of Cancer Epidemiology) for devoting hours of her time to helping me prepare statistical models with correlated data. I would also like to thank Cassandra Laurie, Dr. Samantha Morais and Suganthiny Jeyaganth for helping me to operationalize my statistical analyses into code. For their moral and academic support, I thank my friends and teammates, Maureen Churipuy, Maggie Logel, Parker Tope, Rodrigo Noorani Espinoza and Sarah Botting-Provost. Special thanks to Sarah for translating the *Résumé* of this thesis.

For their substantial contribution to humanity's scientific understanding of human papillomavirus infections and human papillomavirus-associated cancers, I extend my sincere gratitude to the participants of the HITCH study.

For their financial support, I thank Dr. Franco, the McGill University Doctoral Internship Program, the Hirsh & Schulman Education Fund, and the McGill University Experimental Medicine Graduate Students' Society.

Lastly and importantly, I give thanks to my family, namely, my mother, Judy; father, Greg; grandmother, Rose; and grandfather, Bill for their unconditional love and support, for inspiring my passion for learning, and for their belief in me.

CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS

This thesis includes 2 original manuscripts. Both used data from the Human papillomavirus (HPV) Infection and Transmission among Couples through Heterosexual activity (HITCH) Cohort Study that was designed by Eduardo L. Franco and Ann N. Burchell. Eduardo L. Franco and Ann N. Burchell obtained funding. Eduardo L. Franco was the principal investigator for the study. Ann N. Burchell oversaw recruitment, data collection, provision of HPV test results to participants, and database design. Pierre-Paul Tellier oversaw clinical activities and recruitment. Francois Coutlée supervised laboratory analyses and the quality of polymerase chain reaction assays. Mariam El-Zein and Ann N. Burchell managed the HITCH database. Andrew W. Arthur performed statistical analyses and drafted the manuscripts under the supervision of Mariam El-Zein and Eduardo L. Franco. Ann N. Burchell provided statistical analysis consultation.

PREFACE

This thesis includes a literature review, methods, two original research manuscripts, and a discussion. Both manuscripts were prepared according to scientific journal submission guidelines; for continuity, prefixes have been added to all inserts. Tables, figures, and appendices are identified as belonging to Manuscript 1 (M1-), Manuscript 2 (M2-), or the Thesis as a whole (T-).

TABLE OF CONTENTS

AbstractI
Résumé III
AcknowledgementsV
Contribution of Authors
PrefaceVIII
Table of ContentsIX
List of Tables
List of FiguresXII
List of Appendices XIII
List of Acronyms & AbbreviationsXV
Chapter 1. Introduction
1.1 Rationale1
1.2 Objectives
1.3 Literature Review
1.3.1 Virology
1.3.2 Phylogenetic Classification
1.3.3 Descriptive Epidemiology
1.3.4 Transmission
1.3.5 Natural History7
1.3.6 Neoplastic Development
1.3.7 HPV-Related Cancer Burden11
1.3.8 Primary HPV-Related Cancer Prevention11
1.3.9 Secondary Cervical Cancer Prevention
Chapter 2. Methods
2.1 HPV-Level Analysis & Intraparticipant Correlation
2.2 Male Genital Samples
2.3 Probability Analysis
2.4 Mediation Analysis
Chapter 3. HPV Natural History in Young Females
3.1 Preface

3.2 Detection and clearance of type-specific and phylogenetically related genital h	uman
papillomavirus infections in young women in new heterosexual relationships	
3.2.1 Abstract	
3.2.2 Introduction	
3.2.3 Methods	
3.2.4 Results	
3.2.5 Discussion	
3.2.6 Notes	
3.2.7 References	
3.2.8 Tables & Figures	40
Chapter 4. HPV Transmission in Females' Sequential Male Partners	52
4.1 Preface	52
4.2 Epidemiology of genital human papillomavirus infections in sequential male se of young females	ex partners
4.2.1 Abstract	54
4.2.2 Introduction	55
4.2.3 Methods	55
4.2.4 Results	58
4.2.5 Discussion	60
4.2.6 Notes	63
4.2.7 Transparency Declaration	64
4.2.8 References	65
4.2.9 Tables & Figures	71
Chapter 5. Discussion	77
5.1 Key Findings	77
5.2 Strengths and Limitations	81
5.3 Conclusions	82
References	83
Appendices	

LIST OF TABLES

T-Table 1. Genital HPV transmission rates in longitudinal couple-based studies
T-Table 2. Genital HPV incidence in longitudinal studies of young women
T-Table 3. Genital HPV persistence in longitudinal studies of young women
T-Table 4. Estimated global burden of HPV-related cancers in 2020, by site
M1-Table 1. Prevalence at each visit $[n_{positive}, \% (95\% \text{ CI})]$ of individual HPV types, grouped types at the woman-level, and grouped types at the HPV level per visit, by subgenus. Sample size at each visit is reported for woman- (n_w) and HPV- (n_{HPV}) level analyses
M1-Table 2. Single detection of incident infection for individual HPV types, grouped types at the woman-level, and grouped types at the HPV-level, by subgenus
M1-Table 3. Liberal clearance of infection present at baseline for individual HPV types, grouped types at the woman-level, and grouped types at the HPV-level, by subgenus
M1-Table 4. Liberal clearance of incident infection for individual HPV types, grouped types at the woman-level, and grouped types at the HPV-level, by subgenus
M2-Table 1. Self-reported baseline characteristics of linked partnerships in the HITCH study.71
M2-Table 2. Type-specific HPV concordance between male 1 and male 2, overall and by subgenus
M2-Table 3. Crude, adjusted, and stratified odds ratios (95% confidence intervals) for the association of type-specific HPV positivity between male 1 and 2, overall and by subgenus 74
T-Table 5. Odds ratios (95% confidence intervals) for the association of type-specific HPV positivity between males 1 and 2, overall and by subgenera

LIST OF FIGURES

T-Figure 1. HPV positivity at the HPV-level across follow-up for one female-linked partnership. 15
M1-Figure 1A. Analytical framework for single detection of incident infection
M1-Figure 1B. Analytical framework for liberal clearance of incident infection
M1-Figure 2. Single detection of incident infection with any (A) HPV type(s), (B) subgenus 1, (C) subgenus 2, and (D) subgenus 3 type(s), at the woman-level
M1-Figure 3. Liberal clearance of all (A) HPV type(s), (B) subgenus 1, (C) subgenus 2, and (D) subgenus 3 type(s) for infections present at baseline (blue) and incident infections (red), at the woman-level
M2-Figure 1. Sample selection in the HITCH study and analytic framework
T-Figure 2. Potential mediation of the association between male 1 and male 2 HPV positivity via persistent infection in the linking female partner

LIST OF APPENDICES

M1-Addendum S1. Woman-Level Analyses of Given HPV Types 108
M1-Addendum S2. Woman-Level Analyses of Grouped HPV Types 108
M1-Addendum S3. HPV-Level Analyses of Grouped HPV Types
M2-Table S1. Agreement between sample collection sites and visits in males for type-specific HPV positivity, overall and by subgenus
M2-Figure S1. Distribution of time elapsed between male 1 last available sample and male 2 baseline sample within linked partnerships
M2-Figure S2. Expected human papillomavirus (HPV) concordance between male 1 and male 2.

LIST OF ACRONYMS & ABBREVIATIONS

ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
CI	Confidence interval
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
HITCH	HPV Infection and Transmission among Couples through Heterosexual activity
HPV	Human papillomavirus
IQR	Interquartile range
KM	Kaplan-Meier
M1-	Manuscript 1 insert
M2-	Manuscript 2 insert
Male 1	Upstream male partner
Male 2	Downstream male partner
Mos.	Months
NA	Not applicable
NC	No concordance
NCE	No concordance expected
NR	Not reached
O/E	Observed/expected
OR	Odds ratio
p53	Tumor suppressor protein p53
pRB	Retinoblastoma protein
Reps.	Replications
STI	Sexually transmitted infection
T-	Thesis insert

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 RATIONALE

Human papillomavirus (HPV) is the most prevalent sexually transmitted infection (STI).¹ Persistent genital infections with oncogenic HPV genotypes (hereafter "HPV types") are a wellestablished necessary cause of cervical cancer.²⁻⁴ Varying proportions of penile, anal, vulvar, vaginal, and head and neck cancers are also attributable to oncogenic HPV infection.⁵ Sexually active young adults are at the highest risk of contracting HPV.¹ As a result, studies of heterosexual females and males in this age group have been essential in characterising infection transmission and natural history. Both HPV transmission and natural history are relevant to HPV-related cancer prevention planning, each for distinct reasons. Cervical cancer screening (i.e., secondary prevention) via molecular HPV testing relies on detailed type-specific HPV infection natural history data to optimize screening algorithms, particularly as a declining proportion of future cervical lesions result from infections with vaccine-preventable oncogenic HPV types.^{6,7} Complementarily, a clear understanding of HPV transmission facilitates primary HPV-related cancer prevention by identifying best practices for minimizing incident oncogenic infections (e.g., vaccination targeting).

The HPV Infection and Transmission among Couples through Heterosexual activity (HITCH) prospective cohort study enrolled young adult females and their male partner(s).⁸ The HITCH study has three features that are especially relevant to this thesis. Firstly, female and male sex partners provided genital samples longitudinally; samples were tested for 36 HPV types, facilitating the use of HPV infections as the units of analysis. Secondly, couples in the HITCH study were eligible only if they had been sexually active together for 6 months or less. New sex partners can expose each other to new HPV genotypes,⁹⁻¹² increasing infection incidence,

clearance, and transmission in the cohort. Finally, some females enrolled in the HITCH study recruited multiple male sex partners; therefore, HPV genotyping data are available for sequential male partners of the same female.

1.2 OBJECTIVES

Considering the HITCH study's unique positioning to provide evidence to inform primary and secondary HPV-related cancer prevention, we formulated two objectives: first, to study the natural history of type-specific genital HPV infections in young women; second, to characterize the transmission of HPV infections from one heterosexual partnership to a novel partner in the next. We addressed these objectives via two original research manuscripts.

1.3 LITERATURE REVIEW

1.3.1 Virology

Papillomaviruses are an ancient group of infectious agents commonly found in vertebrate epithelial tissues. HPV has a genetic propensity for infecting the epithelial tissue of *Homo sapiens* as a result of co-evolution in response to human epithelial tissue adaptations.¹³ The HPV virion's approximately 8,000 base-pair circular DNA genome encodes 8 genes.¹⁴ Each gene encodes one of 8 proteins – E6, E7, E1, E2, E4, E5, L2 and L1– all playing a role in the viral life cycle.¹³

During infection, the HPV virion accesses and binds to heparin sulfate proteoglycan receptors on keratinocyte stem cells in the basal layer of the epithelium via lesions (for instance, lesions induced by sexual activity).^{13,15} After cell entry, gene expression is controlled by silencers, enhancers and promoters in the long control region at the start of the HPV genome.¹⁴ This process allows the virus to modulate changes in infected epithelial cells as needed to perpetuate its life cycle. As infected keratinocytes mature and move toward the epithelial surface, E1 (ATP-dependent helicase) and E2 proteins upregulate HPV DNA production.¹³ Signaling between the

long control region and infected cell facilitates E6 and E7 protein production. E6 proteins bind to tumor suppressor protein p53, and E7 proteins bind to retinoblastoma protein pRB, inactivating p53 and pRB.¹⁴ Via the epidermal growth factor receptor, the E5 protein stimulates cell growth.¹³ The combined result is cell proliferation in the spinous and granular layers of the upper epidermis.¹⁵ As cells proliferate, new HPV genomes are packaged for viral release. The L1 gene produces the major capsid protein which gives the virion its bumpy, roughly spherical (icosahedral) shape. L2 minor capsid proteins are interspersed across the capsid.¹⁴ The E4 protein promotes viral release about 3 weeks post-infection, in tandem with infected keratinocytes' migration through the epidermis and desquamation from the epidermal surface.¹³⁻¹⁵

1.3.2 Phylogenetic Classification

The L1 gene encodes hypervariable loops.¹³ Unique HPV genotypes (HPV types) can be identified via polymerase chain reaction amplifying a segment of 450 base pairs on the L1 gene.¹⁶ L1's hypervariability has informed the gene's use in distinguishing unique HPV types based on differences in nucleotide sequences $\geq 10\%$.¹³

The Alphapapillomavirus genus is a group of HPV types often found in the human anogenital region and oral mucosa. The genus can be divided into 3 subgenera, each with unique oncogenicity and tissue tropism properties. Subgenus 1 includes low oncogenic risk mucosal HPV types, subgenus 2 high oncogenic risk mucosal types, and subgenus 3 commensal, low oncogenic risk mucocutaneous types.^{13,17} The HPV genome's long control region appears to regulate an HPV type's predilection for particular epithelial tissues. For example, mucosal HPV types may target stem cells in the cervix, while mucocutaneous types may target stem cells in the bulge region of the hair follicle.¹³

Oncogenic activity *and* viral persistence are both relevant to an HPV type's ability to induce malignant transformation.¹⁷ High oncogenic risk types (i.e., subgenus 2 types) produce E6 and E7 proteins that bind more efficiently to tumor suppressor protein p53 and retinoblastoma protein pRB, compared to lower oncogenic risk types (e.g., subgenera 1 and 3 types). This may allow high oncogenic risk types to immortalize the cell and halt DNA repair, potentially inducing cancer development.¹⁴ However, persistence of the viral infection is required to allow sufficient mutations to accumulate. E6 and E7 proteins produced by higher oncogenic risk HPV types may also downregulate interferon expression, which may help the infection circumvent immune surveillance and persist longer.¹⁵ The most carcinogenic HPV types are characterised by both greater oncogenicity and ability to persist.¹⁷

1.3.3 Descriptive Epidemiology

HPV is the most common STI worldwide,¹⁸ with young adults bearing the largest burden of prevalent infections.¹ An estimated 75% of women become infected with HPV at some point in their sexually active lifespan.¹⁸ Genital infections are most prevalent in women shortly after sexual debut. Prevalence declines with age, which might be explained by the development of humoral immunity following sexual exposure to various HPV types. Infection prevalence increases again in post-menopausal women, the cause of which has not been definitively explained.¹ For male genital HPV positivity there is no age-related decline, but prevalence increases in both sexes with an increasing number of past sex partners.¹⁸ Smoking, hormonal contraceptive use, earlier coitarche, concurrent STIs, intact foreskin, immune suppression, and an increasing number of births have been identified as factors that may raise the risk of prevalent or incident HPV infection.^{1,18} It is not clear whether condom use reliably lowers the risk of infection,¹ possibly due to the virus's high transmissibility.¹²

1.3.4 Transmission

STI transmission is strongly influenced by two factors: sexual partnership timing and sexual networks. There is a limited window of time after STI infection where the infectious agent is (either sufficiently or maximally) transmissible to a sex partner. The time elapsed between infection acquisition and intercourse with a new sex partner/sex partners is therefore thought to be relevant to whether the infection is transmitted.¹⁹ Each partner in a sexual relationship can have concurrent partners (i.e., multiple sex partners at once), or be serially monogamous (i.e., one sex partner at a time). Monogamy is the most common type of sexual partnership worldwide.²⁰ However, individuals with concurrent partners and individuals who are serially monogamous can both transmit STIs to their sex partner(s). One's odds of contracting an STI decline as the time since their sex partner's last sexual relationship grows longer.¹⁹

Additionally, an individual's position inside a sexual network is relevant to their risk of contracting and transmitting STIs. Sexual networks are branched maps that connect a population of individuals to their sex partners. These maps visualize one's ordinal sexual connections (i.e., 1° connections: sex partner(s), 2° connections: sex partner's partner(s), 3° connections: sex partner's partner's partner(s), etc.). Mathematical modelling has estimated that sexual connections as far away as 3° may be relevant to individual STI risk.²¹ Persons with many direct and indirect sexual connections tend to be located in the core of the sexual network, and those with fewer connections tend to be on its periphery. It is thought that individuals in the core of the network drive epidemic STI increases while individuals in the periphery maintain endemic levels of infection.²²

According to stochastic modelling based on HPV prevalence in young women, each act of intercourse carries a 40% HPV transmission probability, on average. Transmission is expected to be almost certain after 11 sex acts between partners.¹² This finding suggests HPV is considerably

more contagious via sexual contact compared to other viral STIs such as human immunodeficiency virus and herpes simplex virus-2.¹²

Couple-based studies have frequently used probability theory to examine HPV's sexual transmissibility. Using the prevalence of HPV in partners of each sex, these studies have calculated the number of couples expected to be concordant for HPV infection(s) by chance (further details in *Methods*). Observed concordance is consistently higher than expected by chance.²³⁻²⁵ Higher-than-expected concordance between partners implies that the HPV positivity of current sex partners is not independent, which is a presumptive indication of HPV's sexual transmissibility.

Characterising incident HPV transmission requires prospective longitudinal HPV genotyping data for both individuals in an ongoing sexual partnership (i.e., data from longitudinal couple-based studies). As shown in T-Table 1, multiple couple-based studies have estimated genital HPV infection transmission to be a common occurrence in heterosexual couples. Of note, relatively high transmission rates were observed in the HITCH study, likely attributable to restriction to couples who recently initiated their sexual relationship.²⁶

Study	n	Male→Female (95% CI) ^b	Female→Male (95% CI) ^b
Hernandez et al., 2008 ²⁷	25	45 (15-93)27	278 (190-383) ²⁷
Burchell et al., 2011 ²⁶	179	35 (27-45)	40 (30-55)
Widdice et al., 2013 ²⁸	25	92 (11-333) ^c	214 (78-465) ^c
Nyitray et al., 2014 ²⁹	65	7 (4-14)	12 (7-20)
Liu et al., 2015 ³⁰	296	7 (5-11)	6 (3-12)
Su et al., 2019 ³¹	97	12 (4-31)	11 (6-22)

T-Table 1. Genital HPV transmission rates in longitudinal couple-based studies.^a

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; HPV, human papillomavirus.

^a Adapted from Balaji et al., 2020;³² transmission rates for Hernandez et al., 2008 extracted from original article to include any male genital⇔cervix/urine transmission.²⁷

^b Transmissions per 1000 person-months.

^c Rate available for anogenital transmission only.

According to recent meta-analyzed estimates based on longitudinal couple-based studies, the preponderance of evidence favours a slightly higher rate of transmission in the female \rightarrow male direction (30 transmissions per 1000 person-months) vs. the male \rightarrow female direction (16 transmissions per 1000 person-months).³²

1.3.5 Natural History

Several prospective cohort studies of young women have used longitudinal HPV genotyping data to characterise the incidence of HPV infections. One meta-analysis has estimated an incidence rate of 15.6 infections per 1000 woman-months.³³ The extent of heterogeneity between individual studies makes comparison of results somewhat difficult; HPV incidence is partially dependent on the number of HPV types genotyped and the composition of the study population (in particular, its age distribution). Nonetheless, as shown in T-Table 2, HPV incidence in young women is high, with 18-41% of women contracting at least one infection over a period of 1 year. Additionally, incidence is very similar comparing women who are sexually experienced to women who have had one lifetime sex partner,³⁴ or recently experienced coitarche.⁹

Study	n	Age Range (years)	Incidence Rate (95% CI) ^a	1-Year Incidence (%)
Ho et al., 1998 ³⁵	399	Mean: 20 ^b	NA	20
Collins et al., 2002 ³⁴	242	15-19	NA	Pre-Coitarche: ^c ~25 ^d
Giuliano et al., 2002 ¹¹	173	18-35	29 (21-41)	41
Richardson et al., 2003 ³⁶	420	17-42	19 (16-22)	18
Winer et al., 2003 ⁹	444	18-20	NA	Pre-Coitarche: ^c ~30 ^d Post-Coitarche: ^c ~22 ^d
Ramanakumar et al., 2016 ³⁷	553	15-25	21 (18-23)	29

T-Table 2. Genital HPV incidence in longitudinal studies of young women.

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; HPV, human papillomavirus; NA, not available.

^a Infections per 1000 woman-months.

^bRange not provided.

^c As of baseline.

^d Extrapolated from Kaplan-Meier curve.

While HPV infections are exceptionally common, most are cleared by the immune system. Clearance appears to depend on cell-mediated immunity, since HPV-associated lesion regression involves a strong T cell, macrophage, cytokine and antibody response.¹⁵ HPV infection clearance in women has a roughly exponential decay, with the clearance rate approaching 0 among still-persisting infections around 3 years.³⁸ HPV infections may persist as a result of various adaptions that allow the virus to evade the immune system indefinitely. For instance, HPV's lifecycle seems to be synchronized with that of keratinocytes. Keratinocytes' pre-programmed maturation and death are normal biological expectations in healthy individuals.¹⁵ A lack of signals indicating abnormal activity makes it difficult for the immune system to detect the virus. Additionally, HPV virions may not activate antigen-presenting Langerhans cells, thereby hindering T cells' ability to initiate adaptive immunity.¹⁵

The typical persistence of an HPV infection is of great public health interest because infection persistence is necessary for the development of cervical cancer.²⁻⁴ Cohort studies of young women have attempted to characterize infection persistence by measuring the time elapsed before HPV infection clearance. A meta-analysis of 15 infection natural history studies has approximated a median persistence of 9.8 months.³⁹ Similar to studies of HPV infection detection, comparison between infection persistence studies is challenging given different study designs, HPV genotyping strategies, and study population heterogeneity. Measurement of infection persistence is also sensitive to varying definitions of "infection clearance," and increasing time gaps between clinical sampling can overestimate the time at which infections clear. As demonstrated in T-Table 3, median persistence estimates from these studies vary greatly, from 8 to 17 months.

Study	n	Age Range (years)	Median Persistence (months)
Ho et al., 1998 ³⁵	175	Mean: 20 ^a	8
Moscicki et al., 199840	513	13-22	$\sim 8^{b}$
Woodman et al., 2001 ⁴¹	407	15-19	14
Giuliano et al., 2002 ¹¹	NA	18-35	$\sim 9^{b}$
Richardson et al., 2003 ³⁶	155	17-42	17
Ramanakumar et al., 2016 ³⁷	320 ^c	15-25	15

T-Table 3. Genital HPV persistence in longitudinal studies of young women.

Abbreviations: HPV, human papillomavirus; NA, not available.

^a Range not provided.

^b Extrapolated from Kaplan-Meier curve.

^c Extrapolated from incident infection count.

There is convincing evidence that some HPV infections that would traditionally be considered "cleared" remain present, dampened to a latent state by the immune system.⁴² These infections generate HPV DNA at levels that are undetectable using current genotyping technologies, and may re-emerge in mid-adulthood following loss of immune control.⁴²

1.3.6 Neoplastic Development

Although HPV infections are generally asymptomatic,¹ those that cause harm do so via neoplastic development. A small proportion of infections result in benign tumors and a smaller proportion result in malignant neoplasia, depending on the HPV type involved. HPVs 6 and 11 cause about 94% of condyloma acuminata (genital warts).¹⁸ Genital warts often appear as smooth tumors on the cervix, and keratotic tumors elsewhere.¹⁸ With an estimated prevalence of 1% in the sexually active United States population,⁴³ genital warts are a common consequence of HPV infection.

Most of our knowledge on type-specific HPV oncogenicity comes from HPV types' involvement in invasive cervical cancer. The vast majority of HPV-related malignant neoplasia is caused by HPVs 16, 18, 31, 33, 35, 45, 52 and 58. There is less certain, but convincing evidence

that HPVs 39, 51, 56 and 59 also cause a small proportion of malignant neoplasia.⁴⁴ For this reason, all aforementioned types are considered definite carcinogens by the International Agency for Research on Cancer.^{2,44} Persistent infection with oncogenic HPV types is a necessary cause of cervical cancer, with 99.7% of cervical carcinomas containing HPV DNA or other viral components.³ HPVs 16 and 18, in particular, are present in roughly 70% of invasive cervical cancer cells.⁴⁴ While epidemiologic data are limited in their ability to verify the oncogenicity of subgenus 2 HPV types not aforementioned, their shared phylogenetic lineage suggests they are capable of carcinogenicity, regardless of whether they ultimately induce malignant transformation.^{17,44} Infections caused by many Alphapapillomavirus HPV types are capable of persisting, but only persistent infections with types belonging to subgenus 2 present an elevated risk of progressing cervical cells to a severe dysplastic or cancerous state.¹⁷

Minor subclinical cytological abnormalities are probable in HPV-infected individuals (observed in ¹/₄ to ¹/₂ of HPV DNA positive women).³⁸ However, the relative risk of cervical neoplasia increases as the infection persists longer.⁴ Precancer can develop within 2-20 years of infection.^{14,38} Generally, infections that progress cervical cells to neoplasia are thought to be abortive (i.e., infections no longer efficiently replicating the HPV virion), characterised by overexpression of oncoproteins E6 and E7.¹³ HPV-related cancers may occur more often in epithelial cell types that don't support productive HPV infections, possibly explaining higher risks of cancer at anatomical sites that high oncogenic risk types preferentially infect.¹³

While the risk of cervical precancer/cancer posed by persistent HPV infection often drowns out the impact of other risk factors, among the best-characterized are smoking, increasing numbers of births, and extended use of hormonal contraceptives.³⁸

1.3.7 HPV-Related Cancer Burden

According to 2020 GLOBOCAN estimates, with about 604,000 cases and 342,000 deaths, cervical cancer is the second most common and second most lethal cancer in females, worldwide.⁴⁵ As shown in T-Table 4, other HPV-related cancers are not 100% attributable to HPV infection. However, HPV is responsible for most anal, vaginal, and penile cancers, worldwide.

Site	2020 Global Incidence (<i>n</i>) ⁴⁵	HPV-Attributable Burden (%) ⁵
Cervical Cancer	604,127	100
Anal Cancer	50,865	88
Vaginal Cancer	17,908	78
Penile Cancer	36,068	51
Vulvar Cancer	45,240	1 5-4 8ª
Oropharyngeal Cancer	98,412	13-60 ^b
Laryngeal Cancer	184,615	5
Cancer of the Oral Cavity	377,713	4

T-Table 4. Estimated global burden of HPV-related cancers in 2020, by site.

^a Dependent on age.

^b Dependent on world region.

1.3.8 Primary HPV-Related Cancer Prevention

Prophylactic HPV vaccines create adaptive immunity by exposing immune cells to empty viral shells composed of L1 capsid proteins, which induces the production of HPV type-specific antigen-neutralizing IgG antibodies.¹⁵ Three Health Canada authorized vaccines provide coverage for different combinations of HPV types: CERVARIX® (GSK plc, United Kingdom) prevents infection with HPVs 16 and 18; GARDASIL® (Merck Group, Germany) prevents infection with HPVs 6, 11, 16, and 18; and GARDASIL9® (Merck Group, Germany) prevents infection with HPVs 6, 11, 16, 18, 31, 33, 45, 52, and 58. Vaccine efficacy in preventing infection with covered HPV types is high – for instance, 98% for the first-authorized vaccine, GARDASIL®.⁴⁶ Three years after GARDASIL®'s introduction in the United States, the prevalence of HPVs 6, 11, 16, and 18 in the first cohort of vaccine-eligible females halved (compared to three years before introduction).⁴⁷ About 90% of HPV-positive invasive cervical cancer cells are positive for a

GARDASIL9®-preventable HPV type, as well as 96%, 63%, and 25% of female anal, vaginal, and vulvar cancers, respectively.⁶

Males also gain protection from HPV-related cancers via vaccination. However, the burden of male HPV-related cancers is roughly 9% of the burden of female HPV-related cancers.⁵ As a result, gender-neutral HPV vaccination is controversial. A key source of controversy relates to herd immunity in STI vaccination contexts. Herd immunity occurs when a vaccinated persons' immunity to HPV stops them from contracting and therefore transmitting the virus. Infection prevalence in the population decreases, protecting unvaccinated individuals as a side-effect. Because STI transmission requires sexual contact between two people, and the majority of the population prefers sexual contact with the opposite sex, one sex benefits from herd effects when only the opposite sex is vaccinated.^{48,49} Due to herd immunity gained by heterosexual males via female-only HPV vaccination, vaccinating both males and females is generally not considered cost-effective.⁵⁰ However, elimination of the most oncogenic HPV type, HPV16, is only likely when 4 in 5 people of *both* sexes are vaccinated.⁵⁰ Additionally, since males tend to have more sexual partners than females,²⁰ and herd effects are stronger when STI vaccination is targeted toward persons with higher risk sexual behaviour,^{21,48} it is possible that vaccinating males may exert greater herd effects than vaccinating females. There are also a number of ethical implications to female-only vs. gender-neutral vaccination, ranging from the lack of secondary prevention options for male HPV-related cancers, to the absence of herd immunity benefits for unvaccinated men who have sex with men and transfeminine persons.⁵¹

1.3.9 Secondary Cervical Cancer Prevention

While Pap cytology has been the dominant secondary cervical cancer prevention strategy for decades, molecular HPV testing's superior sensitivity in detecting cervical precancer⁵² will

continue to inform its substitution as the optimal technique for opportunistic and organized cervical screening programs over the coming years. Molecular HPV testing uses HPV positivity as a predictor of precancerous lesion presence. As HPV vaccination prevents an increasing share of oncogenic HPV infections, the incidence of precancerous lesions will decline. Since molecular HPV testing's positive predictive value is dependent on the prevalence of precancerous lesions in the population, the test's ability to identify women who truly have cervical lesions will decrease with time.⁷

Molecular HPV testing's performance may need to be re-evaluated in response to fewer vaccine-preventable infections – a process which relies on mathematical modelling. Given the HPV type-dependent nature of cervical carcinogenesis, such models will require parameters informed by granular type-specific estimates of HPV infection natural history.

CHAPTER 2. METHODS

Below is a discussion of methodological constructs that permeate chapters 3 and 4 of this thesis. To avoid unnecessary repetition, full methodologies for manuscripts 1 and 2 are available in sections 3.2.3 and 4.2.3. The following descriptions add granularity and may be used as a reference throughout for additional detail.

2.1 HPV-Level Analysis & Intraparticipant Correlation

We used the Linear Array genotyping assay (F. Hoffmann-La Roche AG, Switzerland) to test for 36 HPV types in genital samples provided by participants in the HITCH study. The linear array assay is well-established and widely used in epidemiologic studies of HPV infection and transmission.¹⁶ For each visit attended, there were up to 36 virological outcomes for each participant. The most efficient and infection biology-informed analysis strategy for the resulting data uses the HPV infection as the unit of analysis (i.e., HPV-level analysis). While HPV typespecific, this strategy requires more elaborate statistical methods to account for potential intraparticipant correlation arising from HPV genotypes' shared transmission route.^{53,54}

In Manuscript 1, we account for potential intraparticipant correlation using participant-cluster adjusted Clopper-Pearson confidence intervals,⁵⁵ participant-clustered jackknife procedures, and participant-cluster resampling bootstrap procedures.⁵⁶ In Manuscript 2, we account for potential intra-linked partnership correlation using linked partnership-cluster resampling bootstrap procedures and mixed-effects logistic regression models with an exchangeable correlation structure.^{53,57,58}

2.2 MALE GENITAL SAMPLES

In Manuscript 2, we used penile and scrotal samples to assess genital HPV positivity in male HITCH study participants. The adequacy of male genital samples has presented challenges

in past HPV infection and transmission studies. HITCH study nurses exfoliated and swabbed epithelial cells from the scrotum, glans penis, external meatus, coronal sulcus, penile shaft, and foreskin (when present). While this strategy produces a high percentage of male samples with adequate cellularity (97%),⁵⁹ we validated the cellularity of individual specimens by coamplifying β -globin DNA during HPV genotyping.⁸

Given loss-to-follow-up among males, we assessed agreement for type-specific HPV positivity between male genital samples at multiple visits. Ultimately, we combined HPV positivity for each male into a single measure per HPV type. An exemplar schematic of HPV positivity for participants in one female-linked partnership is provided in T-Figure 1, for reference.



T-Figure 1. HPV positivity at the HPV-level across follow-up for one female-linked partnership.2.3 PROBABILITY ANALYSIS

We used probability theory to characterise transmission between sexual partnerships in Manuscript 2. Defining concordance between males 1 and 2 as detection of the same HPV type in both males, we calculated their expected concordance, assuming their positivity statuses were independent. Given this assumption, the number of infections for which males 1 and 2 are expected to be concordant is equal to the product of HPVx's prevalence (P) in each male, divided by the total number of detectable HPVx infections (T):

Expected Concordance =
$$\frac{P_{HPVx \ Male1} \times P_{HPVx \ Male2}}{T_{HPVx}}$$

By comparing the resultant value to the observed male 1: male 2 concordance, we approximated whether indirect transmission between sequential male partners of the same female was likely:

$$Observed/Expected Ratio = \frac{Observed Male 1: Male 2 Concordance_{HPVx}}{\frac{P_{HPVx Male1} \times P_{HPVx Male2}}{T_{HPVx}}}$$

2.4 MEDIATION ANALYSIS

In Manuscript 2, to determine whether infection persistence in the linking female partner mediated the relationship between male 1 and male 2 HPV positivity, we used a traditional approach to mediation analysis. First, we regressed male 2 positivity (the outcome) onto male 1 positivity (the exposure) to determine the odds of male 2 testing positive for the same HPV type as male 1. Then, we adjusted the model for the number of instances in which the linking female partner tested positive for the same HPV type. When the female positivity covariate nullified the association between male 1 and male 2 positivity, we considered female positivity to be a potential mediator, given it's ability to explain the association between male 1 and male 2 HPV positivity.⁶⁰

CHAPTER 3. HPV NATURAL HISTORY IN YOUNG FEMALES

3.1 PREFACE

Several studies have characterized the detection and/or clearance of genital HPV infections in young women.^{9,11,33-37,39-41,61-63} We saw an opportunity to characterize HPV natural history in greater depth, using an HPV-level analysis approach.

All females enrolled in the HITCH study initiated a sexual relationship with their male partner within 6 months prior to enrolment.⁸ Past studies have identified novel male partners as a risk factor for incident HPV infections in young women.⁹⁻¹¹ As a result, we expected HPV infections to be relatively common in this cohort. The multiplicity of infections presented an opportunity to characterize the natural history of individual HPV types split by their presence or absence at baseline (i.e., incident infection detection, clearance of infection present at baseline, and clearance of incident infection). We believe these results to be the most detailed description of HPV natural history in young women to-date, and expect that this level of detail will be necessary in cervical screening models and algorithms as HPV vaccination causes cervical lesion prevalence to decline, and as the share of lesions caused by vaccine-preventable types dwindles.⁷

Past studies have generally performed natural history analyses at the woman-level (i.e., the woman was the unit of observation). While easy to interpret, woman-level survival analysis estimates are only capable of accounting for one event per participant (i.e., detection of many HPV types is considered one detection, clearance of all types is considered one clearance). However, multiple HPV types can be transmitted synchronously during sexual contact,³⁸ which suggests these simplifications might impact study results. HPV-level analyses treat the infection as the unit of observation and can therefore account for multiple detection or clearance events per woman.

The results of our analysis are presented in Manuscript 1. *Detection and clearance of type-specific and phylogenetically related genital human papillomavirus infections in young women in new heterosexual relationships* was made available as a preprint on medRxiv.org⁶⁴ and submitted for peer review to *The Journal of Infectious Diseases* (Oxford University Press) on February 24th, 2023. Portions of this manuscript were presented at a McGill University Department of Oncology seminar on March 11th, 2022, the 22nd Annual McGill Biomedical Graduate Conference on March 22nd, 2022, the McGill University Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Celebration of Research and Training in Oncology on June 21st, 2022, and the 2023 Canadian Society for Epidemiology and Biostatistics Conference on June 28th, 2023.

3.2 DETECTION AND CLEARANCE OF TYPE-SPECIFIC AND PHYLOGENETICALLY RELATED GENITAL HUMAN PAPILLOMAVIRUS INFECTIONS IN YOUNG WOMEN IN NEW HETEROSEXUAL RELATIONSHIPS

Authors: Andrew W. Arthur¹, Mariam El-Zein¹, Ann N. Burchell², Pierre-Paul Tellier³, Francois Coutlée⁴, Eduardo L. Franco¹

Affiliations:

¹Division of Cancer Epidemiology, McGill University, Montréal, Québec, H4A 3T2, Canada

² Department of Family and Community Medicine and MAP Centre for Urban Health Solutions, Li Ka Shing Knowledge Institute, St. Michael's Hospital, Unity Health Toronto, Toronto, Ontario, M5B 1W8, Canada

³ Department of Family Medicine, McGill University, Montréal, Québec, H3S 1Z1, Canada

⁴ Départements de Clinique de Médecine de Laboratoire et de Médecine, Services de Biologie Moléculaire et d'Infectiologie, Centre Hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal, Montréal, Québec, H2X 0C1, Canada

Correspondence: Eduardo L. Franco Division of Cancer Epidemiology Suite 720 5100 Maisonneuve Blvd. W Montréal, QC H4A 3T2 Canada eduardo.franco@mcgill.ca

1 **3.2.1 Abstract**

Background. Understanding the natural history of human papillomavirus (HPV) infections is
essential to effective cervical cancer prevention planning. We examined these outcomes in-depth
among young women.

5 *Methods*. The HPV Infection and Transmission among Couples through Heterosexual Activity 6 (HITCH) study is a prospective cohort of 502 college-age women who recently initiated a 7 heterosexual relationship. We tested vaginal samples collected at six clinical visits over 24 months 8 for 36 HPV types. Using rates and Kaplan-Meier analysis, we estimated time-to-event statistics 9 with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for detection of incident infections and liberal clearance of 10 incident and present-at-baseline infections (separately). We conducted analyses at the woman- and 11 HPV-levels, with HPV types grouped by phylogenetic relatedness.

12 *Results*. By 24 months, we detected incident infections in 40.4%, CI:33.4-48.4 of women. Incident 13 subgenus 1 (43.4, CI:33.6-56.4), 2 (47.1, CI:39.9-55.5) and 3 (46.6, CI:37.7-57.7) infections 14 cleared at similar rates per 1000 infection-months. We observed similar homogeny in HPV-level 15 clearance rates among present-at-baseline infections.

16 Conclusions. Our woman-level analyses of infection detection and clearance agreed with similar 17 studies. However, our HPV-level analyses did not clearly indicate that high oncogenic risk 18 subgenus 2 infections take longer to clear than their low oncogenic risk and commensal subgenera 19 1 and 3 counterparts.

Keywords: Papillomaviridae, human papillomavirus, sexually transmitted infection, genital
 infection, prospective cohort study, incidence, clearance, persistence, natural history, cervical
 cancer
3.2.2 Introduction

In 2020, cervical cancer accounted for 3.1% of the global cancer burden (604,127 cases) [1]. Persistent genital infection with oncogenic types of human papillomavirus (HPV) is a necessary cause of the majority of cervical precancerous lesions and cancers [2-6]. While most infections in young women are transient, a minority persist [7], and a sizeable proportion of "incident" infections in older women are reactivations of previously undetectable infections acquired earlier in life [8].

30 Cervical cancer is a highly preventable disease. The nonavalent HPV vaccine prevents 31 infection with HPV types found in 89.5% of invasive cervical cancers [9], and molecular HPV 32 testing is an efficacious screening strategy [10]. Studies of HPV infection natural history in young 33 women [11-23] have provided parameters for models and algorithms that inform primary and 34 secondary cervical cancer prevention strategies.

In these studies, the woman was the unit of observation (i.e., analyses were conducted at the woman-level). Woman-level analyses incorporate the detection or clearance of multiple HPV infections into composite outcomes, which can obscure detections and clearances of multiple individual infections in the same woman. HPV-level analyses (where the HPV infection is the unit of observation), have a stronger biological rationale for characterising infection natural history because they treat the detection and clearance of each unique infection as a separate HPV typespecific event.

We described vaginal HPV infection prevalence, incidence (i.e., time to detection), and persistence (i.e., time to clearance) with respect to individual HPV types, as well as types grouped by subgeneric classifications using woman-level and HPV-level paradigms. We based our analyses on a cohort of women who had recently initiated a new sexual relationship with a male partner in 46 the HPV Infection and Transmission among Couples through Heterosexual activity (HITCH)47 study.

48 **3.2.3 Methods**

49 i. Study Design and Procedures

50 We used data from female participants of the HITCH prospective cohort study. Study 51 details have been published elsewhere [24]. Briefly, we recruited female university and college 52 students (aged 18-24) who began a sexual relationship with a male partner ≤ 6 months prior. 53 Enrolment occurred between 2005 and 2011 in Montréal, Canada, at university-run health clinics. 54 At baseline, 4-, 8-, 12-, 18- and 24-months post-enrollment, women provided a vaginal sample and 55 completed sociodemographic/sexual behavioural questionnaires. Women were asked to refrain 56 from sexual activity for 24 hours before each visit. Based on nurse instructions, participants self-57 collected vaginal samples using a polyester swab. The diagnostic accuracy of self-sampling has 58 been demonstrated [25-27]. We used the Linear Array genotyping assay (Roche Molecular 59 Systems, CA) to detect (individually) 36 HPV types [28], validating samples via β -globin DNA 60 coamplification. After the 2006 licensing of the HPV vaccine, women were asked how many doses 61 they had received. The HITCH study was approved by the Institutional Review Boards of McGill 62 and Concordia Universities as well as the Centre Hospitalier de l'Université de Montreal; participants provided written informed consent. 63

64 ii. Taxonomic Groups

We described the natural history of individual HPV types separately. We did the same for three groups of phylogenetically related HPV types, as defined by subgenera of the Alphapapillomavirus genus. This taxonomic scheme clusters HPV types according to tissue tropism and oncogenic risk, based on empirical evidence and differential mucosotropic type distributions. Subgenus 1 includes low oncogenic risk HPVs 6, 11, 40, 42, 44, and 54; subgenus 2
includes high oncogenic risk HPVs 16, 18, 26, 31, 33, 34, 35, 39, 45, 51, 52, 53, 56, 58, 59, 66,
67, 68, 69, 70, 73 and 82; and subgenus 3 includes commensal HPVs 61, 62, 71, 72, 81, 83, 84
and 89 [29-31]. Analyses designated "Any HPV" or "All HPV," incorporate all 36 types.

73

iii. Analytical Frameworks

We performed analyses at the woman-level (see M1-Addenda 1 and 2) and the HPV-level (see M1-Addendum 3). We analysed the outcome "single detection" of incident infections (M1-Figure 1A). Woman-level detection occurred the first time a woman tested positive for the HPV type(s) of interest, whereas HPV-level detection occurred each first time a woman tested positive for a distinct type of interest. To restrict to incident detections, we excluded women positive for the type(s) of interest at baseline from woman-level analyses, and types of interest women were positive for at baseline from HPV-level analyses.

81 We then analyzed the outcome "liberal clearance." Woman-level clearance occurred the 82 first time a woman tested negative for all type(s) of interest after testing positive for one (or more) 83 types of interest, whereas HPV-level clearance occurred each first time a woman tested negative 84 for a distinct type of interest following a positive test for the same type. We analysed liberal 85 clearance in the context of infections present at baseline (M1-Figure S1) and incident infections 86 (M1-Figure 1B) separately. To restrict to infections present at baseline, we included women who 87 were positive for the type(s) of interest at baseline from woman-level analyses, and types of interest 88 women were positive for at baseline from HPV-level analyses. To restrict to incident infections, 89 we included women who were initially negative, then later positive for the type(s) of interest in 90 woman-level analyses, and types of interest for which women were initially negative, then later 91 positive in HPV-level analyses.

We repeated all analyses substituting more stringent outcome definitions: double detection and conservative clearance. These outcomes were akin to single detection and liberal clearance (respectively) on the woman- and HPV-levels, however, the defining positive/negative results occurred at two consecutive visits. We measured times to these more-stringent events based on the first of the two positive/negative visits.

97 iv. Statistical Analyses

98 The ability to detect multiple HPV types in the same genital sample can generate 99 intraparticipant correlation; for all HPV-level analyses, we selected statistical approaches that 100 account for data clustering (detailed below). We calculated, by visit, HPV prevalence with 95% 101 exact confidence intervals (CIs). For HPV-level analyses, we accounted for intra-woman 102 clustering using a degrees of freedom-adjusted effective sample size [32].

We estimated Kaplan-Meier (KM) product-limit rates at 6, 12, and 24 months to describe cumulative detection and percent of infections uncleared. Using the log-log approach, we assigned 95% CIs to woman-level estimates. For HPV-level estimates, we assigned pointwise percentilebased woman-clustered bootstrap 95% CIs [33, 34].

We estimated the rate of detection/clearance per 1000 woman-months for woman-level analyses, and per 1000 infection-months for HPV-level analyses. 95% CIs around rates were estimated via quadratic approximation of Poisson log-likelihood for woman-level analyses. We extracted 95% CIs from a leave-one-woman-cluster-out jackknife procedure for HPV-level analyses.

We calculated all mean and median times to detection/clearance including censored observations (i.e., actuarial measures of central tendency), then excluding censored observations

(i.e., outcome-conditional measures of central tendency). We estimated mean times to detection/clearance (restricted to longest follow-up) with parametric 95% CIs for woman-level analyses, and percentile-based woman-clustered bootstrap 95% CIs for HPV-level analyses. Based on the log-log survival function CIs, we assigned 95% CIs to the woman-level median, and based on the woman-clustered bootstrap survival function CIs, we assigned 95% CIs to the HPV-level median.

We performed sensitivity analyses to approximate the extent to which right censoring caused actuarial mean times to detection/clearance to be underestimated. We calculated a separate mean time to each event based on the area under a KM survival function with a fitted exponential decay to S(t) = 0 (hereafter exponentially-extended mean). For woman-level analyses, we assigned percentile-based bootstrap 95% CIs; for HPV-level analyses, bootstraps were resampled by woman-clusters. Statistical analyses were conducted using Stata SE 17.0 (StataCorp LLC., TX).

126 **3.2.4 Results**

127 Of 502 women enrolled, 453 provided two or more valid vaginal samples; 48 had only one 128 valid sample and were included in prevalence estimates but not survival analyses. For six women 129 missing a valid vaginal sample at baseline, we treated samples provided at visit 2 as baseline 130 samples. Loss-to-follow-up by visit 6 was 43.7% (M1-Figure S2). Among the 453 women included 131 in survival analyses, median follow-up was 26.4 (quartiles 1-3: 19.5-31.7) months. Most women 132 identified with the following ethnicities: English Canadian (34.0%), French Canadian (27.3%), Italian (4.6%), Latin American (4.9%), and Multiple or Mixed Ethnicities (5.1%). At baseline, the 133 134 mean age was 20.7 years (standard deviation: 1.8). Women reported an average weekly vaginal 135 intercourse frequency of 4.6 and, on average, 6.4 previous heterosexual relationships involving vaginal sex. Among 93 women who reported having received the HPV vaccine, the mean numberof doses was 2.6.

As shown in M1-Table 1, the three most prevalent HPV types at baseline were HPV16 (16.8%, CI:13.6-20.3), HPV89 (10.6%, CI:8.0-13.6), and HPV51 (10.2%, CI:7.7-13.2). Across follow-up, HPV16 (10.7-16.8%) and HPV89 (9.5-10.6%) remained among the three mostprevalent types. At baseline, the prevalence of any HPV infection was 57.1%, CI:52.6-61.5 at the woman-level (n_w =501), and 4.3%, CI:3.9-4.8 at the HPV-level (n_{HPV} =18,036).

143 M1-Table 2 summarizes single detection of incident HPV infections. Among women 144 negative for all HPV types at baseline, cumulative detection of any incident infection was 40.4%, 145 CI:33.4-48.4 by 24 months. The detection rate for any type was 20.0, CI:16.1-24.9 per 1000 146 woman-months. Rates per 1000 woman-months were higher for subgenus 2 types (17.0, CI:13.7-147 20.9) compared to subgenera 1 (11.4, CI:9.3-13.9) and 3 (12.4, CI:10.1-15.1). KM graphs for 148 single detection are displayed in M1-Figure 2 (woman-level) and M1-Figure S3 (HPV-level). M1-149 Table S1 alongside M1-Figures S4 and S5 reproduce the aforementioned results for double 150 detection analyses.

151 M1-Tables 3 and 4 summarize liberal clearance analyses of present-at-baseline and 152 incident infections, respectively. At the woman-level, the median times to clearance of all present-153 at-baseline and incident infections were 27.0, CI:25.0-32.7 and 22.3, CI:16.2-NR months, 154 respectively (NR: CI bound Not Reached). At the HPV-level, the median time required to clear 155 HPV infections of any type was similar between infections present at baseline (11.7, CI:10.3-12.6 156 months) and incident infections (12.6, CI:10.3-14.8 months). The rate of clearing infections of any 157 HPV type per 1000 infection-months was different between infections present at baseline (61.3, 158 CI:56.2-66.9) and incident infections (46.2, CI:41.1-52.0) at the HPV-level. This difference in

rates was not observable at the woman-level (23.6 vs. 25.5 per 1000 woman-months). M1-Figure 3 depicts, at the woman-level, survival functions for liberal clearance analyses; M1-Figure S6 presents the same at the HPV-level. In HPV-level liberal clearance analyses, a larger proportion of incident infections (35.4%) were right censored compared to infections present at baseline (23.7%).

164 At the woman-level, among infections present at baseline, we observed a lower clearance rate 165 per 1000 woman-months (27.4, CI:22.6-33.2), and a longer median time to clearance (23.7, 166 CI:20.0-26.1 months) of all subgenus 2 infections compared to subgenera 1 (rate 56.6, CI:44.0-167 72.7; median 11.5, CI:8.5-13.5 months) and 3 (rate 45.8, CI:36.6-57.4; median 14.2, CI:11.3-17.8 168 months). Among incident infections, the clearance rate per 1000 woman-months (47.2, CI:34.1-169 65.5), and median time to clearance (13.5, CI:9.4-18.5 months) of all subgenus 2 infections were 170 similar to those of subgenera 1 (rate 45.6, CI:32.7-63.5; median 14.3, CI:9.9-17.6 months) and 3 171 (rate 51.0, CI:37.4-69.6; median 14.4, CI:10.8-19.7 months).

172 At the HPV-level, however, there was homogeny within infections present at baseline and 173 within incident infections when estimating the time to clearance of subgenus 2 infections compared 174 to subgenera 1 and 3 infections. Amongst infections present at baseline, rates of clearing any 175 infection of subgenera 1, 2, and 3 were 65.8, CI:53.9-80.3; 60.5, CI:55.4-66.2; and 61.0, CI:50.6-176 73.3 per 1000 infection-months, respectively. The corresponding median infection durations were 177 10.6, CI:8.1-12.5; 12.1, CI:10.8-13.2; and 10.4, CI:8.5-13.1 months, respectively. Amongst 178 incident infections, rates of clearing any infection of subgenera 1, 2, and 3 were 43.4, CI:33.6-179 56.4; 47.1, CI:39.9-55.5; and 46.6, CI:37.7-57.7 per 1000 infection-months, respectively. The 180 corresponding median infection durations were 13.1, CI:9.9-17.6; 12.7, CI:9.4-15.1; and 12.2, 181 CI:9.7-15.1 months, respectively. The percent of right-censored infections in HPV-level grouped

analyses was similar for subgenera 1, 2, and 3 within analyses of infections present-at-baseline
(24.0%, 23.7%, and 23.2%, respectively) and within analyses of incident infections (37.5%,
35.0%, and 34.6%, respectively). M1-Tables S2 and S3, alongside M1-Figures S7 and S8
reproduce the aforementioned results for conservative clearance analyses.

186 Exponentially-extended means (calculated using a survival function extended to 0) are 187 presented in M1-Tables S4 (time to detection) and S5 (time to clearance). The average differences 188 between exponentially-extended and actuarial mean times to single detection were 1538.7 months 189 for individual HPV types, 28.4 months for grouped types at the woman-level, and 363.5 months 190 for grouped types at the HPV-level, respectively. These large average differences suggest the mean 191 time to detection was unreliable. For liberal clearance analyses, the corresponding average 192 differences were 1.4, 3.1, and 0.2 months for infections present at baseline and 1.7, 6.2, and 7.3 193 months for incident infections. These small average differences suggest the mean time to clearance 194 was reliable.

195 **3.2.5 Discussion**

196 This study described the natural history of vaginal HPV infections in young women who 197 recently initiated a new sexual relationship. We found a high prevalence, high detection rate, low 198 clearance rate, and long average duration of HPV16 infections compared to other HPV types, 199 consistent with previous studies [11, 12, 14-16, 18-21]. We observed a higher woman-level rate of 200 detection for any HPV type compared to pooled rates in women under 30 years of age (20.0 vs. 201 15.6 detections per 1000 woman-months, respectively) [12]. By 24 months, we estimated a similar 202 cumulative detection of any HPV to those reached by 24 to 36 months in studies of similarly-aged 203 or slightly younger women [15, 20, 21] and by 12 months in a study of slightly older young women 204 [14]. 24-month cumulative detection and rate of detection in this cohort are comparable to a

previous study of college-age women in Montréal [19]. The most likely explanation for the observed high rates of HPV detection in this cohort is that all women had recently begun a new sexual relationship at enrollment. A new sexual partner represents a potential for exposure to new HPV infection(s). In support of this explanation, a similar cumulative detection rate has been observed by 24 months in women with only one partner post sexual debut [13]. Testing for many HPV types may also have played a role in the observed high detection rate.

The woman-level rate of incident subgenus 2 (i.e., oncogenic) infection detection was higher than the corresponding rates for subgenera 1 and 3. This finding is consistent with several studies observing elevated detection rates among high-risk types [12]. While we did not use the traditional high-risk vs. low-risk HPV type grouping scheme, comparing subgenus 2 types to subgenera 1 and 3 types (i.e., high oncogenic risk types vs. low oncogenic risk & commensal types) is a viable analogue based on biological rationale.

217 Our woman-level estimates of median time to clearance of all infections present at baseline 218 (27.0 months) and clearance of all incident infections (22.3 months) were larger than a meta-219 analyzed estimate based on studies that included prevalent and/or incident infections (9.8 months) 220 [11]. In particular, it took women in our study longer, on average, to clear all incident infections 221 compared to an earlier cohort of college-age women in Montréal [19]. Follow-up intervals in the 222 present cohort were spaced similarly to those of the earlier study per protocol (4-6 months vs. 6 223 months, respectively). However, three-quarters or more women attended follow-up visits late in 224 the present cohort, so interval censoring may have artificially prolonged the time to infection 225 clearance.

In HPV-level analyses, the median duration of infection with any HPV type was similar between incident and present-at-baseline infections, though the clearance rate was higher for those present at baseline. However, our analysis of incident infections was more prone to right-censoring than our analysis of infections present at baseline, so we cannot rule out the possibility that women were under observation for an inadequate period to clear incident infections, artificially lowering the corresponding clearance rate estimate.

Among women with infections at baseline, we observed a lower woman-level clearance rate and longer median time to clearance of all subgenus 2 infections compared to subgenera 1 and 3. A meta-analysed estimate [11] and several longitudinal studies specific to young women [5, 14, 17-19] corroborate lower woman-level clearance rates for high-risk vs. low-risk HPV types.

236 A lower rate of, and longer median time to clearance might suggest that subgenus 2 (i.e., 237 oncogenic) infections are more persistent than infections belonging to other subgenera. However, 238 woman-level analyses are limited in their ability to accurately estimate infection persistence. 239 Woman-level clearance events are only counted when a woman tests negative for all HPV types 240 within the grouping of interest. Assuming the null hypothesis, Subgenus 2 infections are no more 241 persistent than infections of other subgenera, clearing (up to) twenty-two subgenus 2 infections is 242 of lower probability than clearing (up to) six subgenus 1, or eight subgenus 3 infections. Past 243 studies have generally genotyped more high- than low-risk HPV types, which creates a similar 244 conundrum. In contrast to woman-level analyses, HPV-level analyses treat the clearance of each 245 unique infection as a separate event. This is a more biologically-informed paradigm for 246 understanding the natural history of individual HPV infections.

In our HPV-level analyses, we did not observe systematic differences in the persistence of high oncogenic risk subgenus 2 infections compared to low oncogenic risk subgenera 1 and 3 infections, as indicated by clearance rate and median time to clearance. This was the case for both incident and present-at-baseline infections. It is unlikely that these results are an artefact of disproportional 251 censoring, since subgenus 2 infections were no more right censoring-prone than infections 252 belonging to other subgenera. Altogether, our woman-level findings corroborate previous studies 253 with respect to the persistence of oncogenic infections, while our HPV-level findings do not.

254 The limitations of this study relate to infection latency, HPV DNA deposition, interval 255 censoring, and estimation of the mean time to detection. First, HPV latency muddles assumptions 256 defined in our analytical frameworks. We attempted to maximize infections acquired during 257 current sexual relationships in analyses of incident infections by including only women/HPV types 258 that were negative at baseline. However, some "incident" infections may be reactivations of latent 259 infections [8]. Latent reactivations have the same HPV positivity signature as incident detections. 260 While the two phenomena are impossible to distinguish, we previously estimated that in the 261 HITCH study, up to 39% of incident infection detections are attributable to latent reactivation [35]. 262 The transition of an infection into a latent state also has the same positivity signature as liberal 263 clearance. To counter the effects of latency, we performed more stringent analyses that reject 264 single-visit reactivation (i.e., double detection) and single-visit latency (i.e., conservative 265 clearance) as events. We attempted to maximize infections acquired during previous relationships 266 in analyses of infections present at baseline by including only women/HPV types that were positive 267 at baseline. However, these infections may have been transmitted by the current male partner in 268 the (up to) 6 months of sexual activity allowed before baseline. Secondly, although women were 269 asked to refrain from sex for 24 hours before providing specimens, a substantial proportion of 270 samples may be false positives as a result of HPV DNA deposition from a male partner [36]. 271 Thirdly, due to interval censoring, discrete times assigned to all HPV results surpass true viral 272 infection and clearance. Our analyses overestimate the times at which incident infections are 273 acquired and present-at-baseline infections are cleared. The time elapsing between detection and

274 clearance of incident infections could be over- or under-estimated, depending on the extent of pre-275 detection left censoring and post-clearance right censoring. Interval censoring may have also 276 bypassed transient infections (decreasing detection rates) and overlooked clearances that occurred 277 before re-infection (increasing average time to clearance). Fourthly, according to our sensitivity 278 analyses, actuarial mean times to detection were unreliable estimates as a result of heavy right 279 censoring [37]. We were limited in our ability to estimate central tendency for time to detection, since many detection analyses did not reach the 50th percentile required to estimate a median. 280 281 Fortunately, the actuarial mean was a reliable indicator of average time to clearance.

Our woman-level analyses largely corroborated similar past studies. However, our HPV-level analyses did not clearly indicate that high oncogenic risk subgenus 2 HPV infections are more persistent than their low oncogenic risk and commensal subgenera 1 and 3 counterparts. Our HPVlevel estimates of infection natural history provide biologically-informed parameters for cervical cancer prevention planning, specifically with respect to the persistence of oncogenic subgenus 2 infections.

288 **3.2.6** Notes

Funding. The HITCH cohort study was supported by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research [grant MOP-68893 and team grant CRN-83320 to E.L.F.] and the US National Institutes of Health [grant RO1AI073889 to E.L.F.]. A.N.B. is a Canada Research Chair in Sexually Transmitted Infection Prevention and a recipient of a University of Toronto Department of Family and Community Medicine Non-Clinician Scientist award. Supplementary and unconditional funding support was provided by Merck-Frosst Canada and Merck & Co.

295 *Acknowledgements*. We thank the volunteering participants and employees of the HITCH cohort 296 study, as well as the staff of the Student Health Services Clinics at McGill and Concordia

universities. We also thank Cassandra Laurie, Samantha Morais, Suganthiny Jeyaganth, and Talía
Malagón for their guidance in selecting and operationalizing statistical analyses. A.W.A. thanks
Dr. Vera Hirsh for her contributions to his stipend on behalf of the Hirsh & Schulman Education
Fund.

Author contributions. E.L.F. and A.N.B. designed HITCH and obtained funding. E.L.F. was the principal investigator for the study. A.N.B. oversaw recruitment, data collection, provision of HPV test results to participants, and database design. P.P.T. oversaw clinical activities and recruitment. F.C. supervised laboratory analyses and the quality of polymerase chain reaction assays. M.E.Z. and A.N.B. managed the HITCH database. A.W.A. performed statistical analyses and drafted the manuscript under the supervision of M.E.Z. and E.L.F.. A.N.B. provided statistical analysis consultation. All authors read, provided feedback, and approved the final manuscript.

308 *Conflicts of interest.* A.W.A. received a graduate stipend from the Gerald Bronfman Department 309 of Oncology, McGill University and a presenter's award from the Experimental Medicine 310 Graduate Students' Society, McGill University. M.E.Z. and E.L.F. hold a patent related to the 311 discovery "DNA methylation markers for early detection of cervical cancer," registered at the 312 Office of Innovation and Partnerships, McGill University, Montréal, Québec, Canada (October 313 2018). A provisional utility patent application before the United States Patent and Trademark 314 Office was also filed (November 2018) and a patent cooperation treaty application 315 (PCT/IB2020/050885), filed in February 2020, has been published (no. WO 2020/115728; June 316 2020). E.L.F. reports grants and personal fees from Merck outside of the submitted work. F.C. 317 reports grants from Réseau FRQS-SIDA during the conduct of the study, and grants to his 318 institution for HPV-related work from Merck Sharp and Dome, Roche Diagnostics and Becton 319 Dickinson outside of the submitted work. All other authors report no potential conflicts. All
320 authors have submitted the ICMJE Form for Disclosure of Potential Conflicts of Interest.

321 *Corresponding author.* Eduardo L. Franco, Division of Cancer Epidemiology, 5100 Maisonneuve
 322 Blvd. W, Ste 720, Montréal, QC H4A 3T2, Canada, (eduardo.franco@mcgill.ca).

Data availability. HITCH participant consent forms specified that data would be published in aggregate form and that individual-level data would only be available to study investigators. To access individual-level data, please contact Eduardo Franco at <u>eduardo.franco@mcgill.ca</u>. The protocol for the HITCH cohort study has been published [24]. Analytical codes and data dictionary are available on the McGill University Dataverse [38].

Disclaimer. The funders played no role in study design, data collection/analysis, preparation of
 the manuscript, or the decision to submit it for publication.

330 *Ethics approval.* All subjects provided written informed consent for study participation and use of 331 their biological specimens in future studies. HITCH complies with all national/international 332 regulations regarding research with human data and materials, including the Declaration of 333 Helsinki. The study was conducted per the principles and articles stipulated by the Tri-Council 334 Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans. Ethical approval was obtained 335 from the institutional review boards at McGill University, Concordia University, and the Centre 336 Hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal. Ethics renewal approval is requested annually from 337 McGill University (study number A09-M77-04A).

Meetings. Portions of this manuscript were presented at a McGill University, Department of Oncology seminar, Montréal, QC, Canada; the 22nd Annual McGill Biomedical Graduate Conference, Montréal, QC, Canada; the 2022 McGill University, Faculty of Medicine and Health

- 341 Sciences Celebration of Research and Training in Oncology, Montréal, QC, Canada; and the 2023
- 342 Canadian Society for Epidemiology and Biostatistics Conference, Halifax, NS, Canada.

343 3.2.7 References

- 1. Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, et al. Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of
- incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA: Cancer J Clin 2021;
 71:209-49.
- 347 2. International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC). Human Papillomaviruses. Vol. 90. Lyon:
 348 IARC, 2007.
- 349 3. Walboomers JM, Jacobs MV, Manos MM, et al. Human papillomavirus is a necessary cause of
 invasive cervical cancer worldwide. J Pathol **1999**; 189:12-9.
- 4. Koshiol J, Lindsay L, Pimenta JM, Poole C, Jenkins D, Smith JS. Persistent human
 papillomavirus infection and cervical neoplasia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J
 Epidemiol 2008; 168:123-37.
- 354 5. Trottier H, Mahmud SM, Lindsay L, et al. Persistence of an incident human papillomavirus
- 355 infection and timing of cervical lesions in previously unexposed young women. Cancer Epidemiol
- 356 Biomarkers Prev **2009**; 18:854-62.
- 357 6. Schiffman M, Castle PE, Jeronimo J, Rodriguez AC, Wacholder S. Human papillomavirus and
- 358 cervical cancer. Lancet **2007**; 370:890-907.
- 7. Trottier H, Franco EL. The epidemiology of genital human papillomavirus infection. Vaccine
 2006; 24 Suppl 1:S1/4-S1/15.
- 361 8. Gravitt PE, Winer RL. Natural History of HPV Infection across the Lifespan: Role of Viral
 362 Latency. Viruses 2017; 9.

363 9. Serrano B, de Sanjosé S, Tous S, et al. Human papillomavirus genotype attribution for HPVs 6,

364 11, 16, 18, 31, 33, 45, 52 and 58 in female anogenital lesions. Eur J Cancer **2015**; 51:1732-41.

10. Tota JE, Bentley J, Blake J, et al. Introduction of molecular HPV testing as the primary
technology in cervical cancer screening: Acting on evidence to change the current paradigm. Prev
Med 2017; 98:5-14.

11. Rositch AF, Koshiol J, Hudgens MG, et al. Patterns of persistent genital human papillomavirus
infection among women worldwide: a literature review and meta-analysis. Int J Cancer 2013;
133:1271-85.

371 12. Wheeler BS, Rositch AF, Poole C, Taylor SM, Smith JS. Patterns of incident genital human
372 papillomavirus infection in women: A literature review and meta-analysis. Int J STD AIDS 2019;
373 30:1246-56.

13. Collins S, Mazloomzadeh S, Winter H, et al. High incidence of cervical human papillomavirus

infection in women during their first sexual relationship. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 2002; 109:96-8.

376 14. Giuliano AR, Harris R, Sedjo RL, et al. Incidence, prevalence, and clearance of type-specific

human papillomavirus infections: The Young Women's Health Study. J Infect Dis 2002; 186:4629.

15. Ho GYF, Bierman R, Beardsley L, Chang CJ, Burk RD. Natural history of cervicovaginal
papillomavirus infection in young women. N Engl J Med **1998**; 338:423-8.

381 16. Insinga RP, Perez G, Wheeler CM, et al. Incidence, duration, and reappearance of type-specific

cervical human papillomavirus infections in young women. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev
2010; 19:1585-94.

- 17. Moscicki AB, Shiboski S, Broering J, et al. The natural history of human papillomavirus
 infection as measured by repeated DNA testing in adolescent and young women. J Pediatr 1998;
 132:277-84.
- 387 18. Ramanakumar AV, Naud P, Roteli-Martins CM, et al. Incidence and duration of type-specific
- human papillomavirus infection in high-risk HPV-naïve women: results from the control arm of a
 phase II HPV-16/18 vaccine trial. BMJ Open 2016; 6:e011371.
- 390 19. Richardson H, Kelsall G, Tellier P, et al. The natural history of type-specific human
 391 papillomavirus infections in female university students. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2003;
 392 12:485-90.
- Winer RL, Lee SK, Hughes JP, Adam DE, Kiviat NB, Koutsky LA. Genital human
 papillomavirus infection: incidence and risk factors in a cohort of female university students. Am
 J Epidemiol 2003; 157:218-26.
- 396 21. Woodman CB, Collins S, Winter H, et al. Natural history of cervical human papillomavirus
 397 infection in young women: a longitudinal cohort study. Lancet 2001; 357:1831-6.
- 398 22. Kotloff KL, Wasserman SS, Russ K, et al. Detection of genital human papillomavirus and
 399 associated cytological abnormalities among college women. Sex Transm Dis 1998; 25:243-50.
- 400 23. Hinchliffe SA, van Velzen D, Korporaal H, Kok PL, Boon ME. Transience of cervical HPV
- 401 infection in sexually active, young women with normal cervicovaginal cytology. Br J Cancer 1995;
 402 72:943-5.
- 24. El-Zein M, Coutlée F, Tellier P-P, Roger M, Franco EL, Burchell AN. Human Papillomavirus
 Infection and Transmission Among Couples Through Heterosexual Activity (HITCH) Cohort
 Study: Protocol Describing Design, Methods, and Research Goals. JMIR Res Protoc 2019;
 8:e11284.

- 407 25. Wright JTC. HPV DNA Testing of Self-collected Vaginal Samples Compared With Cytologic
 408 Screening to Detect Cervical Cancer. JAMA 2000; 283:81-6.
- 409 26. Sellors JW, Lorincz AT, Mahony JB, et al. Comparison of self-collected vaginal, vulvar and
- 410 urine samples with physician-collected cervical samples for human papillomavirus testing to detect
- 411 high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions. Can Med Assoc J 2000; 163:513-8.
- 412 27. El-Zein M, Bouten S, Louvanto K, et al. Predictive Value of HPV Testing in Self-collected
- 413 and Clinician-Collected Samples Compared with Cytology in Detecting High-grade Cervical
- 414 Lesions. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev **2019**; 28:1134-40.
- 415 28. Coutlée F, Rouleau D, Petignat P, et al. Enhanced Detection and Typing of Human
- 416 Papillomavirus (HPV) DNA in Anogenital Samples with PGMY Primers and the Linear Array
- 417 HPV Genotyping Test. J Clin Microbiol **2006**; 44:1998-2006.
- 29. Schiffman M, Clifford G, Buonaguro FM. Classification of weakly carcinogenic human
 papillomavirus types: addressing the limits of epidemiology at the borderline. Infect Agents
 Cancer 2009; 4.
- 30. Schiffman M, Herrero R, DeSalle R, et al. The carcinogenicity of human papillomavirus types
 reflects viral evolution. Virology 2005; 337:76-84.
- 423 31. Egawa N, Egawa K, Griffin H, Doorbar J. Human Papillomaviruses; Epithelial Tropisms, and
 424 the Development of Neoplasia. Viruses 2015; 7:3863-90.
- 425 32. Dean N, Pagano M. Evaluating Confidence Interval Methods for Binomial Proportions in
- 426 Clustered Surveys. J Surv Stat Methodol **2015**; 3:484-503.
- 427 33. Ruhe C. Bootstrap pointwise confidence intervals for covariate-adjusted survivor functions in
- 428 the Cox model. The Stata Journal **2019**; 19:185-99.

- 429 34. Burr D. A Comparison of Certain Bootstrap Confidence Intervals in the Cox Model. J Am Stat
 430 Assoc 1994; 89:1290-302.
- 431 35. Malagón T, MacCosham A, Burchell AN, et al. Proportion of incident genital human
 432 papillomavirus detections not attributable to transmission and potentially attributable to latent
 433 infections: implications for cervical cancer screening. Clin Infect Dis 2022; 75:365-71.
- 434 36. Malagón T, Burchell AN, El-Zein M, et al. Estimating HPV DNA Deposition Between Sexual
- 435 Partners Using HPV Concordance, Y Chromosome DNA Detection, and Self-reported Sexual
- 436 Behaviors. J Infect Dis **2017**; 216:1210-9.
- 437 37. Lee ET, Wang JW. Statistical Methods for Survival Data Analysis. 4 ed. Oklahoma City:
 438 Wiley, 2013:69-82.
- 439 38. Arthur A, El-Zein M, Burchell AN, Tellier P-P, Coutlée F, Franco EL. Replication Code:
- 440 Detection and clearance of type-specific and phylogenetically related genital human
- 441 papillomavirus infections in young women in new heterosexual relationships. V2 ed: Borealis,
- **442 2023**.

3.2.8 Tables & Figures

M1-Table 1. Prevalence at each visit $[n_{positive}, \% (95\% \text{ CI})]$ of individual HPV types, grouped types at the woman-level, and grouped types at the HPV level per visit, by subgenus. Sample size at each visit is reported for woman- (n_w) and HPV- (n_{HPV}) level analyses.

	Visit 1	Visit 2	Visit 3	Visit 4	Visit 5	Visit 6
	$n_w = 501, n_{HPV} = 18,036$	$n_w = 451, n_{HPV} = 16,236$	$n_w = 412, n_{HPV} = 14,832$	$n_w = 374, n_{HPV} = 13,464$	$n_w = 326, n_{HPV} = 11,736$	$n_w = 282, n_{HPV} = 10,152$
Subgenus 1						
HPV6	19, 3.8 (2.3, 5.9)	17, 3.8 (2.2, 6.0)	19, 4.6 (2.8, 7.1)	22, 5.9 (3.7, 8.8)	21, 6.4 (4.0, 9.7)	18, 6.4 (3.8, 9.9)
HPV11	3, 0.6 (0.1, 1.7)	$0, 0.0 (0.0, 0.8)^{a}$	$0, 0.0 (0.0, 0.9)^{a}$	1, 0.3 (0.0, 1.5)	2, 0.6 (0.1, 2.2)	1, 0.4 (0.0, 2.0)
HPV40	12, 2.4 (1.2, 4.2)	6, 1.3 (0.5, 2.9)	9, 2.2 (1.0, 4.1)	12, 3.2 (1.7, 5.5)	8, 2.5 (1.1, 4.8)	7, 2.5 (1.0, 5.1)
HPV42	38, 7.6 (5.4, 10.3)	43, 9.5 (7.0, 12.6)	32, 7.8 (5.4, 10.8)	21, 5.6 (3.5, 8.5)	24, 7.4 (4.8, 10.8)	23, 8.2 (5.2, 12.0)
HPV44	10, 2.0 (1.0, 3.6)	6, 1.3 (0.5, 2.9)	5, 1.2 (0.4, 2.8)	5, 1.3 (0.4, 3.1)	7, 2.2 (0.9, 4.4)	5, 1.8 (0.6, 4.1)
HPV54	30, 6.0 (4.1, 8.4)	23, 5.1 (3.3, 7.6)	16, 3.9 (2.2, 6.2)	18, 4.8 (2.9, 7.5)	16, 4.9 (2.8, 7.9)	14, 5.0 (2.7, 8.2)
Any Woman-Level	98, 19.6 (16.2, 23.3)	80, 17.7 (14.3, 21.6)	72, 17.5 (13.9, 21.5)	65, 17.4 (13.7, 21.6)	65, 19.9 (15.7, 24.7)	56, 19.9 (15.4, 25.0)
Any HPV-Level ^b	112, 0.6 (0.5, 0.8)	95, 0.6 (0.5, 0.7)	81, 0.6 (0.4, 0.7)	79, 0.6 (0.5, 0.8)	78, 0.7 (0.5, 0.8)	68, 0.7 (0.5, 0.9)
Subgenus 2				· · · · · ·	•	
HPV16	84, 16.8 (13.6, 20.3)	66, 14.6 (11.5, 18.2)	59, 14.3 (11.1, 18.1)	40, 10.7 (7.8, 14.3)	37, 11.4 (8.1, 15.3)	33, 11.7 (8.2, 16.0)
HPV18	18, 3.6 (2.1, 5.6)	13, 2.9 (1.5, 4.9)	8, 1.9 (0.8, 3.8)	9, 2.4 (1.1, 4.5)	11, 3.4 (1.7, 6.0)	10, 3.6 (1.7, 6.4)
HPV26	$0, 0.0 (0.0, 0.7)^{a}$	$0, 0.0 (0.0, 0.8)^{a}$	$0, 0.0 (0.0, 0.9)^{a}$	1, 0.3 (0.0, 1.5)	$0, 0.0 (0.0, 1.1)^{a}$	$0, 0.0 (0.0, 1.3)^{a}$
HPV31	24, 4.8 (3.1, 7.0)	25, 5.5 (3.6, 8.1)	20, 4.9 (3.0, 7.4)	15, 4.0 (2.3, 6.5)	17, 5.2 (3.1, 8.2)	12, 4.3 (2.2, 7.3)
HPV33	8, 1.6 (0.7, 3.1)	2, 0.4 (0.1, 1.6)	4, 1.0 (0.3, 2.5)	2, 0.5 (0.1, 1.9)	$0, 0.0 (0.0, 1.1)^{a}$	1, 0.4 (0.0, 2.0)
HPV34	3, 0.6 (0.1, 1.7)	1, 0.2 (0.0, 1.2)	$0, 0.0 (0.0, 0.9)^{a}$	$0, 0.0 (0.0, 1.0)^{a}$	2, 0.6 (0.1, 2.2)	$0, 0.0 (0.0, 1.3)^{a}$
HPV35	4, 0.8 (0.2, 2.0)	4, 0.9 (0.2, 2.3)	5, 1.2 (0.4, 2.8)	5, 1.3 (0.4, 3.1)	3, 0.9 (0.2, 2.7)	1, 0.4 (0.0, 2.0)
HPV39	34, 6.8 (4.8, 9.4)	32, 7.1 (4.9, 9.9)	18, 4.4 (2.6, 6.8)	22, 5.9 (3.7, 8.8)	15, 4.6 (2.6, 7.5)	15, 5.3 (3.0, 8.6)
HPV45	8, 1.6 (0.7, 3.1)	8, 1.8 (0.8, 3.5)	3, 0.7 (0.2, 2.1)	5, 1.3 (0.4, 3.1)	6, 1.8 (0.7, 4.0)	8, 2.8 (1.2, 5.5)
HPV51	51, 10.2 (7.7, 13.2)	41, 9.1 (6.6, 12.1)	32, 7.8 (5.4, 10.8)	20, 5.4 (3.3, 8.1)	19, 5.8 (3.6, 9.0)	19, 6.7 (4.1, 10.3)
HPV52	35, 7.0 (4.9, 9.6)	28, 6.2 (4.2, 8.9)	29, 7.0 (4.8, 10.0)	22, 5.9 (3.7, 8.8)	15, 4.6 (2.6, 7.5)	15, 5.3 (3.0, 8.6)
HPV53	36, 7.2 (5.1, 9.8)	35, 7.8 (5.5, 10.6)	35, 8.5 (6.0, 11.6)	29, 7.8 (5.3, 11.0)	23, 7.1 (4.5, 10.4)	16, 5.7 (3.3, 9.1)
HPV56	25, 5.0 (3.3, 7.3)	21, 4.7 (2.9, 7.0)	15, 3.6 (2.1, 5.9)	13, 3.5 (1.9, 5.9)	11, 3.4 (1.7, 6.0)	7, 2.5 (1.0, 5.1)
HPV58	23, 4.6 (2.9, 6.8)	20, 4.4 (2.7, 6.8)	16, 3.9 (2.2, 6.2)	16, 4.3 (2.5, 6.9)	13, 4.0 (2.1, 6.7)	9, 3.2 (1.5, 6.0)
HPV59	30, 6.0 (4.1, 8.4)	21, 4.7 (2.9, 7.0)	16, 3.9 (2.2, 6.2)	11, 2.9 (1.5, 5.2)	15, 4.6 (2.6, 7.5)	11, 3.9 (2.0, 6.9)
HPV66	31, 6.2 (4.2, 8.7)	30, 6.7 (4.5, 9.4)	20, 4.9 (3.0, 7.4)	20, 5.4 (3.3, 8.1)	16, 4.9 (2.8, 7.9)	12, 4.3 (2.2, 7.3)
HPV67	28, 5.6 (3.8, 8.0)	22, 4.9 (3.1, 7.3)	20, 4.9 (3.0, 7.4)	16, 4.3 (2.5, 6.9)	14, 4.3 (2.4, 7.1)	5, 1.8 (0.6, 4.1)
HPV68	14, 2.8 (1.5, 4.6)	11, 2.4 (1.2, 4.3)	13, 3.2 (1.7, 5.3)	10, 2.7 (1.3, 4.9)	8, 2.5 (1.1, 4.8)	7, 2.5 (1.0, 5.1)
HPV69	$0, 0.0 (0.0, 0.7)^{a}$	$0, 0.0 (0.0, 0.8)^{a}$	$0, 0.0 (0.0, 0.9)^{a}$	$0, 0.0 (0.0, 1.0)^{a}$	$0, 0.0 (0.0, 1.1)^{a}$	$0, 0.0 (0.0, 1.3)^{a}$
HPV70	4, 0.8 (0.2, 2.0)	3, 0.7 (0.1, 1.9)	5, 1.2 (0.4, 2.8)	5, 1.3 (0.4, 3.1)	5, 1.5 (0.5, 3.5)	3, 1.1 (0.2, 3.1)
HPV73	18, 3.6 (2.1, 5.6)	17, 3.8 (2.2, 6.0)	19, 4.6 (2.8, 7.1)	13, 3.5 (1.9, 5.9)	11, 3.4 (1.7, 6.0)	11, 3.9 (2.0, 6.9)
HPV82	14, 2.8 (1.5, 4.6)	7, 1.6 (0.6, 3.2)	5, 1.2 (0.4, 2.8)	6, 1.6 (0.6, 3.5)	3, 0.9 (0.2, 2.7)	2, 0.7 (0.1, 2.5)
Any Woman-Level	240, 47.9 (43.5, 52.4)	207, 45.9 (41.2, 50.6)	192, 46.6 (41.7, 51.6)	151, 40.4 (35.4, 45.5)	139, 42.6 (37.2, 48.2)	107, 37.9 (32.3, 43.9)
Any HPV-Level ^b	492, 2.7 (2.4, 3.1)	407, 2.5 (2.2, 2.9)	342, 2.3 (2.0, 2.7)	280, 2.1 (1.8, 2.5)	244, 2.1 (1.8, 2.5)	197, 1.9 (1.6, 2.3)
Subgenus 3						
HPV61	12, 2.4 (1.2, 4.2)	13, 2.9 (1.5, 4.9)	15, 3.6 (2.1, 5.9)	13, 3.5 (1.9, 5.9)	12, 3.7 (1.9, 6.3)	14, 5.0 (2.7, 8.2)
HPV62	40, 8.0 (5.8, 10.7)	43, 9.5 (7.0, 12.6)	32, 7.8 (5.4, 10.8)	28, 7.5 (5.0, 10.6)	24, 7.4 (4.8, 10.8)	22, 7.8 (5.0, 11.6)
HPV71	2, 0.4 (0.1, 1.4)	1, 0.2 (0.0, 1.2)	$0, 0.0 (0.0, 0.9)^{a}$	$0, 0.0 (0.0, 1.0)^{a}$	$0, 0.0 (0.0, 1.1)^{a}$	$0, 0.0 (0.0, 1.3)^{a}$
HPV72	2, 0.4 (0.1, 1.4)	2, 0.4 (0.1, 1.6)	1, 0.2 (0.0, 1.3)	1, 0.3 (0.0, 1.5)	1, 0.3 (0.0, 1.7)	1, 0.4 (0.0, 2.0)

HPV81	8, 1.6 (0.7, 3.1)	7, 1.6 (0.6, 3.2)	4, 1.0 (0.3, 2.5)	$0, 0.0 (0.0, 1.0)^{a}$	$0, 0.0 (0.0, 1.1)^{a}$	3, 1.1 (0.2, 3.1)
HPV83	9, 1.8 (0.8, 3.4)	10, 2.2 (1.1, 4.0)	6, 1.5 (0.5, 3.1)	8, 2.1 (0.9, 4.2)	4, 1.2 (0.3, 3.1)	3, 1.1 (0.2, 3.1)
HPV84	48, 9.6 (7.2, 12.5)	38, 8.4 (6.0, 11.4)	32, 7.8 (5.4, 10.8)	19, 5.1 (3.1, 7.8)	14, 4.3 (2.4, 7.1)	24, 8.5 (5.5, 12.4)
HPV89	53, 10.6 (8.0, 13.6)	45, 10.0 (7.4, 13.1)	39, 9.5 (6.8, 12.7)	36, 9.6 (6.8, 13.1)	26, 8.0 (5.3, 11.5)	23, 8.2 (5.2, 12.0)
Any Woman-Level	133, 26.6 (22.7, 30.6)	120, 26.6 (22.6, 30.9)	99, 24.0 (20.0, 28.5)	77, 20.6 (16.6, 25.1)	65, 19.9 (15.7, 24.7)	72, 25.5 (20.6, 31.0)
Any HPV-Level ^b	174, 1.0 (0.8, 1.1)	159, 1.0 (0.8, 1.2)	129, 0.9 (0.7, 1.1)	105, 0.8 (0.6, 1.0)	81, 0.7 (0.5, 0.9)	90, 0.9 (0.7, 1.1)
All 36 Types						
Any Woman-Level	286, 57.1 (52.6, 61.5)	249, 55.2 (50.5, 59.9)	227, 55.1 (50.2, 60.0)	192, 51.3 (46.1, 56.5)	168, 51.5 (46.0, 57.1)	141, 50.0 (44.0, 56.0)
Any HPV-Level ^b	778, 4.3 (3.9, 4.8)	661, 4.1 (3.6, 4.6)	552, 3.7 (3.3, 4.2)	464, 3.5 (2.9, 4.0)	403, 3.4 (2.9, 4.0)	355, 3.5 (3.0, 4.1)

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; HPV, human papillomavirus.

^a Type not detected. One-sided 97.5% CI assigned.

^b Degrees of freedom-adjusted effective sample size used to account for intra-woman clustering.

M1-Table 2. Single detection of incident infection for individual HPV types, grouped types at the woman-level, and grouped types at the HPV-level, by subgenus.

	8	Cumulative Detection of Infection, % (95% CI)			Detection	Time (months) to Detection (95% CI)			
	n"	6 Months	12 Months	24 Months	Rate ^b (95% CI)	Actuarial Mean ^c	Actuarial Median ^c	Conditional Mean ^d	Conditional Median ^d
Subgenus 1									
HPV6	435	0.7 (0.2, 2.1)	3.4 (2.1, 5.7)	7.5 (5.3, 10.8)	3.8 (2.8, 5.2)	44.8 (43.1, 46.5)	NR	17.3 (14.5, 20.1)	17.0 (11.5, 19.7)
HPV11	451	0.0 ^e	0.0 ^e	0.9 (0.3, 2.8)	0.4 (0.1, 0.9)	48.9 (48.3, 49.5)	NR	23.2 (16.0, 30.4)	19.6 (14.9, NR)
HPV40	442	0.0°	1.0 (0.4, 2.6)	4.2 (2.5, 6.9)	1.9 (1.3, 2.9)	46.5 (44.6, 48.4)	NR	19.7 (15.9, 23.4)	16.8 (14.0, 23.9)
HPV42	419	2.7 (1.5, 4.8)	6.0 (4.1, 8.9)	9.7 (7.1, 13.2)	5.1 (3.9, 6.7)	43.5 (41.8, 45.1)	NR	16.0 (13.2, 18.7)	12.9 (9.6, 22.0)
HPV44	445	0.2 (0.0, 1.6)	0.7 (0.2, 2.2)	1.3 (0.5, 3.0)	0.9 (0.5, 1.7)	48.2 (47.4, 49.0)	NR	20.0 (13.6, 26.4)	16.8 (4.2, 29.2)
HPV54	426	0.7 (0.2, 2.2)	1.8 (0.8, 3.6)	5.4 (3.5, 8.3)	2.7 (1.9, 3.9)	46.3 (45.1, 47.4)	NR	19.0 (15.7, 22.3)	18.0 (15.3, 23.7)
Any Woman-Level	367	3.6 (2.1, 6.1)	10.6 (7.8, 14.3)	21.5 (17.3, 26.5)	11.4 (9.3, 13.9)	38.2 (36.2, 40.1)	NR	16.3 (14.5, 18.1)	15.4 (12.3, 18.0)
Any HPV-Level ^f	2,618	0.7 (0.4, 1.1)	2.1 (1.5, 2.9)	4.8 (3.8, 6.1)	2.4 (2.0, 2.9)	46.4 (44.2, 47.0)	NR	17.8 (16.0, 19.5)	17.0 (14.9, 19.7)
Subgenus 2									
HPV16	374	1.6 (0.7, 3.6)	2.5 (1.3, 4.8)	6.9 (4.6, 10.3)	3.3 (2.4, 4.8)	45.5 (44.1, 46.9)	NR	18.0 (14.7, 21.3)	17.5 (12.2, 22.3)
HPV18	437	0.2 (0.0, 1.6)	1.0 (0.4, 2.6)	1.9 (0.9, 4.1)	1.1 (0.6, 2.0)	48.0 (47.2, 48.8)	NR	20.0 (14.4, 25.6)	22.7 (8.4, 31.1)
HPV26	453	0.0°	0.0°	0.3 (0.0, 1.9)	0.1 (0.0, 0.6)	49.4 (49.2, 49.5)	NR		NR
HPV31	430	1.0 (0.4, 2.5)	2.5 (1.3, 4.6)	4.2 (2.6, 6.8)	2.4 (1.6, 3.5)	45.3 (43.7, 46.9)	NR	17.4 (13.4, 21.4)	13.7 (10.6, 25.0)
HPV33	448	0.0°	0.5 (0.1, 2.0)	1.0 (0.4, 2.7)	0.5 (0.2, 1.2)	48.6 (47.7, 49.4)	NR	18.8 (10.9, 26.7)	13.1 (9.6, NR)
HPV34	450	0.0 ^e	0.0°	0.6 (0.1, 2.3)	0.2 (0.0, 0.7)	49.3 (49.0, 49.5)	NR	17.6 (12.4, 22.8)	13.8 (13.8, NR)
HPV35	450	0.2 (0.0, 1.6)	0.5(0.1, 1.9)	1.0 (0.4, 2.7)	0.4 (0.2, 1.1)	48.9 (48.5, 49.4)	NR	15.2 (6.9, 23.4)	12.0 (4.6, NR)
HPV39	421	1.2 (0.5, 2.9)	2.0 (1.0, 3.9)	5.9 (3.9, 8.9)	2.6 (1.8, 3.8)	46.3 (45.1, 47.6)	NR	16.4 (13.0, 19.9)	15.3 (11.4, 20.2)
HPV45	445	0.7 (0.2, 2.1)	0.7 (0.2, 2.1)	2.1 (1.1, 4.2)	1.3 (0.8, 2.1)	47.1 (45.3, 49.0)	NR	20.1 (14.4, 25.9)	19.6 (5.8, 29.3)
HPV51	405	0.8 (0.2, 2.3)	2.6 (1.4, 4.8)	6.1 (4.0, 9.2)	3.4 (2.4, 4.8)	44.9 (43.1, 46.8)	NR	19.1 (15.9, 22.4)	18.6 (12.2, 25.0)
HPV52	418	1.2 (0.5, 2.9)	3.5 (2.1, 5.9)	5.7 (3.7, 8.6)	2.8 (2.0, 4.1)	45.2 (43.1, 47.3)	NR	16.4 (12.6, 20.3)	14.0 (8.5, 19.7)
HPV53	419	1.2 (0.5, 2.9)	4.1 (2.5, 6.6)	7.8 (5.4, 11.1)	3.5 (2.5, 4.8)	45.7 (44.5, 46.9)	NR	15.4 (12.6, 18.3)	13.1 (9.7, 16.9)
HPV56	432	0.9 (0.4, 2.5)	2.7 (1.5, 4.8)	5.4 (3.5, 8.3)	2.2 (1.4, 3.3)	46.3 (44.5, 48.2)	NR	14.9 (11.0, 18.7)	13.5 (9.4, 16.3)
HPV58	431	0.5 (0.1, 1.9)	1.7 (0.8, 3.6)	2.9 (1.6, 5.3)	1.4 (0.8, 2.3)	47.8 (47.0, 48.6)	NR	16.2 (11.5, 20.8)	14.0 (7.1, 22.8)
HPV59	426	1.0 (0.4, 2.6)	1.5 (0.7, 3.3)	4.8 (3.0, 7.7)	2.2 (1.5, 3.3)	46.6 (45.3, 48.0)	NR	17.8 (14.3, 21.4)	17.2 (12.6, 21.5)
HPV66	426	2.2 (1.1, 4.1)	4.4 (2.8, 7.0)	11.4 (8.5, 15.3)	4.7 (3.5, 6.2)	43.6 (41.5, 45.6)	NR	15.9 (13.3, 18.4)	16.6 (11.7, 18.4)
HPV67	427	1.2 (0.5, 2.9)	3.2 (1.9, 5.5)	7.0 (4.8, 10.2)	2.9 (2.0, 4.2)	46.1 (44.9, 47.3)	NR	14.3 (11.4, 17.2)	13.1 (9.4, 17.5)
HPV68	440	0.0°	0.7 (0.2, 2.2)	1.4 (0.6, 3.3)	0.5 (0.2, 1.2)	48.9 (48.4, 49.3)	NR	14.8 (8.3, 21.3)	7.4 (6.6, NR)
HPV69 ^g	453	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		NR		
HPV70	450	0.0°	0.5 (0.1, 1.9)	1.1 (0.4, 2.9)	0.5 (0.2, 1.2)	48.8 (48.3, 49.3)	NR	18.2 (11.4, 25.0)	13.7 (7.6, NR)
HPV73	435	1.4 (0.6, 3.1)	2.7 (1.5, 4.8)	6.0 (4.0, 9.0)	2.5 (1.7, 3.6)	46.3 (44.8, 47.8)	NR	13.8 (10.4, 17.2)	12.3 (7.0, 15.5)
HPV82	441	0.7 (0.2, 2.1)	1.4 (0.7, 3.2)	2.3 (1.2, 4.4)	0.9 (0.5, 1.7)	48.5 (47.9, 49.1)	NR	11.8 (7.4, 16.1)	9.5 (4.1, 16.8)
Any Woman-Level	233	4.8 (2.7, 8.4)	14.3 (10.3, 19.6)	32.4 (26.4, 39.4)	17.0 (13.7, 20.9)	32.3 (29.6, 35.0)	36.6 (30.8, NR) ^h	16.7 (14.8, 18.6)	14.2 (12.2, 18.4)
Any HPV-Level ^f	9,511	0.7 (0.5, 0.9)	1.7 (1.4, 2.1)	3.8 (3.2, 4.5)	1.7 (1.5, 2.0)	47.2 (45.1, 47.6)	NR	16.5 (15.2, 17.8)	14.5 (12.9, 16.9)
Subgenus 3									
HPV61	443	0.9 (0.4, 2.5)	1.9 (1.0, 3.8)	4.9 (3.1, 7.7)	2.1 (1.4, 3.2)	47.1 (46.1, 48.0)	NR	17.2 (13.7, 20.8)	20.2 (10.6, 21.8)
HPV62	416	1.5 (0.7, 3.2)	4.3 (2.7, 6.9)	8.4 (5.9, 11.8)	3.6 (2.6, 5.0)	43.9 (41.6, 46.3)	NR	15.3 (11.9, 18.6)	12.0 (7.1, 17.0)
HPV71 ^g	451	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		NR		
HPV72 ^g	451	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		NR		
HPV81	446	0.0°	0.5 (0.1, 1.9)	0.8 (0.3, 2.5)	0.4 (0.2, 1.1)	48.9 (48.3, 49.4)	NR	20.2 (10.7, 29.7)	22.8 (7.1, NR)
HPV83	444	0.5 (0.1, 1.8)	1.0 (0.4, 2.5)	1.5 (0.7, 3.3)	0.6 (0.3, 1.3)	48.8 (48.3, 49.3)	NR	11.9 (6.7, 17.1)	10.6 (4.3, 19.4)
HPV84	413	2.0 (1.0, 3.9)	5.6 (3.8, 8.4)	9.2 (6.6, 12.6)	4.8 (3.6, 6.3)	43.4 (41.5, 45.3)	NR	16.1 (13.1, 19.0)	13.1 (10.1, 16.4)

HPV89	405	2.8 (1.5, 4.9)	6.0 (4.0, 8.9)	12.5 (9.5, 16.5)	5.5 (4.2, 7.2)	43.6 (42.1, 45.1)	NR	15.1 (12.7, 17.5)	13.8 (9.8, 18.2)
Any Woman-Level	336	5.4 (3.5, 8.5)	13.3 (10.0, 17.5)	24.4 (19.9, 29.7)	12.4 (10.1, 15.1)	35.6 (33.1, 38.1)	40.5 (38.4, NR) ^h	15.5 (13.5, 17.6)	12.6 (10.1, 15.5)
Any HPV-Level ^f	3,469	0.9 (0.6, 1.3)	2.3 (1.7, 3.0)	4.5 (3.7, 5.3)	2.0 (1.7, 2.4)	46.8 (44.5, 47.3)	NR	15.7 (14.1, 17.4)	13.1 (11.5, 15.6)
All 36 Types									
Any Woman-Level	192	4.7 (2.5, 8.9)	16.6 (12.0, 22.8)	40.4 (33.4, 48.4)	20.0 (16.1, 24.9)	30.9 (27.9, 33.9)	32.1 (25.1, NR) ^h	15.4 (13.7, 17.2)	13.1 (12.2, 17.0)
Any HPV-Level ^f	15,598	0.8 (0.6, 1.0)	1.9 (1.6, 2.3)	4.1 (3.6, 4.8)	1.9 (1.7, 2.2)	47.0 (45.0, 47.3)	NR	16.6 (15.5, 17.7)	14.9 (13.1, 16.9)
A11 · /·	CI	C 1 ·		1 .11	·) ID	. 11			

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; HPV, human papillomavirus; NR, not reached.

-- indicates an insufficient number of women were at risk (i.e., 0) or experienced the outcome (i.e., 0 or 1) to estimate this value.

^a Sample size does not apply to conditional mean/median; sample size for conditional statistics is the number of single detections.

^b Rate per 1000 woman-months, excepting HPV-level analyses of grouped types, which are provided as rate per 1000 infection-months.

^c Time to detection including women/types that were censored. Actuarial means were found to be unreliable estimates of average time to detection due to right-censoring.

^d Time to detection conditional on event of interest (i.e., time to detection restricted to women/types that had a single detection during the study).

^e HPV type was not detected by this time point among women included in this analysis.

^f 95% CIs for cumulative detection estimates generated using bootstrap resampling of woman-clusters. 95% CIs for detection rate per 1000 infection-months estimated via woman-clustered jackknife. 95% CIs for actuarial and conditional mean time to detection determined by woman-cluster resampling bootstrap. 95% CIs for actuarial and conditional median time to detection affixed by the times at which each (woman-clustered bootstrap-based) 95% CI bound of the actuarial and conditional survival functions (respectively) reached or fell below 50%.

^g HPV type was never detected among women included in this analysis.

^h One bound of the survival function's 95% CI never reached or fell below 50%.

M1-Table 3. Liberal clearance of infection present at baseline for individual HPV types, grouped types at the woman-level, and grouped types at the HPV-level, by subgenus.

		Percent of In	fection Uncleared,	% (95% CI)	Clearance	Time (months) to Clearance (95% CI)			
	n.	6 Months	12 Months	24 Months	Rate ^b (95% CI)	Actuarial Mean ^c	Actuarial Median ^c	Conditional Mean ^d	Conditional Median ^d
Subgenus 1									
HPV6	18	59.3 (33.0, 78.1)	35.6 (14.6, 57.3)	29.6 (10.8, 51.4)	61.6 (35.8, 106.2)	13.7 (8.7, 18.7)	10.6 (5.2, NR) ^e	8.8 (5.1, 12.5)	5.9 (4.6, 11.3)
HPV11	2	NR	NR	NR	228.9 (57.2, 915.0)	4.4 (2.2, 6.5)	2.8 (2.8, NR) ^e	4.4 (2.2, 6.5)	2.8 (2.8, NR) ^e
HPV40	11	61.4 (26.6, 83.5)	40.9 (12.7, 67.9)	13.6 (0.8, 44.0)	74.5 (37.3, 148.9)	11.3 (6.5, 16.1)	8.0 (4.7, 21.4)	8.5 (4.6, 12.3)	5.2 (3.0, 12.6)
HPV42	34	82.0 (64.1, 91.5)	48.0 (29.4, 64.3)	23.0 (9.1, 40.6)	59.3 (39.7, 88.4)	15.0 (11.1, 18.8)	11.7 (7.8, 12.6)	11.1 (8.1, 14.1)	8.0 (7.1, 12.2)
HPV44	8	50.0 (15.2, 77.5)	50.0 (15.2, 77.5)	25.0 (3.7, 55.8)	61.2 (29.2, 128.3)	15.3 (6.5, 24.0)	5.8 (4.4, NR) ^e	12.3 (4.4, 20.2)	5.8 (4.4, 16.3)
HPV54	27	81.5 (61.1, 91.8)	46.9 (27.2, 64.4)	9.5 (1.7, 25.8)	71.4 (47.0, 108.5)	12.3 (9.9, 14.7)	11.5 (8.5, 14.5)	10.5 (8.7, 12.3)	9.9 (7.6, 12.5)
All Woman-Level	86	72.5 (61.6, 80.8)	48.2 (36.8, 58.6)	24.6 (15.3, 35.0)	56.6 (44.0, 72.7)	15.6 (13.0, 18.2)	11.5 (8.5, 13.5)	10.3 (8.5, 12.0)	8.1 (5.9, 10.6)
Any HPV-Level ^f	100	71.3 (60.7, 80.1)	43.7 (33.8, 52.7)	19.2 (10.5, 26.8)	65.8 (53.9, 80.3)	13.9 (11.6, 16.1)	10.6 (8.1, 12.5)	10.2 (8.7, 11.7)	8.0 (7.4, 10.6)
Subgenus 2									
HPV16	79	84.3 (74.0, 90.8)	63.5 (51.4, 73.3)	33.0 (21.8, 44.6)	39.3 (29.5, 52.3)	19.4 (16.5, 22.3)	16.1 (12.3, 19.3)	11.3 (9.7, 13.0)	10.1 (8.5, 13.7)
HPV18	16	68.8 (40.5, 85.6)	43.8 (19.8, 65.6)	16.7 (3.2, 39.3)	73.0 (43.2, 123.2)	12.5 (8.9, 16.2)	11.7 (5.2, 15.9)	10.8 (7.6, 14.0)	11.7 (5.1, 12.4)
HPV26	0								
HPV31	23	90.9 (68.1, 97.6)	67.0 (42.9, 82.7)	19.1 (6.0, 37.9)	60.9 (38.8, 95.5)	14.8 (11.2, 18.4)	12.6 (8.2, 14.1)	13.1 (9.9, 16.2)	12.2 (6.9, 13.7)
HPV33	5	60.0 (12.6, 88.2)	NR	NR	89.4 (28.8, 277.3)	7.2 (4.7, 9.7)	7.6 (4.1, NR) ^e	5.3 (3.6, 7.1)	4.3 (4.1, NR) ^e
HPV34	3	100.0 ^g	33.3 (0.9, 77.4)	NR	107.4 (34.6, 333.1)	9.3 (5.5, 13.1)	7.3 (6.7, NR) ^e	9.3 (5.5, 13.1)	7.3 (6.7, NR) ^e
HPV35	3	100.0 ^g	66.7 (5.4, 94.5)	NR	43.1 (10.8, 172.5)	15.7 (8.1, 23.3)	20.4 (6.2, NR) ^e	13.3 (3.5, 23.2)	6.2 (6.2, NR) ^e
HPV39	32	79.7 (60.3, 90.3)	55.5 (35.9, 71.2)	7.5 (1.3, 21.1)	65.7 (44.7, 96.5)	13.4 (11.1, 15.8)	12.8 (7.8, 17.7)	12.3 (10.1, 14.4)	12.0 (6.9, 15.8)
HPV45	8	60.0 (19.6, 85.2)	30.0 (4.4, 62.8)	NR	100.0 (47.7, 209.8)	9.4 (6.4, 12.4)	8.3 (5.5, 12.6)	9.2 (6.2, 12.2)	8.3 (5.5, 12.6)
HPV51	48	86.7 (72.7, 93.8)	56.2 (39.5, 69.9)	18.8 (7.3, 34.5)	53.1 (37.6, 75.2)	15.5 (12.8, 18.2)	14.7 (11.0, 18.4)	12.8 (10.5, 15.1)	11.6 (7.0, 14.9)
HPV52	35	72.8 (54.2, 84.8)	45.9 (27.9, 62.2)	13.4 (3.6, 29.6)	66.2 (45.1, 97.2)	13.1 (10.2, 16.1)	8.7 (6.9, 17.7)	10.6 (8.1, 13.2)	7.4 (5.1, 15.6)
HPV53	34	90.7 (73.9, 96.9)	61.2 (41.9, 75.9)	31.7 (15.8, 49.0)	47.2 (31.9, 69.9)	18.5 (14.8, 22.1)	19.1 (9.7, 22.9)	15.7 (12.3, 19.1)	13.7 (8.7, 20.4)
HPV56	21	85.7 (62.0, 95.2)	48.3 (24.7, 68.5)	9.2 (0.6, 32.4)	59.5 (35.9, 98.7)	14.3 (9.3, 19.3)	11.5 (7.8, 20.2)	10.3 (7.5, 13.1)	8.5 (5.1, 12.2)
HPV58	22	90.4 (66.8, 97.5)	62.2 (36.4, 80.0)	15.5 (2.8, 37.9)	50.8 (30.1, 85.8)	15.7 (11.6, 19.8)	12.9 (8.7, 21.1)	12.0 (9.1, 15.0)	9.9 (6.5, 15.6)
HPV59	27	81.5 (61.1, 91.8)	36.7 (18.7, 54.9)	NR	82.6 (55.4, 123.2)	11.3 (9.2, 13.3)	9.5 (8.0, 14.7)	10.7 (8.7, 12.6)	9.4 (7.7, 12.4)
HPV66	27	73.7 (52.6, 86.5)	41.0 (22.0, 59.1)	4.1 (0.3, 17.3)	89.0 (60.2, 131.8)	10.9 (8.7, 13.2)	8.5 (7.5, 14.3)	10.8 (8.5, 13.1)	8.5 (7.5, 14.3)
HPV67	26	73.1 (51.7, 86.2)	38.5 (20.4, 56.3)	NR	93.1 (63.4, 136.7)	10.7 (8.5, 13.0)	8.5 (6.6, 13.1)	10.7 (8.5, 13.0)	8.5 (6.6, 13.1)
HPV68	13	91.7 (53.9, 98.8)	66.7 (33.7, 86.0)	33.3 (10.3, 58.8)	34.8 (17.4, 69.6)	19.9 (14.3, 25.5)	19.5 (8.5, NR) ^e	13.8 (9.7, 18.0)	11.7 (3.7, 19.7)
HPV69	0								
HPV70	3	66.7 (5.4, 94.5)	66.7 (5.4, 94.5)	33.3 (0.9, 77.4)	55.4 (17.9, 171.8)	18.0 (5.4, 30.7)	17.4 (4.7, NR) ^e	18.0 (5.4, 30.7)	17.4 (4.7, NR) ^e
HPV73	18	66.7 (40.4, 83.4)	24.4 (7.7, 46.1)	12.2 (2.1, 32.1)	86.1 (52.8, 140.6)	10.7 (7.4, 13.9)	9.8 (5.0, 12.0)	9.3 (6.7, 12.0)	9.7 (4.9, 11.7)
HPV82	12	50.0 (20.9, 73.6)	8.3 (0.5, 31.1)	NR	140.3 (79.7, 247.0)	7.1 (4.8, 9.5)	5.5 (3.1, 9.3)	7.1 (4.8, 9.5)	5.5 (3.1, 9.3)
All Woman-Level	220	91.5 (86.9, 94.6)	78.2 (71.8, 83.3)	48.0 (40.1, 55.4)	27.4 (22.6, 33.2)	24.7 (22.6, 26.8)	23.7 (20.0, 26.1)	14.6 (13.1, 16.1)	14.2 (11.7, 15.8)
Any HPV-Level ¹	455	80.5 (75.7, 84.8)	50.8 (45.8, 55.6)	16.3 (12.3, 20.2)	60.5 (55.4, 66.2)	14.9 (13.9, 16.0)	12.1 (10.8, 13.2)	11.5 (10.8, 12.2)	9.9 (8.7, 11.0)
Subgenus 3									
HPV61	10	77.8 (36.5, 93.9)	55.6 (20.4, 80.5)	44.4 (13.6, 71.9)	37.7 (16.9, 84.0)	18.7 (10.5, 26.9)	$16.2 (3.9, NR)^{e}$	11.6 (5.3, 17.9)	$7.9 (3.9, NR)^{e}$
HPV62	37	88.6 (72.4, 95.6)	61.6 (43.1, 75.6)	37.0 (20.4, 53.8)	41.5 (28.0, 61.4)	19.3 (15.6, 23.0)	19.2 (8.8, 25.0)	15.1 (11.7, 18.6)	11.6 (8.2, 19.5)
HPV71	2	100.0 ^g	NR	NR	122.0 (30.5, 487.8)	8.2 (5.8, 10.6)	$6.5 (6.5, NR)^{e}$	8.2 (5.8, 10.6)	$6.5 (6.5, NR)^{e}$
HPV72 ⁿ	2	100.0	100.0	100.0	0.0		NR		
HPV81	7	83.3 (27.3, 97.5)	66.7 (19.5, 90.4)	NR	68.9 (28.7, 165.5)	11.2 (8.2, 14.2)	12.8 (5.8, NR) ^e	10.5 (7.3, 13.7)	12.8 (5.8, NR) ^e
HPV83	9	88.9 (43.3, 98.4)	64.8 (25.3, 87.2)	48.6 (12.8, 77.6)	35.9 (14.9, 86.2)	20.4 (11.3, 29.5)	12.6 (5.5, NR) ^e	12.4 (4.4, 20.4)	7.9 (5.5, NR) ^e
HPV84	40	79.4 (63.0, 89.1)	28.9 (15.2, 44.1)	10.4 (2.9, 23.6)	86.9 (61.8, 122.2)	10.5 (8.1, 12.8)	7.5 (6.4, 10.4)	8.7 (7.0, 10.4)	7.3 (6.2, 8.5)

HPV89	48	74.8 (60.0, 84.9)	38.4 (24.7, 51.9)	8.2 (2.2, 19.4)	78.7 (58.4, 106.1)	12.3 (9.7, 15.0)	9.4 (7.8, 12.1)	11.0 (8.7, 13.3)	8.9 (6.7, 11.3)
All Woman-Level	117	82.2 (73.8, 88.2)	57.1 (47.1, 65.9)	34.0 (24.6, 43.6)	45.8 (36.6, 57.4)	18.4 (15.8, 21.0)	14.2 (11.3, 17.8)	12.0 (10.2, 13.9)	9.3 (6.8, 12.1)
Any HPV-Level ^f	155	81.4 (73.9, 86.7)	45.1 (36.1, 54.0)	20.9 (13.6, 29.6)	61.0 (50.6, 73.3)	14.9 (12.7, 17.1)	10.4 (8.5, 13.1)	11.3 (10.0, 12.6)	8.5 (7.5, 9.7)
All 36 Types									
All Woman-Level	261	91.7 (87.5, 94.5)	80.1 (74.5, 84.6)	57.3 (50.2, 63.8)	23.6 (19.6, 28.4)	26.0 (24.0, 27.9)	27.0 (25.0, 32.7)	14.8 (13.2, 16.4)	14.0 (11.6, 15.6)
Any HPV-Level ^f	710	79.4 (74.4, 82.8)	48.6 (44.1, 52.6)	17.7 (13.9, 21.2)	61.3 (56.2, 66.9)	14.8 (13.7, 15.8)	11.7 (10.3, 12.6)	11.3 (10.6, 11.9)	9.3 (8.5, 10.2)
411		C* 1	· . 1 11D1	7 1 .	11 ' 17				

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; HPV, human papillomavirus; NR, not reached.

-- indicates an insufficient number of women were at risk (i.e., 0) or experienced the outcome (i.e., 0 or 1) to estimate this value.

^a Sample size does not apply to conditional mean/median; sample size for conditional statistics is the number of liberal clearances.

^b Rate per 1000 woman-months, excepting HPV-level analyses of grouped types, which are provided as rate per 1000 infection-months.

^c Time to clearance including women/infections that were censored.

^d Time to clearance conditional on event of interest (i.e., time to clearance restricted to women/infections that had a liberal clearance during the study).

^e One bound of the survival function's 95% CI never reached or fell below 50%.

^f 95% CIs for uncleared infection estimates generated using bootstrap resampling of woman-clusters. 95% CIs for clearance rate per 1000 infection-months estimated via woman-clustered jackknife. 95% CIs for actuarial and conditional mean time to clearance determined by woman-cluster resampling bootstrap. 95% CIs for actuarial and conditional median time to clearance affixed by the times at which each (woman-clustered bootstrap-based) 95% CI bound of the actuarial and conditional survival functions (respectively) reached or fell below 50%.

^g HPV type was not cleared by this time point among women included in this analysis.

^h HPV type was never cleared among women included in this analysis.

M1-Table 4. Liberal clearance of incident infection for individual HPV types, grouped types at the woman-level, and grouped types at the HPV-level, by subgenus.

	8	Percent of Infection Uncleared, % (95% CI)			Clearance	Time (months) to Clearance (95% CI)			
	n.	6 Months	12 Months	24 Months	Rate ^b (95% CI)	Actuarial Mean ^c	Actuarial Median ^c	Conditional Mean ^d	Conditional Median ^d
Subgenus 1									
HPV6	32	79.4 (59.8, 90.2)	35.2 (16.8, 54.2)	NR	66.4 (41.8, 105.3)	12.1 (9.3, 14.8)	9.3 (7.6, 12.8)	8.4 (6.5, 10.2)	7.6 (5.3, 9.3)
HPV11	1	NR	NR	NR	172.9 (24.4, 1,227.7)		NR		NR
HPV40	14	85.7 (53.9, 96.2)	47.6 (20.3, 70.8)	NR	73.9 (40.9, 133.4)	11.5 (9.1, 13.8)	10.2 (6.1, 16.2)	10.5 (7.9, 13.0)	9.9 (5.2, 15.1)
HPV42	34	82.0 (64.3, 91.5)	52.1 (33.3, 67.9)	23.1 (9.1, 40.9)	55.1 (36.3, 83.7)	14.7 (11.4, 18.0)	12.4 (8.6, 16.0)	9.7 (8.0, 11.4)	8.6 (5.7, 12.4)
HPV44	4	100.0 ^e	33.3 (0.9, 77.4)	NR	74.2 (23.9, 230.2)	11.3 (5.7, 16.9)	8.5 (7.2, NR) ^f	11.3 (5.7, 16.9)	8.5 (7.2, NR) ^f
HPV54	19	89.5 (64.1, 97.3)	44.2 (17.5, 68.2)	22.1 (1.6, 57.5)	50.6 (27.2, 94.0)	15.0 (10.8, 19.3)	10.6 (7.9, NR) ^f	10.8 (6.5, 15.1)	8.0 (3.0, 10.6)
All Woman-Level	69	86.8 (76.1, 92.9)	55.0 (40.9, 67.1)	19.9 (6.5, 38.6)	45.6 (32.7, 63.5)	15.6 (13.0, 18.2)	14.3 (9.9, 17.6)	9.8 (8.2, 11.4)	8.7 (7.3, 10.0)
Any HPV-Level ^g	104	83.5 (74.8, 89.4)	52.3 (41.1, 62.1)	34.7 (24.2, 44.8)	43.4 (33.6, 56.4)	18.5 (15.4, 21.1)	13.1 (9.9, 17.6)	9.6 (8.6, 10.9)	8.5 (7.6, 9.9)
Subgenus 2									
HPV16	22	83.3 (56.8, 94.3)	67.3 (36.6, 85.6)	NR	36.5 (17.4, 76.6)	14.0 (10.7, 17.3)	15.3 (6.7, NR) ^f	8.5 (5.7, 11.4)	6.7 (4.8, 13.0)
HPV18	10	80.0 (40.9, 94.6)	50.0 (18.4, 75.3)	50.0 (18.4, 75.3)	34.7 (14.5, 83.4)	18.6 (11.4, 25.8)	10.2 (4.6, NR) ^f	7.1 (5.4, 8.8)	7.4 (4.6, NR) ^f
HPV26	0								
HPV31	19	78.0 (51.5, 91.1)	36.0 (13.6, 59.3)	NR	69.1 (39.2, 121.7)	11.3 (8.4, 14.1)	9.8 (6.8, NR) ^f	8.6 (6.2, 10.9)	8.0 (4.6, 10.0)
HPV33	4	50.0 (5.8, 84.5)	NR	NR	153.1 (57.5, 408.0)	6.5 (4.5, 8.5)	5.5 (3.7, NR) ^f	6.5 (4.5, 8.5)	5.5 (3.7, NR) ^f
HPV34	2	50.0 (0.6, 91.0)	NR	NR	168.6 (42.2, 674.2)	5.9 (5.8, 6.0)	5.8 (5.8, NR) ^f	5.9 (5.8, 6.0)	5.8 (5.8, NR) ^f
HPV35	4	75.0 (12.8, 96.1)	75.0 (12.8, 96.1)	NR	55.3 (17.8, 171.5)	16.6 (9.7, 23.5)	18.5 (5.0, NR) ^f	15.4 (6.9, 23.8)	18.5 (5.0, NR) ^f
HPV39	19	89.5 (64.1, 97.3)	57.0 (29.7, 77.1)	19.0 (3.2, 44.9)	54.0 (29.9, 97.5)	14.1 (9.5, 18.7)	12.6 (8.1, 14.8)	9.6 (7.6, 11.6)	8.5 (5.6, 12.6)
HPV45	8	75.0 (31.5, 93.1)	20.8 (1.0, 58.6)	NR	90.7 (40.8, 201.9)	9.4 (5.3, 13.4)	7.6 (4.7, NR) ^f	8.6 (4.9, 12.3)	6.2 (4.7, NR) ^f
HPV51	23	86.7 (64.3, 95.5)	47.2 (23.4, 67.8)	12.6 (1.0, 39.3)	61.8 (37.3, 102.6)	13.7 (9.9, 17.5)	11.3 (6.3, 16.3)	11.1 (7.6, 14.7)	9.4 (4.9, 15.1)
HPV52	19	89.2 (63.2, 97.2)	50.2 (26.1, 70.2)	13.7 (1.1, 41.7)	59.1 (34.3, 101.8)	13.6 (9.9, 17.3)	12.6 (6.8, 23.0)	10.0 (7.1, 12.8)	9.0 (6.2, 12.6)
HPV53	25	78.7 (56.1, 90.6)	64.1 (40.5, 80.3)	NR	56.0 (33.2, 94.5)	13.7 (10.5, 16.9)	14.1 (6.4, 18.4)	10.0 (6.8, 13.3)	6.4 (3.7, 14.9)
HPV56	16	85.7 (53.9, 96.2)	39.6 (12.8, 65.9)	NR	70.4 (37.9, 130.8)	10.7 (8.2, 13.2)	8.6 (6.3, 15.5)	9.7 (7.2, 12.1)	8.2 (5.3, 12.7)
HPV58	13	92.3 (56.6, 98.9)	92.3 (56.6, 98.9)	20.2 (0.9, 58.0)	31.8 (14.3, 70.7)	21.5 (15.4, 27.6)	22.3 (12.2, NR) ^f	19.1 (11.6, 26.5)	$18.2 (4.5, NR)^{f}$
HPV59	18	70.8 (43.5, 86.7)	27.0 (6.9, 52.7)	27.0 (6.9, 52.7)	67.5 (37.4, 121.9)	13.7 (7.8, 19.5)	9.4 (5.1, NR) ^f	9.1 (4.8, 13.3)	7.1 (4.6, 9.9)
HPV66	35	73.2 (54.8, 85.1)	33.1 (16.6, 50.6)	NR	91.8 (63.0, 133.9)	9.7 (7.9, 11.4)	8.8 (6.2, 13.1)	8.7 (7.0, 10.4)	7.6 (5.3, 10.2)
HPV67	25	88.0 (67.3, 96.0)	37.8 (19.2, 56.3)	NR	80.4 (52.4, 123.3)	10.9 (9.0, 12.8)	8.5 (7.2, 14.0)	9.8 (8.0, 11.7)	8.3 (6.9, 11.3)
HPV68	6	80.0 (20.4, 96.9)	26.7 (1.0, 68.6)	NR	57.7 (18.6, 179.0)	11.0 (8.0, 14.0)	11.5 (5.6, NR) ^f	9.2 (6.2, 12.1)	10.5 (5.6, NR) ^f
HPV69	0								
HPV70	5	80.0 (20.4, 96.9)	40.0 (5.2, 75.3)	40.0 (5.2, 75.3)	65.6 (24.6, 174.7)	14.4 (5.8, 23.0)	7.3 (5.6, NR) ^f	11.4 (2.8, 19.9)	6.2 (5.6, NR) ^f
HPV73	21	81.0 (56.9, 92.4)	40.7 (18.7, 61.8)	NR	79.7 (48.8, 130.1)	11.0 (8.9, 13.2)	9.6 (7.5, 16.1)	10.0 (7.8, 12.3)	8.8 (5.3, 15.8)
HPV82	9	77.8 (36.5, 93.9)	22.2 (3.4, 51.3)	NR	81.2 (38.7, 170.3)	9.6 (7.1, 12.1)	9.3 (3.8, NR) ^f	7.8 (6.3, 9.4)	8.9 (3.8, 9.4)
All Woman-Level	68	87.7 (76.8, 93.6)	57.1 (42.8, 69.2)	18.4 (6.3, 35.5)	47.2 (34.1, 65.5)	17.2 (13.4, 21.0)	13.5 (9.4, 18.5)	10.1 (8.4, 11.9)	8.3 (6.4, 11.3)
Any HPV-Level ^g	303	81.7 (76.1, 86.2)	51.9 (45.0, 57.7)	31.0 (24.1, 36.5)	47.1 (39.9, 55.5)	19.1 (15.9, 21.2)	12.7 (9.4, 15.1)	9.7 (8.9, 10.6)	8.1 (7.3, 8.9)
Subgenus 3									
HPV61	16	81.3 (52.5, 93.5)	48.8 (17.1, 74.7)	NR	42.8 (20.4, 89.9)	14.5 (10.0, 18.9)	11.9 (7.9, NR) ^f	8.0 (5.3, 10.8)	7.9 (3.0, 11.9)
HPV62	25	79.5 (57.5, 90.9)	46.0 (24.3, 65.3)	12.6 (1.1, 38.9)	65.7 (40.8, 105.7)	13.1 (9.4, 16.7)	11.7 (6.8, 14.4)	10.4 (7.4, 13.3)	8.2 (5.7, 12.2)
HPV71	0								
HPV72	0								
HPV81	2	100.0 ^e	100.0 ^e	NR	44.8 (6.3, 318.2)		12.2 (NR, NR) ^f		NR
HPV83	7	100.0°	17.1 (0.8, 52.6)	NR	82.5 (34.4, 198.3)	9.1 (7.4, 10.8)	8.8 (6.2, NR) ^f	8.2 (7.0, 9.5)	8.5 (6.2, NR) ^f
HPV84	34	63.9 (45.2, 77.7)	37.0 (19.7, 54.4)	14.8 (4.1, 31.9)	79.2 (53.5, 117.1)	11.5 (8.6, 14.5)	8.5 (5.6, 15.1)	8.8 (6.4, 11.1)	6.1 (4.6, 9.9)

HPV89	43 88.0 (73.6, 94.8)	51.4 (34.7, 65.8)	20.9 (6.7, 40.5)	57.5 (39.7, 83.3)	14.4 (11.6, 17.2)	12.9 (8.1, 20.1)	11.3 (8.7, 13.9)	8.1 (6.7, 11.3)
All Woman-Level	71 80.1 (68.7, 87.7)	59.1 (45.6, 70.3)	26.7 (13.2, 42.3)	51.0 (37.4, 69.6)	15.3 (12.9, 17.7)	14.4 (10.8, 19.7)	10.4 (8.2, 12.5)	6.8 (5.7, 11.8)
Any HPV-Level ^g	127 80.3 (72.4, 85.6)	50.9 (40.3, 58.8)	35.0 (24.5, 42.0)	46.6 (37.7, 57.7)	17.3 (14.8, 19.4)	12.2 (9.7, 15.1)	9.9 (8.6, 11.4)	8.0 (6.7, 9.6)
All 36 Types								
All Woman-Level	65 93.5 (83.6, 97.5)	74.1 (60.1, 83.9)	39.8 (19.2, 59.7)	25.5 (16.8, 38.7)	24.2 (19.6, 28.9)	22.3 (16.2, NR) ^f	11.1 (8.7, 13.5)	8.7 (6.4, 13.5)
Any HPV-Level ^g	534 81.7 (77.1, 86.0)	51.7 (46.6, 56.4)	32.7 (27.4, 36.8)	46.2 (41.1, 52.0)	19.3 (16.9, 20.8)	12.6 (10.3, 14.8)	9.8 (9.1, 10.5)	8.2 (7.6, 8.8)
	~ ~ ~ ~ ~		~	44 1 3 7 7				

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; HPV, human papillomavirus; NR, not reached.

-- indicates an insufficient number of women were at risk (i.e., 0) or experienced the outcome (i.e., 0 or 1) to estimate this value.

^a Sample size does not apply to conditional mean/median; sample size for conditional statistics is the number of liberal clearances.

^b Rate per 1000 woman-months, excepting HPV-level analyses of grouped types, which are provided as rate per 1000 infection-months.

^c Time to clearance including women/infections that were censored.

^d Time to clearance conditional on event of interest (i.e., time to clearance restricted to women/infections that had a liberal clearance during the study).

^e HPV type was not cleared by this time point among women included in this analysis.

^f Bound(s) of the survival function's 95% CI never reached or fell below 50%.

^g 95% CIs for uncleared infection estimates generated using bootstrap resampling of woman-clusters. 95% CIs for clearance rate per 1000 infection-months estimated via woman-clustered jackknife. 95% CIs for actuarial and conditional mean time to clearance determined by woman-cluster resampling bootstrap. 95% CIs for actuarial and conditional median time to clearance affixed by the times at which each (woman-clustered bootstrap-based) 95% CI bound of the actuarial and conditional survival functions (respectively) reached or fell below 50%.



Abbreviations: HPV, human papillomavirus; mos., months (1 month = 30.437 days).

M1-Figure 1A. Analytical framework for single detection of incident infection.

i. Woman-level analysis for a given HPV type: Woman A must be negative for HPVx at baseline. She has a single detection at 24 months, when she tests positive for HPVx.

ii. Woman-level analysis for grouped HPV types *x*, *y*, and *z*: Woman A must be negative for all three types at baseline. She has a single detection at 12 months, the first time she tests positive for one (or more) types following a visit where she was negative for all three types.

iii. HPV-level analysis for grouped HPV types x, y, and z: HPV types must be absent at baseline. There will be a single detection each first time woman A tests positive for any type following a visit where she was negative for the same type. HPVx and HPVz have single detections at 24- and 12-months, respectively; HPVy is right-censored (24 months).

M1-Figure 1B. Analytical framework for liberal clearance of incident infection.

i. Woman-level analysis for a given HPV type: Woman B must be negative for HPVx at baseline. She later tests positive for HPVx, then has a liberal clearance after 14 months have elapsed, when she tests negative for HPVx.

ii. Woman-level analysis for grouped HPV types *x*, *y*, and *z*: Woman B must be negative for all three types at baseline. After testing positive for HPV*x*, she never clears all three asynchronously-detected infections at a single visit. She is right-censored (24 months).

iii. HPV-level analysis for grouped HPV types x, y, and z: HPV types must be absent at baseline, then detected later in the study. There will be a liberal clearance each first time woman B tests negative for any type following a visit where she was positive for the same type. HPVx and HPVy have liberal clearances 14- and 12-months post-detection, respectively; HPVz is right-censored 6 months after detection.

Symbol Legend:

2 : Debut of woman's sexual relationship with a male partner occurred 0-6 months pre-baseline.

✤ : Data are right-censored.

: Time to discrete event of interest. Gradient arrows indicate that biological infection/clearance occurred at an unknown time before detection/clearance at the arrowhead. Solid blue arrow counts time at risk contributed before censorship at the arrowhead.



M1-Figure 2. Single detection of incident infection with any (A) HPV type(s), (B) subgenus 1, (C) subgenus 2, and (D) subgenus 3 type(s), at the woman-level.



M1-Figure 3. Liberal clearance of all (A) HPV type(s), (B) subgenus 1, (C) subgenus 2, and (D) subgenus 3 type(s) for infections present at baseline (blue) and incident infections (red), at the woman-level.

CHAPTER 4. HPV TRANSMISSION IN FEMALES' SEQUENTIAL MALE PARTNERS 4.1 Preface

Chapter 3 provided an in-depth examination of HPV natural history in young women. As molecular HPV testing replaces Pap cytology as the dominant technique for cervical screening,⁷ we hope these estimates will be informative for epidemiologists and mathematical modelers undertaking secondary cervical cancer prevention research.

As a couple-based cohort, the HITCH study is equally well-positioned to investigate a phenomenon of interest to primary HPV-related cancer prevention: HPV transmission. A unique property of the HITCH study allowed us to analyze HPV transmission from upstream sexual partnerships (male $1 \leftrightarrow$ female) to downstream sex partners (\rightarrow male 2). A total of 42 females enrolled in HITCH brought more than one sex partner to the study. In chapter 4, we use HPV genotyping data for 42 "female-linked partnerships" to characterize HPV transmission between sequential heterosexual partnerships. Understanding HPV's ability to transmit across sexual partnerships may have implications for primary HPV-related cancer prevention by informing vaccination targetting. We believe this to be the first such analysis among longitudinal couple-based HPV transmission studies.^{26-31,65}

The results of our analysis are presented in Manuscript 2. A later edition of *Epidemiology* of genital human papillomavirus infections in sequential male sex partners of young females was made available as a preprint on medRxiv.org⁶⁶ and submitted to *Clinical Microbiology and Infection* (Elsevier) on June 19th, 2023. Portions of this manuscript were presented at the 23rd Annual McGill Biomedical Graduate Conference on March 17th, 2023, a McGill University Department of Oncology seminar on June 1st, 2023, the McGill University Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Celebration of Research and Training in Oncology on June 8th, 2023, and the 2023 Canadian Society for Epidemiology and Biostatistics Conference on June 28th, 2023.

4.2 EPIDEMIOLOGY OF GENITAL HUMAN PAPILLOMAVIRUS INFECTIONS IN SEQUENTIAL MALE SEX PARTNERS OF YOUNG FEMALES

Authors: Andrew W. Arthur¹, Mariam El-Zein¹, Ann N. Burchell², Pierre-Paul Tellier³, Francois Coutlée⁴, Eduardo L. Franco¹

Affiliations:

¹ Division of Cancer Epidemiology, McGill University, Montréal, Québec, H4A 3T2, Canada

² Department of Family and Community Medicine and MAP Centre for Urban Health Solutions, Li Ka Shing Knowledge Institute, St. Michael's Hospital, Unity Health Toronto, Toronto, Ontario, M5B 1W8, Canada

³ Department of Family Medicine, McGill University, Montréal, Québec, H3S 1Z1, Canada

⁴ Départements de Clinique de Médecine de Laboratoire et de Médecine, Services de Biologie Moléculaire et d'Infectiologie, Centre Hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal, Montréal, Québec, H2X 0C1, Canada

Correspondence: Eduardo Franco Division of Cancer Epidemiology, McGill University Suite 720 5100 Maisonneuve Blvd West Montréal, Québec H4A 3T2 Canada eduardo.franco@mcgill.ca

1 **4.2.1 Abstract**

Objectives. Couple-based studies have largely considered human papillomavirus (HPV)
transmission between current heterosexual partners (male↔female). Using data from young
women and their sequential male partners in the HPV Infection and Transmission among Couples
through Heterosexual activity (HITCH) study, we analysed HPV transmission from upstream
sexual partnerships (male 1↔female) to downstream sex partners (→male 2).

Methods. 42 females enrolled in the HITCH study (2005-2011, Montréal, Canada) brought a male
sex partner at baseline (male 1; n=42) and another during follow-up (male 2; n=42). Female genital
samples, collected at 6 visits over 24 months, and male genital samples, collected at 2 visits over
4 months, were tested for 36 HPV types (n=1,512 detectable infections). We calculated
observed/expected ratios with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for type-specific HPV concordance
between males 1 and 2. Using mixed-effects regression, we estimated odds ratios (ORs) with 95%
CIs for male 2 testing positive for the same HPV type as male 1.

14 *Results.* Detection of the same HPV type in males 1 and 2 occurred 2.6 times (CI:1.9-3.5) more 15 often than chance. The OR for male 2 positivity was 4.2 (CI:2.5-7.0). Adjusting for the number of 16 times the linking female tested positive for the same HPV type attenuated the relationship between 17 male 1 and 2 positivity, suggesting mediation.

18 Conclusions. High levels of type-specific HPV concordance between males 1 and 2 suggest HPV 19 is transmissible to subsequent heterosexual partners. HPV positivity in an upstream partnership 20 predicted positivity in a downstream male when the linking female partner was persistently 21 positive.

Keywords: Papillomaviridae, human papillomavirus, sexually transmitted infection, prospective
 cohort study, couple-based study, concordance, transmission, sexual partnerships, young adults

4.2.2 Introduction

Human papillomavirus (HPV) is the most prevalent sexually transmitted infection (STI), with young adults bearing the principal disease burden [1]. Genital infection with oncogenic HPV types is a necessary cause of cervical cancer and a component cause of other anogenital cancers in males and females [2]. Vaccination prevents HPV infection in the individual and creates population-level herd effects, whereby limiting incident infections in vaccinated individuals prevents transmission to unvaccinated individuals [3].

31 To date, couple-based studies have focused on HPV concordance and transmission 32 between male and female partners in a current sexual relationship [4-12], estimating the impact of 33 past and concurrent partners on HPV incidence in current sex partners [7, 9-12]. However, to adequately characterize HPV transmission between sequential sexual partnerships, HPV 34 35 genotyping data for multiple sex partners of the same individual would be required. We performed 36 a post hoc analysis of genital HPV transmission from upstream current sexual partnerships to 37 downstream sex partners (male 1↔female→male 2) in the HPV Infection and Transmission 38 among Couples through Heterosexual activity (HITCH) Cohort Study. We aimed to characterize 39 type-specific HPV concordance and associations between sequential male partners of the same female and identify correlates of HPV types detected in male 1 being detected in male 2. 40

41 **4.2.3 Methods**

42 i. Study Design

Full details on the HITCH study have been published elsewhere [13]. Briefly, in Montréal,
Canada (2005-2011), we enrolled post-secondary females and their male partners within their first

45 6 months of sexual activity together. By design, self-reported sex determined enrolment; gender 46 data were not collected. During follow-up, some females brought subsequent male partners into 47 the study, forming a female-linked partnership (male $1 \leftrightarrow$ female \rightarrow male 2). Each participant within 48 the linked partnership completed questionnaires. Females provided vaginal samples at baseline 49 and 5 follow-up visits (4-, 8-, 12-, 18- and 24-months) while males provided scrotal and penile 50 samples at two visits: baseline and, beginning in October 2006, follow-up at 4 months. Couples 51 were asked to refrain from penetrative sex 24 hours before sampling. Females were instructed to 52 collect a vaginal sample using a polyester swab (diagnostic accuracy validated [14]). Nurses 53 collected male epithelial cells using emery exfoliation, collecting separate polyester swab samples 54 of the scrotum and penis (glans, external meatus, coronal sulcus, shaft, and foreskin), a well-55 validated technique [15]. We tested samples for 36 HPV types using the Linear Array genotyping 56 assay (Roche Molecular Systems), assessing cellularity via β -globin DNA coamplification [16]. Noting a high degree of type-specific HPV co-detection between scrotal and penile samples, we 57 58 combined an increasing proportion of male genital samples prior to genotyping over time.

59 The Institutional Review Boards of McGill and Concordia Universities, and the Centre 60 Hospitalier de l'Université de Montreal approved the HITCH study; all participants provided 61 written informed consent.

62 ii. Statistical Analyses

We treated female-linked partnerships as the units of observation and detectable HPV infections as the units of analysis. We used Cohen's kappa to assess the degree of type-specific HPV positivity agreement between uncombined scrotal and penile samples at each visit, as well as between combined genital samples at baseline and follow-up. Kappa values 0.41-0.60 indicated moderate, 0.61-0.80 indicated substantial, and 0.81-1.00 indicated almost perfect agreement [17].
We combined positivity for each male into a single measure per HPV type (i.e., HPV type x
positivity at either/both genital site(s) at either/both visit(s)).

70 Analyses were performed for any HPV type and by Alphapapillomavirus subgenera. The 71 latter grouped HPV types by tissue tropism, oncogenicity and phylogenetic relatedness, generating groups that included biologically and clinically comparable types. Subgenus 1 includes low 72 73 oncogenic risk mucosal HPVs 6, 11, 40, 42, 44, and 54; subgenus 2 includes high oncogenic risk 74 mucosal HPVs 16, 18, 26, 31, 33, 34, 35, 39, 45, 51, 52, 53, 56, 58, 59, 66, 67, 68, 69, 70, 73 and 75 82; and subgenus 3 includes commensal mucocutaneous HPVs 61, 62, 71, 72, 81, 83, 84 and 89 76 [18, 19]. The ability to detect multiple HPV genotypes in the same genital sample can generate 77 intraparticipant correlation in analyses of grouped HPV types [20]; we used statistical approaches 78 that account for the resultant data clustering (detailed below).

Assuming HPV positivity is independent for males 1 and 2, their expected concordance would be the product of infection prevalence divided by total detectable infections. We calculated observed/expected (O/E) ratios for type-specific HPV concordance between males 1 and 2 with percentile-based 95% confidence intervals (CIs). Bootstrap CIs maintain nominal coverage when a ratio's dividend and divisor are highly correlated [21]. Our H_0 : *Observed Concordance* = *Expected Concordance* implies O/E ratio divisor/dividend correlation. Bootstraps for overall and subgenera-specific analyses resampled data by linked-partnership clusters.

We used mixed-effects logistic regression models with random intercepts by linked partnership and an exchangeable correlation structure to estimate odds ratios (ORs) with 95% CIs for male 2 testing positive (outcome) for an HPV type detected in male 1 (exposure) [20]. We selected covariates based on previous investigations of HPV transmission and natural history in the HITCH study [12, 22]. We stratified/adjusted by covariates pertaining to HPV positivity: number of times the female partner tested positive up to male 2 enrolment; and time between the last available male 1 sample and baseline male 2 sample (< vs \geq median). We also adjusted/stratified by sexual behaviour covariates pertaining to the downstream partnership: male 2 concurrent partners; instances of vaginal sex (< vs \geq median); and frequency of condom use during vaginal sex (\leq vs \geq 75%). Strata cutoffs were defined to optimize the equivalency of detectable infections between strata.

We performed additional analyses to explore the impact of differential male detection opportunities and female cell deposition on our risk estimates. For the former, we adjusted for the sum of male 1 and 2 genital samples provided in each linked partnership. For the latter, given previous findings of male cells in vaginal specimens of HITCH study females, we adjusted and stratified by the time since vaginal sex at male 2 baseline visit (\leq vs >3 days) [23]. Statistical analyses were conducted using Stata SE 17.0.

103 4.2.4 Results

104 Of 502 enrolled females, 42 brought a second male partner later in the study, resulting in 105 an observational sample of 42 female-linked partnerships (42 females, 84 males), and an analytical 106 sample of 1,512 detectable HPV infections (M2-Figure 1). The median time between the last 107 available male 1 sample and the baseline male 2 sample was 10.2 months (interquartile range: 6.4-108 18.4 months; M2-Figure S1 presents the distribution of time elapsed). Demographic and lifestyle 109 covariates were similar between partners (M2-Table 1). Males were, on average, older at baseline 110 and had more lifetime vaginal sex partners compared to females. Male 2 was generally older and 111 had more past vaginal sex partners compared to male 1. M2-Table S1 shows moderate to strong 112 agreement between uncombined genital samples (kappa: 0.47-1) and between combined genital

samples at both male visits (0.55-0.75), which justified combining baseline and follow-up penileand scrotal results.

Overall, concordance for any HPV infection between males 1 and 2 was observed 2.6, CI:1.9-3.5 times more often than expected (M2-Table 2). About a quarter (29/120; 24.2%) of HPV infections detected in male 1 were also detected in male 2. M2-Figure S2 shows the expected typespecific concordance distribution.

As shown in M2-Table 3, if male 2 entered a sexual relationship with a female whose previous male partner was positive for HPV type *x*, the odds of male 2 testing positive for that type increased 4.2-fold, CI:2.5-7.0. However, after adjusting for instances of female positivity up to male 2 enrolment, the OR was attenuated (1.4, CI:0.7-2.6).

123 The following covariates lowered the odds that male 2 would test positive for the same 124 HPV type as male 1: time gaps between male 1 and 2 sampling ≥ 10.2 months (2.9, CI:1.3-6.2), 125 <40.7 instances of vaginal sex in the downstream partnership (2.5, CI:1.1-5.7), and condom use 126 >75% of the time in the downstream partnership (3.8, CI:1.7-8.7). The odds of male 2 positivity 127 were not strongly impacted by his concurrent sex partner count (4.3, CI:2.6-7.2). Concerning 128 individual subgenera, the relationship between HPV detection in males 1 and 2 was often unique 129 for subgenus 3 compared to subgenera 1 and 2. While O/E ratios for subgenera 1 and 2 were similar 130 to the overall estimate, that of subgenus 3 was larger (3.8, CI:1.7-7.0). The OR for male 2 testing 131 positive for the same type as male 1 was also larger for subgenus 3 (9.9, CI:2.8-35.4), while 132 subgenera 1 and 2 ORs were similar to the overall estimate. Additionally, for subgenus 3, the OR 133 was higher when the time gap between male 1 and 2 sampling was ≥ 10.2 months, and when the 134 downstream partnership was using condoms $\leq 75\%$ of the time. Both covariates had the opposite 135 influence on the OR estimate for subgenera 1 and 2.

Adjusting for the total number of genital samples provided by males 1 and 2 (i.e., male detection opportunities) did not change the overall OR. The number of days since the downstream partnerships' most recent vaginal sex encounter had a minimal impact on the OR (4.3, CI:2.6-7.1). However, when treated as a binary variable, the OR differed between downstream partnerships who had vaginal sex \leq 3 days ago (6.0, CI:3.3-11.0) vs. > 3 days ago (1.3, CI:0.4-4.6).

141 **4.2.5 Discussion**

142 In this study of sequential young-adult heterosexual relationships, we found evidence of 143 HPV infections originating in upstream relationships being transmitted to downstream partners via 144 a linking partner (male $1 \leftrightarrow$ female \rightarrow male 2). Detection of the same HPV type in males 1 and 2 145 was observed 2.6 times more often than chance, indicating that HPV positivity in a female's 146 sequential sex partners is not independent. The 4.2-fold higher odds that male 2 would test positive 147 for an HPV type detected in male 1 were attenuated by the female partner's positivity for the same 148 type, suggesting mediation via the linking female partner. When we adjusted for the number of 149 female detections, each additional instance of type-specific HPV detection in the female partner 150 increased the odds of male 2 positivity 2.2-fold, CI:1.8-2.7, on average. Hence, infection 151 persistence in the linking female appears to be relevant to whether a particular HPV type becomes 152 detectable in the downstream male.

To our knowledge, this is the first couple-based analysis of HPV transmission across sequential heterosexual relationships. Notwithstanding, our results are unsurprising in the context of couple-based analyses of current sex partnerships. Type-specific HPV concordance between partners is consistently higher than expected [4-6, 8, 10, 11]. A current partner's positivity is also a strong determinant for an uninfected partner's development of an incident infection via typespecific HPV transmission [7-12]. Gaps ≥ 10.2 months between testing males 1 and 2 for HPV

60

considerably lowered the odds of male 2 testing positive. This variable may be a crude proxy of the time elapsed between the downstream and upstream partnerships, which is a risk factor for STI diagnosis in downstream partners [24]. We recently estimated that genital infections persisted, on average, 10.3-14.8 months in HITCH study-enrolled women [22], which corroborates a role for female infection persistence in transmission to male 2. Presumably, infection clearance or latency in the linking partner before initiation of the downstream partnership decreases the odds of transmission to male 2.

Several sexual behaviours in the downstream partnership were relevant to the odds of male 2 testing positive for the same HPV type as male 1. We observed, in accordance with couple-based transmission studies, an increased risk of infection with increasing instances of vaginal sex [7, 10, 12] and decreasing frequency of condom use [7, 12]. Having concurrent male 2 partners had little impact on male 2 type-specific HPV concordance with male 1 infection. This is expected since male 2 infection via a concurrent partner is a function of the concurrent partner's infection status, which should be independent of male 1 type-specific HPV positivity.

Compared to subgenera 1 and 2, subgenus 3 HPV types had a large O/E ratio and crude OR. Our estimates of similar infection persistence across subgenera in the HITCH cohort cannot explain the higher odds of male 2 positivity observed with longer timelapses between testing male partners [22]. Subgenus 3 types also reversed the typically odds-lowering impacts of morefrequent condom use observed for subgenera 1 and 2. Their mucocutaneous tissue tropism may have allowed subgenus 3 HPV types to spread via sexual contact between tissue not covered by condoms (e.g., pubic hair follicles) [19].

180 The key strengths of our study and analysis are the enrolment of linked partnerships and 181 longitudinal observation of the female partner. We acknowledge four important limitations.

182 Firstly, while partners were asked to refrain from sex 24 hours pre-sampling, we have estimated 183 that 14.1% of detections in males and females in the HITCH study are attributable to deposition 184 [25]. Recency of vaginal sex, considered on a continuous scale, minimally impacted the OR. 185 However, we have detected Y chromosome DNA in female genital samples up to 3 days after 186 vaginal sex in this cohort [23], and the odds of male 2 testing positive were insignificant when 187 downstream partnerships' most-recent sex was ≤ 3 days ago. While we expect opposite-sex cells 188 to dissipate faster from male genitalia during routine washing, cleaning the mucosal glans penis 189 may be less common in uncircumcised males (60% of male 2) [26]. Secondly, combining male 190 HPV DNA positivity into one measurement may have introduced misclassification. However, 191 adjusting for the number of times the males were tested did not change OR estimates, suggesting 192 that combining genital sample results did not strongly influence our estimates, despite differential 193 detection opportunities. Thirdly, we ascertained sexual behaviour covariates via male 2 self-report. 194 However, inter-partner reporting discrepancies were minimal for the upstream partnership, and we 195 expect the same to hold true for the downstream partnership. Finally, the small number of linked 196 partnerships and HPV types in our mixed effects models, as well as the low prevalence of the 197 outcome (9%, overall) may have biased our fixed effects and variance-covariance estimates [27]. 198 Future studies would benefit from larger numbers of linked partnerships and the assessment of 199 both male \leftrightarrow female \rightarrow male and female \leftrightarrow male \rightarrow female transmission directionalities.

Our findings may have implications for HPV-related cancer prevention strategies such as gender-neutral vaccination. Unvaccinated females and males gain protection from HPV infection via herd effects when vaccinated individuals do not contract, and subsequently do not transmit, the virus [3]. According to our findings, had male 2 not entered a partnership with a female whose previous partner tested positive (and who was not persistently positive for that HPV type), the odds that male 2 would test positive for the same infection would diminish. Vaccinating males may therefore prevent infection in current unvaccinated sex partners ("direct" herd effects) *and* downstream unvaccinated sexual connections ("indirect" herd effects). While vaccinating females alone probably also has "indirect" herd effects, males tend to have greater numbers of sex partners compared to females [28], and herd effects are augmented when vaccine coverage is high in groups that are more sexually active.

Our results provide evidence that HPV is transmissible in a chain of sequential heterosexual young adult partnerships. Positivity in an upstream partnership is a strong predictor of typespecific HPV positivity in a downstream male partner when the linking female partner is persistently positive for that type. These estimates suggest that vaccinating upstream male partners may exert "indirect" herd effects on downstream sexual connections.

216 **4.2.6 Notes**

217 *Disclaimer.* The funders played no role in study design, data collection/analysis, preparation of
218 the manuscript, or the decision to submit it for publication.

Ethics approval. HITCH complies with all national/international regulations regarding research with human data and materials, including the Declaration of Helsinki. The study was conducted per the principles and articles stipulated by the Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans. Ethical approval was obtained from the institutional review boards at McGill University, Concordia University, and the Centre Hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal. Ethics renewal approval is requested annually from McGill University (study number A09-M77-04A). All subjects provided written informed consent for study participation.

226 **4.2.7 Transparency Declaration**

227 Conflicts of interest. A.W.A. received a graduate stipend from the Gerald Bronfman Department 228 of Oncology, McGill University and a presenter's award from the Experimental Medicine 229 Graduate Students' Society, McGill University. M.Z. and E.L.F. hold a patent related to the 230 discovery "DNA methylation markers for early detection of cervical cancer," registered at the 231 Office of Innovation and Partnerships, McGill University, Montréal, Québec, Canada (October 232 2018). F.C. reports grants from Réseau FRQS-SIDA during the conduct of the study, and grants 233 to his institution for HPV-related work from Merck Sharp and Dome, Roche Diagnostics and 234 Becton Dickinson outside of the submitted work. All other authors report no potential conflicts.

Funding. The HITCH cohort study was supported by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research [grant MOP-68893 and team grant CRN-83320 to E.L.F.] and the US National Institutes of Health [grant RO1AI073889 to E.L.F.]. A.N.B. is a Canada Research Chair in Sexually Transmitted Infection Prevention and a recipient of a University of Toronto Department of Family and Community Medicine Non-Clinician Scientist award. Supplementary and unconditional funding support to the HITCH study was provided by Merck-Frosst Canada and Merck & Co.

Acknowledgements. We thank the volunteering participants and employees of the HITCH cohort study, as well as the staff of the Student Health Services Clinics at McGill and Concordia universities. We also thank Talía Malagón for her guidance in selecting and operationalizing statistical analyses. Portions of this manuscript were presented at the 23rd Annual McGill Biomedical Graduate Conference, March 2023, Montréal, QC, Canada, a McGill University Department of Oncology seminar, June 2023, Montréal, QC, Canada, and the Canadian Society for Epidemiology and Biostatistics Conference, June 2023, Halifax, NS, Canada. Access to data. HITCH participant consent forms specified that data would be published in aggregate form and that individual-level data would only be available to study investigators. To access individual-level data, please contact Eduardo Franco at <u>eduardo.franco@mcgill.ca</u>. The protocol for the HITCH cohort study has been published [13]. Analytical codes and data dictionary are available on the <u>McGill University Dataverse</u> [29].

253 Author contributions. Andrew W. Arthur: methodology (lead), validation (lead), formal analysis 254 (lead), writing – original draft (lead), visualization (lead); Mariam El-Zein: methodology (equal), 255 data curation (equal, HITCH), writing - review and editing (lead), supervision (equal); Ann N. 256 Burchell: conceptualization (equal, HITCH), investigation (lead, HITCH), writing - review and 257 editing (equal), supervision (supporting), project administration (lead, HITCH), funding 258 acquisition (lead, HITCH); Pierre-Paul Tellier: investigation (equal, HITCH), resources (equal, 259 HITCH), project administration (equal, HITCH), writing – review and editing (equal); Francois 260 Coutlée: validation (lead, HITCH), investigation (equal, HITCH), resources (equal, HITCH), 261 writing – review and editing (equal). Eduardo L. Franco: conceptualization (lead), methodology 262 (equal, HITCH), writing – review and editing (equal), supervision (lead), project administration 263 (equal, HITCH), funding acquisition (lead, HITCH).

264 **4.2.8 References**

[1] H. Trottier, E.L. Franco, The epidemiology of genital human papillomavirus infection, Vaccine
24 Suppl 1 (2006) S1/4-S1/15. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2005.09.054

267 [2] M. Plummer, C. de Martel, J. Vignat, J. Ferlay, F. Bray, S. Franceschi, Global burden of cancers

attributable to infections in 2012: a synthetic analysis, Lancet Glob Health 4(9) (2016) e609-16.

269 doi: 10.1016/s2214-109x(16)30143-7

[3] T. Malagón, C. Laurie, E.L. Franco, Human papillomavirus vaccination and the role of herd
effects in future cancer control planning: a review, Expert Rev Vaccines 17(5) (2018) 395-409.
doi: 10.1080/14760584.2018.1471986

[4] P.L. Reiter, W.F. Pendergraft, N.T. Brewer, Meta-analysis of human papillomavirus infection
concordance, Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 19(11) (2010) 2916-31. doi: 10.1158/10559965.Epi-10-0576

[5] A.N. Burchell, P.P. Tellier, J. Hanley, F. Coutlée, E.L. Franco, Human papillomavirus
infections among couples in new sexual relationships, Epidemiology 21(1) (2010) 31-7. doi:
10.1097/EDE.0b013e3181c1e70b

- [6] A.G. Nyitray, L. Menezes, B. Lu, H.Y. Lin, D. Smith, M. Abrahamsen, M. Papenfuss, C. Gage,
 A.R. Giuliano, Genital human papillomavirus (HPV) concordance in heterosexual couples, J Infect
 Dis 206(2) (2012) 202-11. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jis327
- [7] B.Y. Hernandez, L.R. Wilkens, X. Zhu, P. Thompson, K. McDuffie, Y.B. Shvetsov, L.E.
 Kamemoto, J. Killeen, L. Ning, M.T. Goodman, Transmission of human papillomavirus in
 heterosexual couples, Emerg Infect Dis 14(6) (2008) 888-94. doi: 10.3201/eid1406.070616
- [8] L. Widdice, Y. Ma, J. Jonte, S. Farhat, D. Breland, S. Shiboski, A.B. Moscicki, Concordance
 and transmission of human papillomavirus within heterosexual couples observed over short
 intervals, J Infect Dis 207(8) (2013) 1286-94. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jit018
- 288 [9] A.G. Nyitray, H.Y. Lin, W.J. Fulp, M. Chang, L. Menezes, B. Lu, M. Abrahamsen, M.
- 289 Papenfuss, C. Gage, C.M. Galindo, A.R. Giuliano, The role of monogamy and duration of

heterosexual relationships in human papillomavirus transmission, J Infect Dis 209(7) (2014) 100715. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jit615

292 [10] M. Liu, Z. He, C. Zhang, F. Liu, Y. Liu, J. Li, Z. Xu, Q. Wang, D. Hang, N. Shen, Y. Pan, C.

293 Guo, H. Cai, Y. Ke, Transmission of genital human papillomavirus infection in couples: a

population-based cohort study in rural China, Sci Rep 5 (2015) 10986. doi: 10.1038/srep10986

[11] Y. Su, F. Wei, X. Huang, Y. Li, L. Qiu, F. Hu, C. Yang, Y. Zhang, K. Yin, M. Li, T. Wu, N.
Xia, J. Zhang, Prevalence, Concordance, and Transmission of Human Papillomavirus Infection
Among Heterosexual Couples in Liuzhou, China: An Observational Perspective Study, J Infect
Dis 220(6) (2019) 980-89. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiz224

[12] T. Malagón, A. MacCosham, A.N. Burchell, M. El-Zein, P.P. Tellier, F. Coutlée, E.L. Franco,
Sex- and Type-specific Genital Human Papillomavirus Transmission Rates Between Heterosexual
Partners: A Bayesian Reanalysis of the HITCH Cohort, Epidemiology 32(3) (2021) 368-77. doi:

302 10.1097/ede.00000000001324

303 [13] M. El-Zein, F. Coutlée, P.P. Tellier, M. Roger, E.L. Franco, A.N. Burchell, Human
304 Papillomavirus Infection and Transmission Among Couples Through Heterosexual Activity
305 (HITCH) Cohort Study: Protocol Describing Design, Methods, and Research Goals, JMIR Res
306 Protoc 8(1) (2019) e11284. doi: 10.2196/11284

[14] P. Petignat, D.L. Faltin, I. Bruchim, M.R. Tramèr, E.L. Franco, F. Coutlée, Are self-collected
samples comparable to physician-collected cervical specimens for human papillomavirus DNA
testing? A systematic review and meta-analysis, Gynecol Oncol 105(2) (2007) 530-5. doi:
10.1016/j.ygyno.2007.01.023

- 311 [15] B.A. Weaver, Q. Feng, K.K. Holmes, N. Kiviat, S.K. Lee, C. Meyer, M. Stern, L.A. Koutsky,
- 312 Evaluation of genital sites and sampling techniques for detection of human papillomavirus DNA
- 313 in men, J Infect Dis 189(4) (2004) 677-85. doi: 10.1086/381395
- 314 [16] F. Coutlée, D. Rouleau, P. Petignat, G. Ghattas, J.R. Kornegay, P. Schlag, S. Boyle, C.
- 315 Hankins, S. VéZina, P. Coté, J. Macleod, H.l.n. Voyer, P. Forest, S. Walmsley, E. Franco,
- 316 Enhanced Detection and Typing of Human Papillomavirus (HPV) DNA in Anogenital Samples
- 317 with PGMY Primers and the Linear Array HPV Genotyping Test, J Clin Microbiol 44(6) (2006)
- 318 1998-2006. doi: 10.1128/jcm.00104-06
- 319 [17] J.R. Landis, G.G. Koch, The measurement of observer agreement for categorical data,
 320 Biometrics 33(1) (1977) 159-74. doi: 10.2307/2529310
- [18] M. Schiffman, G. Clifford, F.M. Buonaguro, Classification of weakly carcinogenic human
 papillomavirus types: addressing the limits of epidemiology at the borderline, Infect Agents
 Cancer 4(8) (2009). doi: 10.1186/1750-9378-4-8
- 324 [19] N. Egawa, K. Egawa, H. Griffin, J. Doorbar, Human Papillomaviruses; Epithelial Tropisms,
 325 and the Development of Neoplasia, Viruses 7(7) (2015) 3863-90. doi: 10.3390/v7072802
- 326 [20] X. Xue, S.J. Gange, Y. Zhong, R.D. Burk, H. Minkoff, L.S. Massad, D.H. Watts, M.H.
- 327 Kuniholm, K. Anastos, A.M. Levine, M. Fazzari, G. D'Souza, M. Plankey, J.M. Palefsky, H.D.
- 328 Strickler, Marginal and mixed-effects models in the analysis of human papillomavirus natural
- 329 history data, Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 19(1) (2010) 159-69. doi: 10.1158/1055-
- 330 9965.Epi-09-0546

[21] D. Polsky, H.A. Glick, R. Willke, K. Schulman, Confidence intervals for cost-effectiveness
ratios: a comparison of four methods, Health Econ 6(3) (1997) 243-52. doi: 10.1002/(sici)10991050(199705)6:3<243::aid-hec269>3.0.co;2-z

[22] [preprint] A.W. Arthur, M. El-Zein, A.N. Burchell, P.P. Tellier, F. Coutlée, E.L. Franco,
Detection and clearance of type-specific and phylogenetically related genital human
papillomavirus infections in young women in new heterosexual relationships, medRxiv (2023).
doi: 10.1101/2023.02.24.23286387

[23] T. Malagón, A. Burchell, M. El-Zein, J. Guénoun, P.P. Tellier, F. Coutlée, E.L. Franco, Y
Chromosome DNA in Women's Vaginal Samples as a Biomarker of Recent Vaginal Sex and
Condom Use With Male Partners in the HPV Infection and Transmission Among Couples Through
Heterosexual Activity Cohort Study, Sex Transm Dis 45(1) (2018) 28-34. doi:
10.1097/olq.00000000000688

343 [24] C.H. Mercer, K.G. Jones, R.S. Geary, N. Field, C. Tanton, S. Burkill, S. Clifton, P. 344 Sonnenberg, K.R. Mitchell, K. Gravningen, A.M. Johnson, Association of Timing of Sexual 345 Partnerships and Perceptions of Partners' Concurrency With Reporting of Sexually Transmitted Netw 346 Infection Diagnosis, JAMA Open 1(8) (2018)e185957. doi: 347 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.5957

[25] T. Malagón, A.N. Burchell, M. El-Zein, J. Guénoun, P.P. Tellier, F. Coutlée, E.L. Franco,
Estimating HPV DNA Deposition Between Sexual Partners Using HPV Concordance, Y
Chromosome DNA Detection, and Self-reported Sexual Behaviors, J Infect Dis 216(10) (2017)
1210-9. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jix477

69

- [26] N. O'Farrell, M. Quigley, P. Fox, Association between the intact foreskin and inferior
 standards of male genital hygiene behaviour: a cross-sectional study, Int J STD AIDS 16(8) (2005)
 556-9. doi: 10.1258/0956462054679151
- 355 [27] R. Moineddin, F.I. Matheson, R.H. Glazier, A simulation study of sample size for multilevel
- 356 logistic regression models, BMC Med Res Methodol 7(34) (2007). doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-7-34
- [28] K. Wellings, M. Collumbien, E. Slaymaker, S. Singh, Z. Hodges, D. Patel, N. Bajos, Sexual
 behaviour in context: a global perspective, Lancet 368(9548) (2006) 1706-28. doi: 10.1016/s0140-
- 359 6736(06)69479-8
- [29] [dataset] A.W. Arthur, M. El-Zein, A.N. Burchell, P.P. Tellier, F. Coutlée, E.L. Franco,
 Replication Code: Epidemiology of genital human papillomavirus infections in sequential male
 sex partners of young females, V1. Borealis (2023). doi: 10.5683/SP3/KNNHSR

4.2.9 Tables & Figures

Variable	Male 1	Female	Male 2
Sociodemographic and lifestyle characteristic	es		
Age in years, median (range)	22 (19-34)	20 (18-24)	24 (20-35)
Ethnicity, n (%)			
English Canadian	18 (42.9)	17 (40.5)	14 (33.3)
French Canadian	7 (16.7)	10 (23.8)	11 (26.2)
Black Canadian	2 (4.8)		3 (7.1)
European			3 (7.1)
Latin American	2 (4.8)	3 (7.1)	2 (4.8)
Multiple/Mixed Ethnicities	6 (14.3)	3 (7.1)	2 (4.8)
American			2 (4.8)
Middle Eastern/North African	3 (7.1)	3 (7.1)	2 (4.8)
South Asian		3 (7.1)	
Other/missing	4 (9.5)	3 (7.1)	3 (7.1)
Circumcised, n (%)	26 (61.9)	NA	16 (38.1)
HPV-vaccinated, n (%) ^a	0 (0.0)	1 (2.4)	1 (2.4)
Smoked 100+ cigarettes; lifetime, n (%)	21 (50.0)	20 (47.6)	27 (64.3)
Age at vaginal coitarche, median (range)	17 (13-23)	16 (13-20)	16 (13-21)
Lifetime vaginal sex partners, median (range)	8 (0-54)	6 (1-25)	14 (2-80)
Behaviour during relationship with study particular	rtner ^b		
Had vaginal sex, n (%)	40 (95.2)	41 (97.6)	41 (97.6)
Months since first sex, median (IQR)	3.6 (2.8-4.8)	3.4 (2.2-4.8)	3.5 (1.8-5.5)
Instances of sex, median (IQR)	57.3 (34.6-78.9)	56.0 (37.7-103.0)	40.7 (10.0-86.1)
Days since last sex, median (IQR)	3 (2-5)	3 (2-5)	2 (2-5)
Condom Use, n (%)			
Never (0%)	8 (19.1)	6 (14.3)	4 (9.5)
Rarely (1-25%)	12 (28.6)	11 (26.2)	12 (28.6)
Some of the time (26-75%)	2 (4.8)	5 (11.9)	6 (14.3)
Most of the time (76-99%)	10 (23.8)	10 (23.8)	8 (19.1)
Always (100%)	8 (19.1)	9 (21.4)	11 (26.2)
Had study-external sex partners, n (%)	5 (11.9)	8 (19.1)	8 (19.1)
Study-external sex partners, median (range)	0 (0-10)	0 (0-15)	0 (0-4)

Abbreviations: NA, not applicable; HPV, human papillomavirus; IQR, interquartile range.

-- Ethnicity categories with less than 2 participants were included in the "Other/missing"

category to prevent participant identification.

^a Vaccination data were collected after vaccine's licensing in 2006.

^b Relates to vaginal sex specifically, except "study-external sex partners," in which non-vaginal sex partners are included.

Almh an anill an arimus	HPV Positivity Male 1/Male 2		Aale 2	Expected	Observed/Expected		
Alphapapillomavirus	Туре	-/-	-/+	+/-	+/+	Concordance	Concordance (95% CI)
All subgenera	Any	1,283	109	91	29	10.95	2.6 (1.9-3.5)
	6	29	6	5	2	1.33	1.5 (0.0-4.0)
	11	42	0	0	0	0	NCE
	40	37	3	2	0	0.14	0
Subgenus 1	42	29	4	6	3	1.5	2.0 (0.0-4.2)
	44	39	2	1	0	0.05	0
	54	35	3	3	1	0.38	2.6 (0.0-10.5)
	Any	211	18	17	6	2.19	2.7 (1.0-4.2)
	16	27	5	4	6	2.62	2.3 (1.3-4.0)
	18	36	4	2	0	0.19	0
	26	42	0	0	0	0	NCE
	31	36	4	2	0	0.19	0
	33	41	1	0	0	0	NCE
	34	42	0	0	0	0	NCE
	35	41	1	0	0	0	NCE
	39	32	4	5	1	0.71	1.4 (0.0-4.7)
	45	39	2	1	0	0.05	0
	51	22	10	8	2	2.86	0.7 (0.0-1.7)
	52	39	1	2	0	0.05	0
Subgenus 2	53	26	8	6	2	1.9	1.1 (0.0-2.4)
	56	29	8	4	1	1.07	0.9 (0.0-3.4)
	58	38	1	2	1	0.14	7.0 (0.0-21.0)
	59	34	3	4	1	0.48	2.1 (0.0-8.4)
	66	34	3	4	1	0.48	2.1 (0.0-9.3)
	67	32	6	4	0	0.57	0
	68	40	1	1	0	0.02	0
	69	42	0	0	0	0	NCE
	70	39	2	1	0	0.05	0
	73	32	5	4	1	0.71	1.4 (0.0- 4.7)
	82	36	3	3	0	0.21	0
	Any	779	72	57	16	6.95	2.3 (1.4-3.3)
	61	37	2	3	0	0.14	0
	62	34	6	2	0	0.29	0
	71	41	1	0	0	0	NCE
	72	42	0	0	0	0	NCE
Subgenus 3	81	40	1	1	0	0.02	0
	83	41	1	0	0	0	NCE
	84	28	3	7	4	1.83	2.2 (0.8-4.2)
	89	30	5	4	3	1.33	2.3 (0.0-5.0)
	Anv	293	19	17	7	1.86	3.8(1.7-7.0)

M2-Table 2. Type-specific HPV concordance between male 1 and male 2, overall and by subgenus.^a

Abbreviations: HPV, human papillomavirus; CI, confidence interval; NCE, no concordance expected (inestimable).

^a Subgenus 1 includes low oncogenic risk mucosal HPV types, subgenus 2 includes high oncogenic risk mucosal HPV types, and subgenus 3 includes commensal mucocutaneous HPV types [18, 19].

M2-Table 3. Crude, adjusted, and stratified odds ratios (95% confidence intervals) for the association of type-specific HPV positivity between male 1 and 2, overall and by subgenus.^a

Type of Analysis	Covariate Stratum	Overall	Subgenus 1	Subgenus 2	Subgenus 3
Crude		4.2 (2.5-7.0)	4.3 (1.3-14.4)	3.4 (1.8-6.4)	9.9 (2.8-35.4)
HPV Positivity-Related Covariates					
Adjusted for instances of female positivity		1.4 (0.7-2.6)	0.2 (0.0-2.0)	1.6 (0.7-3.3)	1.0 (0.2-5.7)
Stratified by time between male 1 last	<10.2 months	5.8 (2.9-11.7)	7.5 (1.0-54.0)	5.7 (2.4-13.6)	6.6 (1.0-41.4)
available, and male 2 baseline samples	≥ 10.2 months	2.9 (1.3-6.2)	3.1 (0.6-15.8)	1.7 (0.6-4.9)	13.3 (2.3-76.7)
Sexual Behaviour-Related Covariates					
Adjusted for number of male 2 concurrent partners		4.3 (2.6-7.2)	4.5 (1.3-15.5)	3.5 (1.8-6.6)	10.2 (2.8-37.0)
Stratified by instances of sex ^b	< 40.7 instances ≥ 40.7 instances	2.5 (1.1-5.7) 6.4 (3.2-12.8)	NC 11.3 (1.7-73.2)	2.3 (0.9-6.3) 4.7 (2.0-11.4)	5.3 (1.1-26.5) 29.6 (2.9-297.7)
Stratified by frequency of condom use ^b	\leq 75% of the time > 75% of the time	4.6 (2.4-8.8) 3.8 (1.7-8.7)	4.5 (1.1-18.4) 2.7 (0.2-29.8)	6.1 (2.6-14.2) 1.5 (0.5-4.6)	2.2 (0.4-13.9) 55.7 (5.9-527.1)
Additional Analyses					
Adjusted for sum of male 1 & 2 samples (detection opportunity)		4.2 (2.5-7.0)	4.6 (1.4-15.4)	3.3 (1.7-6.4)	9.7 (2.7-34.7)
Adjusted for recency of sex, continuous (female deposition) ^b		4.3 (2.6-7.1)	4.4 (1.3-14.9)	3.4 (1.8-6.6)	10.8 (2.9-40.1)
Stratified by recency of sex, binary (female deposition) ^b	\leq 3 days prior > 3 days prior	6.0 (3.3-11.0) 1.3 (0.4-4.6)	5.2 (1.4-20.2) NC	4.4 (2.1-9.5) 1.7 (0.5-6.6)	17.0 (3.6-81.2) NC

Abbreviations: HPV, human papillomavirus; NC, no concordance.

-- indicates not applicable

^a Subgenus 1 includes low oncogenic risk mucosal HPVs 6, 11, 40, 42, 44, and 54; subgenus 2 includes high oncogenic risk mucosal HPVs 16, 18, 26, 31, 33, 34, 35, 39, 45, 51, 52, 53, 56, 58, 59, 66, 67, 68, 69, 70, 73 and 82; and subgenus 3 includes commensal mucocutaneous HPVs 61, 62, 71, 72, 81, 83, 84 and 89 [18, 19].

74

^b Relates to vaginal sex in the upstream partnership, as reported by male 2 at baseline. 1 linked partnership was excluded (no vaginal sex). 1 additional linked partnership excluded from analyses stratified by instances of vaginal sex (missing data).



M2-Figure 1. Sample selection in the HITCH study and analytic framework.

M2-Figure 1 Legend:

Indicates changes in observational sample size.

—— Indicates data transformation from observational to analysis sample.

---- Indicates breakdown of analysis sample into Alphapapillomavirus subgenera.

^a HITCH enrolled 548 couples. 42 women enrolled subsequent male partner(s) at follow-up.

^b Subgenus 1 includes low oncogenic risk mucosal HPVs 6, 11, 40, 42, 44, and 54; subgenus 2 includes high oncogenic risk mucosal HPVs 16, 18, 26, 31, 33, 34, 35, 39, 45, 51, 52, 53, 56, 58, 59, 66, 67, 68, 69, 70, 73 and 82; and subgenus 3 includes commensal mucocutaneous HPVs 61, 62, 71, 72, 81, 83, 84 and 89 [18, 19].

CHAPTER 5. DISCUSSION

5.1 KEY FINDINGS

This thesis provided evidence to inform primary and secondary HPV-related cancer prevention by detailing HPV infection transmission, incidence and clearance in young heterosexual couples.

In Manuscript 1, we provided an extensive account of HPV type-specific infection natural history. We estimated an HPV incidence rate higher than estimates for women of a similar age,³³ which may be partially attributable to testing women for many HPV types, and partially attributable to HITCH-enrolled women's recent initation of a new sexual relationship.^{9,34} Additionally, compared to meta-analyzed estimates, we observed more than double the average infection persistence.³⁹ While one could hypothesize that longer infection durations were a result of repeated reinfections from ongoing sex partners, there were indications that participants frequenty attended follow-up late; interval censoring may therefore be partially to blame. The persistence of HPV infections present at baseline was difficult to compare to that of incident infections due to differential right-censoring.

Notably, at the woman level, high oncogenic risk subgenus 2 infections present at baseline appeared to persist, on average 12.2 and 9.5 months longer than low-oncogenic risk subgenera 1 and 3 infections, respectively. This finding is consistent with a number of studies conducted at the woman-level, which have estimated a longer duration for high oncogenic risk HPV types compared to low oncogenic risk types, which suggests comparability between our study and others.^{10,11,36,37,67} However, at the HPV-level, this pattern did not carry through. Comparing subgenus 2 infections to subgenera 1 and 3 infections, we found respective differences in median persistence of only 1.5 and 1.7 months (among infections present at baseline) and -0.4 and 0.5

months (among incident infections). These small differences do not suggest that oncogenic subgenus 2 infections persist longer than subgenera 1 and 3 infections.

A potential explanation for differences between findings at the woman- and HPV-levels relates to woman-level analyses' limited ability to account for the clearance of individual infections. Woman-level clearance events require infections of all HPV types within a subgenera to become undetectable, whereas HPV-level clearance events only require infections of one HPV type to become undetectable. Given clinical interest in oncogenic papillomaviruses, studies of HPV natural history have frequently tested participants for more high oncogenic risk HPV types than low oncogenic risk types. It is possible that the longer persistence of high oncogenic risk HPV infections is a methodological artefact created by assigning a probabilistically less-likely event to high oncogenic risk type groupings, and a probabilistically more-likely event to low oncogenic risk type groupings. Future studies may benefit from investigating infection natural history with infections as the unit of analysis to prevent interpretive ambiguities that can arise from composite woman-level event definitions.

In Manuscript 2, we investigated transmission of HPV infections from upstream sexual partnerships (male 1 \leftrightarrow female) to downstream sex partners (\rightarrow male 2). In male 2, we observed HPV types detected in male 1 2.6 times more often than we would expect if the HPV positivity statuses of males 1 and 2 were independent. This is strong evidence against our null hypothesis (i.e., that male 1 \leftrightarrow female \rightarrow male 2 transmission did not occur).

The odds that male 2 would test positive for a given HPV type increased 4.2 times if he became the next sex partner of a female whose previous male partner was positive for that type. However, these odds were nullified after adjusting for the number of times the linking female

partner tested positive for the same HPV type (as of male 2 baseline). The attenuating impact of the number of instances of female positivity on the crude odds ratio is demonstrated in T-Table 5.

T-Table 5. Odds ratios (95% confidence intervals) for the association of type-specific HPV positivity between males 1 and 2, overall and by subgenera.^a

Model	Covariate	Overall	Subgenus 1	Subgenus 2	Subgenus 3
Crude	Male 1 Positivity ^b	4.2 (2.5-7.0)	4.3 (1.3-14.4)	3.4 (1.8-6.4)	9.9 (2.8-35.4)
Adjusted	Male 1 Positivity ^b	1.4 (0.7-2.6)	0.2 (0.0-2.0)	1.6 (0.7-3.3)	1.0 (0.2-5.7)
	Female Positivity ^c	2.2 (1.8-2.7)	10.7 (3.2-35.8)	1.7 (1.4-2.2)	4.4 (2.3-8.2)

^a Subgenus 1 includes low oncogenic risk mucosal HPVs 6, 11, 40, 42, 44, and 54; subgenus 2 includes high oncogenic risk mucosal HPVs 16, 18, 26, 31, 33, 34, 35, 39, 45, 51, 52, 53, 56, 58, 59, 66, 67, 68, 69, 70, 73 and 82; and subgenus 3 includes commensal mucocutaneous HPVs 61, 62, 71, 72, 81, 83, 84 and 89 ^{13,44}

^b Binary covariate (- or +).

^c Continuous covariate (number of instances of positivity).

Further, in the adjusted regression model, the female positivity covariate's effect on the odds of male 2 positivity is powerful: each time the linking female partner tests positive for the same HPV type as male 1, the odds that male 2 will test positive for that type roughly double. The loss of the statistically significant association between male 1 and male 2 positivity when instances of female positivity are added to the model suggests the association may be mediated by persistent infection in the linking female partner (visualized in T-Figure 2).



T-Figure 2. Potential mediation of the association between male 1 and male 2 HPV positivity via persistent infection in the linking female partner.

Our results imply that if a female's previous (male 1) partner were not HPV positive, and she did not remain persistently positive for the same HPV type, the odds that male 2 would test positive for the type in question would not be different than chance. Therefore, vaccinating males against HPV might prevent incident infections in sequential sexual connections.

Several additional factors were associated with lower odds of male 2 testing positive for the same HPV type as male 1, most of which were logically consistent with findings from other couple-based HPV or STI studies. With respect to the female-male 2 sexual partnership, these factors included fewer instances of vaginal sex^{27,30,65} and more frequent condom use.^{27,65}

Assuming that in many cases, type-specific HPV concordance between males 1 and 2 was a result of transmission, the odds of subgenus 3 infections transmitting from upstream sexual partnerships to downstream sex partners were higher than those for subgenera 1 and 2 infections. Given subgenus 3 HPV types' negligible oncogenic risk,¹³ this is not a matter of public health concern. However, the odds for transmission of subgenus 3 types were not lowered by more frequent condom use (as they were for subgenera 1 and 2 types). One hypothesis to explain increased inter-partnership subgenus 3 infection transmission pertains to subgenus 3 HPV types' tropism for mucocutaneous tissue. Cutaneotropic HPV virions are thought to preferentially infect stem cells in the rete pegs, dermal papillae and sweat apparatuses of the epithelium, and the bulge regions of the hair follicles.¹³ Considering that condoms are designed to prevent contact between male and female genital tissues, but do not cover the cutaneous public region, perhaps transmission of subgenus 3 infections can occur via contact between the male and female public regions during intercourse.

5.2 STRENGTHS AND LIMITATIONS

The key strength of manuscripts 1 and 2 is the design of the HITCH study. Without extensive longitudinal couple-based data, it would not have been possible to analyze the natural history and etiology of HPV infection in such detail.

However, there are two noteworthy limitations applicable to both manuscripts. First, deposition of HPV DNA from recent sex between partners is probable. Measurement error of this sort is a well-documented phenomenon in couple-based HPV studies.²⁸ Based on the presence of Y chromosome DNA in female genital samples, we have previously estimated that about 14% of HPV DNA detections in males and females in the HITCH study were false positives caused by deposition from recent vaginal sex.⁶⁸ Y chromosome DNA appears to become undetectable in female vaginal samples about 3 days after vaginal intercourse.⁶⁹ However, participants were only instructed to refrain from vaginal sex for 24 hours before providing genital samples, and in most cases, 50% or more couples' most recent vaginal sex encounter was ≤ 3 days prior. Second, latent infection reactivation may have caused overestimation of new infections (i.e., estimates of prevalent and incident infections (i.e., estimates of prevalence, incidence, and transmission) as well as underestimation of infection duration.

In Manuscript 1, the most important limitation was interval censoring, which may have overestimated the time required for infections to clear, and may have caused some incident infections and infection clearances to go unobserved in our data. In Manuscript 2, the most important limitation was the small number of linked partnerships and low prevalence of the outcome variable. One simulation study suggests this may have led to a biased estimate of the fixed effects and variance-covariance components of our mixed effects models.⁷⁰

5.3 CONCLUSIONS

Altogether, this thesis has capitalized on the unique design of the HITCH Cohort Study to provide evidence for secondary and primary HPV-related cancer prevention. Firstly, HPV-level analyses did not evidentiate greater persistence of high oncogenic risk subgenus 2 types compared to low oncogenic risk subgenera 1 and 3 types. By using the infection as the unit of analysis, future cohort studies may produce more biologically-informed estimates of HPV infection natural history. Secondly, we found evidence of HPV transmission from upstream sexual partnerships to downstream male sex partners via linking female partners. Vaccinating males may therefore exert herd effects on unvaccinated downstream sexual connections.

REFERENCES

1. Trottier H, Franco EL. The epidemiology of genital human papillomavirus infection. *Vaccine*. Mar 30 2006;24 Suppl 1:S1/4-S1/15. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2005.09.054

2. International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC). *Human Papillomaviruses*. vol 90. IARC; 2007.

3. Walboomers JM, Jacobs MV, Manos MM, et al. Human papillomavirus is a necessary cause of invasive cervical cancer worldwide. *J Pathol*. Sep 1999;189(1):12-9. doi:10.1002/(sici)1096-9896(199909)189:1<12::Aid-path431>3.0.Co;2-f

4. Koshiol J, Lindsay L, Pimenta JM, Poole C, Jenkins D, Smith JS. Persistent human papillomavirus infection and cervical neoplasia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am J Epidemiol*. Jul 15 2008;168(2):123-37. doi:10.1093/aje/kwn036

5. Plummer M, de Martel C, Vignat J, Ferlay J, Bray F, Franceschi S. Global burden of cancers attributable to infections in 2012: a synthetic analysis. *Lancet Glob Health*. Sep 2016;4(9):e609-16. doi:10.1016/s2214-109x(16)30143-7

6. Serrano B, de Sanjosé S, Tous S, et al. Human papillomavirus genotype attribution for HPVs 6, 11, 16, 18, 31, 33, 45, 52 and 58 in female anogenital lesions. *Eur J Cancer*. Sep 2015;51(13):1732-41. doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2015.06.001

7. Tota JE, Bentley J, Blake J, et al. Introduction of molecular HPV testing as the primary technology in cervical cancer screening: Acting on evidence to change the current paradigm. *Prev Med.* May 2017;98:5-14. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2016.11.029

 El-Zein M, Coutlée F, Tellier PP, Roger M, Franco EL, Burchell AN. Human
 Papillomavirus Infection and Transmission Among Couples Through Heterosexual Activity (HITCH) Cohort Study: Protocol Describing Design, Methods, and Research Goals. Protocol. *JMIR Res Protoc*. 2019;8(1):e11284. doi:10.2196/11284

9. Winer RL, Lee SK, Hughes JP, Adam DE, Kiviat NB, Koutsky LA. Genital human papillomavirus infection: incidence and risk factors in a cohort of female university students. *Am J Epidemiol*. Feb 1 2003;157(3):218-26. doi:10.1093/aje/kwf180

 Moscicki AB, Hills N, Shiboski S, et al. Risks for incident human papillomavirus infection and low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion development in young females. *JAMA*. Jun 20 2001;285(23):2995-3002. doi:10.1001/jama.285.23.2995 11. Giuliano AR, Harris R, Sedjo RL, et al. Incidence, prevalence, and clearance of typespecific human papillomavirus infections: The Young Women's Health Study. *J Infect Dis*. Aug 2002;186(4):462-9. doi:10.1086/341782

12. Burchell AN, Richardson H, Mahmud SM, et al. Modeling the sexual transmissibility of human papillomavirus infection using stochastic computer simulation and empirical data from a cohort study of young women in Montreal, Canada. *Am J Epidemiol*. Mar 15 2006;163(6):534-43. doi:10.1093/aje/kwj077

13. Egawa N, Egawa K, Griffin H, Doorbar J. Human Papillomaviruses; Epithelial Tropisms, and the Development of Neoplasia. *Viruses*. Jul 16 2015;7(7):3863-90. doi:10.3390/v7072802

Burd EM. Human papillomavirus and cervical cancer. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* Jan 2003;16(1):1-17. doi:10.1128/cmr.16.1.1-17.2003

Stanley M. Immune responses to human papillomavirus. *Vaccine*. Mar 30 2006;24 Suppl 1:S16-S22. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2005.09.002

Coutlée F, Rouleau D, Petignat P, et al. Enhanced Detection and Typing of Human
 Papillomavirus (HPV) DNA in Anogenital Samples with PGMY Primers and the Linear Array
 HPV Genotyping Test. *J Clin Microbiol*. 2006;44(6):1998-2006. doi:10.1128/jcm.00104-06

17. Schiffman M, Herrero R, DeSalle R, et al. The carcinogenicity of human papillomavirus types reflects viral evolution. *Virology*. Jun 20 2005;337(1):76-84.

doi:10.1016/j.virol.2005.04.002

18. Trottier H, Burchell AN. Epidemiology of mucosal human papillomavirus infection and associated diseases. *Public Health Genomics*. Aug 11 2009 12(5-6):291-307. doi:10.1159/000214920

 Mercer CH, Jones KG, Geary RS, et al. Association of Timing of Sexual Partnerships and Perceptions of Partners' Concurrency With Reporting of Sexually Transmitted Infection Diagnosis. *JAMA Netw Open*. Dec 2018;1(8):e185957. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.5957

20. Wellings K, Collumbien M, Slaymaker E, et al. Sexual behaviour in context: a global perspective. *Lancet*. Nov 11 2006;368:1706-28. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(06)69479-8

21. Ghani AC, Swinton J, Garnett GP. The role of sexual partnership networks in the epidemiology of gonorrhea. *Sex Transm Dis.* Jan 1997;24(1):45-56. doi:10.1097/00007435-199701000-00009

22. Jolly AM, Muth SQ, Wylie JL, Potterat JJ. Sexual networks and sexually transmitted infections: a tale of two cities. *J Urban Health*. Sep 2001;78(3):433-45. doi:10.1093/jurban/78.3.433

23. Reiter PL, Pendergraft WF, Brewer NT. Meta-analysis of human papillomavirus infection concordance. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Nov 2010;19(11):2916-31. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.Epi-10-0576

24. Burchell AN, Tellier PP, Hanley J, Coutlée F, Franco EL. Human papillomavirus infections among couples in new sexual relationships. *Epidemiology*. Jan 2010;21(1):31-7. doi:10.1097/EDE.0b013e3181c1e70b

25. Nyitray AG, Menezes L, Lu B, et al. Genital human papillomavirus (HPV) concordance in heterosexual couples. *J Infect Dis*. Jul 15 2012;206(2):202-11. doi:10.1093/infdis/jis327

Burchell AN, Coutlée F, Tellier PP, Hanley J, Franco EL. Genital transmission of human papillomavirus in recently formed heterosexual couples. *J Infect Dis*. Dec 1 2011;204(11):1723-9. doi:10.1093/infdis/jir644

27. Hernandez BY, Wilkens LR, Zhu X, et al. Transmission of human papillomavirus in heterosexual couples. *Emerg Infect Dis.* Jun 2008;14(6):888-94. doi:10.3201/eid1406.070616

28. Widdice L, Ma Y, Jonte J, et al. Concordance and transmission of human papillomavirus within heterosexual couples observed over short intervals. *J Infect Dis*. Apr 15 2013;207(8):1286-94. doi:10.1093/infdis/jit018

29. Nyitray AG, Lin HY, Fulp WJ, et al. The role of monogamy and duration of heterosexual relationships in human papillomavirus transmission. *J Infect Dis*. Apr 1 2014;209(7):1007-15. doi:10.1093/infdis/jit615

30. Liu M, He Z, Zhang C, et al. Transmission of genital human papillomavirus infection in couples: a population-based cohort study in rural China. *Sci Rep.* Jul 23 2015;5:10986. doi:10.1038/srep10986

31. Su Y, Wei F, Huang X, et al. Prevalence, Concordance, and Transmission of Human Papillomavirus Infection Among Heterosexual Couples in Liuzhou, China: An Observational Perspective Study. *J Infect Dis*. Aug 9 2019;220(6):980-89. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiz224

32. Balaji R, MacCosham A, Williams K, El-Zein M, Franco EL. Directionality of Genital Human Papillomavirus Infection Transmission Within Heterosexual Couples: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *J Infect Dis*. Dec 1 2020;222(11):1928-37. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiaa302 33. Wheeler BS, Rositch AF, Poole C, Taylor SM, Smith JS. Patterns of incident genital human papillomavirus infection in women: A literature review and meta-analysis. *Int J STD AIDS*. 2019;30(13):1246-56. doi:10.1177/0956462418824441

34. Collins S, Mazloomzadeh S, Winter H, et al. High incidence of cervical human papillomavirus infection in women during their first sexual relationship. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol*. 2002;109(1):96-8. doi:10.1111/j.1471-0528.2002.01053.x

35. Ho GYF, Bierman R, Beardsley L, Chang CJ, Burk RD. Natural history of cervicovaginal papillomavirus infection in young women. *N Engl J Med*. Feb 12 1998;338(7):423-8.

36. Richardson H, Kelsall G, Tellier P, et al. The natural history of type-specific human papillomavirus infections in female university students. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Jun 2003;12(6):485-90.

37. Ramanakumar AV, Naud P, Roteli-Martins CM, et al. Incidence and duration of typespecific human papillomavirus infection in high-risk HPV-naïve women: results from the control arm of a phase II HPV-16/18 vaccine trial. *BMJ Open*. Aug 26 2016;6(8):e011371. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011371

 Schiffman M, Castle PE, Jeronimo J, Rodriguez AC, Wacholder S. Human
 papillomavirus and cervical cancer. *Lancet*. Sep 8 2007;370(9590):890-907. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61416-0

39. Rositch AF, Koshiol J, Hudgens MG, et al. Patterns of persistent genital human papillomavirus infection among women worldwide: a literature review and meta-analysis. *Int J Cancer*. Sep 15 2013;133(6):1271-85. doi:10.1002/ijc.27828

40. Moscicki AB, Shiboski S, Broering J, et al. The natural history of human papillomavirus infection as measured by repeated DNA testing in adolescent and young women. *J Pediatr*. Feb 1998;132(2):277-84. doi:10.1016/s0022-3476(98)70445-7

41. Woodman CB, Collins S, Winter H, et al. Natural history of cervical human papillomavirus infection in young women: a longitudinal cohort study. *Lancet*. Jun 9 2001;357:1831-6. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(00)04956-4

42. Gravitt PE, Winer RL. Natural History of HPV Infection across the Lifespan: Role of Viral Latency. *Viruses*. Sep 21 2017;9(10)doi:10.3390/v9100267

43. Koutsky LA, Galloway DA, Holmes KK. Epidemiology of genital human papillomavirus infection. *Epidemiol Rev.* 1988;10:122-63. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.epirev.a036020

44. Schiffman M, Clifford G, Buonaguro FM. Classification of weakly carcinogenic human papillomavirus types: addressing the limits of epidemiology at the borderline. *Infect Agents Cancer*. 2009;4(8)doi:10.1186/1750-9378-4-8

45. Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, et al. Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA: Cancer J Clin.* May 2021;71(3):209-49. doi:10.3322/caac.21660

46. FUTURE II Study Group. Quadrivalent vaccine against human papillomavirus to prevent high-grade cervical lesions. *N Engl J Med.* May 10 2007;356(19):1915-27. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa061741

47. Markowitz LE, Hariri S, Lin C, et al. Reduction in human papillomavirus (HPV) prevalence among young women following HPV vaccine introduction in the United States, National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys, 2003-2010. *J Infect Dis*. Aug 1 2013;208(3):385-93. doi:10.1093/infdis/jit192

48. Garnett GP. Role of herd immunity in determining the effect of vaccines against sexually transmitted disease. *J Infect Dis*. Feb 1 2005;191 Suppl. 1:S97-106. doi:10.1086/425271

49. Drolet M, Bénard É, Pérez N, Brisson M. Population-level impact and herd effects following the introduction of human papillomavirus vaccination programmes: updated systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet*. Aug 10 2019;394(10197):497-509. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(19)30298-3

50. Malagón T, Laurie C, Franco EL. Human papillomavirus vaccination and the role of herd effects in future cancer control planning: a review. *Expert Rev Vaccines*. May 2018;17(5):395-409. doi:10.1080/14760584.2018.1471986

51. Logel M, Laurie C, El-Zein M, Guichon J, Franco EL. A Review of Ethical and Legal Aspects of Gender-Neutral Human Papillomavirus Vaccination. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* May 4 2022;31(5):919-31. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.Epi-21-1256

52. Ronco G, Dillner J, Elfström KM, et al. Efficacy of HPV-based screening for prevention of invasive cervical cancer: follow-up of four European randomised controlled trials. *Lancet*. Feb 8 2014;383(9916):524-32. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(13)62218-7

53. Xue X, Gange SJ, Zhong Y, et al. Marginal and mixed-effects models in the analysis of human papillomavirus natural history data. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Jan 2010;19(1):159-69. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.Epi-09-0546

54. Kong X, Gray RH, Moulton LH, Wawer M, Wang MC. A modeling framework for the analysis of HPV incidence and persistence: a semi-parametric approach for clustered binary longitudinal data analysis. *Stat Med.* Dec 10 2010;29(28):2880-9. doi:10.1002/sim.4062

55. Dean N, Pagano M. Evaluating Confidence Interval Methods for Binomial Proportions in Clustered Surveys. *J Surv Stat Methodol*. 2015;3(4):484-503. doi:10.1093/jssam/smv024

56. Burr D. A Comparison of Certain Bootstrap Confidence Intervals in the Cox Model. *J Am Stat Assoc.* 1994;89(428):1290-1302. doi:10.1080/01621459.1994.10476869

57. Hosmer DW, Lemeshow S, Sturdivant R. Logistic Regression Models for the Analysis of Correlated Data. *Applied Logistic Regression*. 3rd ed. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.; 2013:313-76:chap 9. *Wiley Series in Probability and Statistics*.

58. Austin PC, Goel V, van Walraven C. An introduction to multilevel regression models. *Can J Public Health*. Mar 2001;92(2):150-4. doi:10.1007/bf03404950

59. Weaver BA, Feng Q, Holmes KK, et al. Evaluation of genital sites and sampling techniques for detection of human papillomavirus DNA in men. *J Infect Dis*. Feb 15 2004;189(4):677-85. doi:10.1086/381395

60. VanderWeele TJ. Mediation Analysis: A Practitioner's Guide. *Annu Rev Public Health*.
2016;37:17-32. doi:10.1146/annurev-publhealth-032315-021402

61. Insinga RP, Perez G, Wheeler CM, et al. Incidence, duration, and reappearance of typespecific cervical human papillomavirus infections in young women. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Jun 2010;19(6):1585-94. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.Epi-09-1235

62. Kotloff KL, Wasserman SS, Russ K, et al. Detection of genital human papillomavirus and associated cytological abnormalities among college women. *Sex Transm Dis.* May 1998;25(5):243-50. doi:10.1097/00007435-199805000-00005

63. Hinchliffe SA, van Velzen D, Korporaal H, Kok PL, Boon ME. Transience of cervical HPV infection in sexually active, young women with normal cervicovaginal cytology. *Br J Cancer*. Oct 1995;72(4):943-5. doi:10.1038/bjc.1995.438

64. Arthur AW, El-Zein M, Burchell AN, Tellier PP, Coutlée F, Franco EL. [Preprint] Detection and clearance of type-specific and phylogenetically related genital human papillomavirus infections in young women in new heterosexual relationships. *medRxiv*. Feb 26 2023;doi:10.1101/2023.02.24.23286387 65. Malagón T, MacCosham A, Burchell AN, et al. Sex- and Type-specific Genital Human Papillomavirus Transmission Rates Between Heterosexual Partners: A Bayesian Reanalysis of the HITCH Cohort. *Epidemiology*. May 1 2021;32(3):368-77.

doi:10.1097/ede.000000000001324

66. Arthur AW, El-Zein M, Burchell AN, Tellier PP, Coutlée F, Franco EL. [Preprint] Epidemiology of genital human papillomavirus infections in sequential male sex partners of young females. *medRxiv*. Jun 20 2023;doi:10.1101/2023.06.19.23291543

67. Trottier H, Mahmud SM, Lindsay L, et al. Persistence of an incident human papillomavirus infection and timing of cervical lesions in previously unexposed young women. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* Mar 2009;18(3):854-62. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.Epi-08-1012

68. Malagón T, Burchell AN, El-Zein M, et al. Estimating HPV DNA Deposition Between Sexual Partners Using HPV Concordance, Y Chromosome DNA Detection, and Self-reported Sexual Behaviors. *J Infect Dis.* 2017;216(10):1210-9. doi:10.1093/infdis/jix477

69. Malagón T, Burchell A, El-Zein M, et al. Y Chromosome DNA in Women's Vaginal Samples as a Biomarker of Recent Vaginal Sex and Condom Use With Male Partners in the HPV Infection and Transmission Among Couples Through Heterosexual Activity Cohort Study. *Sex Transm Dis.* Jan 2018;45(1):28-34. doi:10.1097/olq.00000000000688

Moineddin R, Matheson FI, Glazier RH. A simulation study of sample size for multilevel logistic regression models. *BMC Med Res Methodol*. Jul 16 2007;7(34)doi:10.1186/1471-2288-7-34

APPENDICES

M1-Table S1. Double detection of incident infection for individual HPV types, grouped types at the woman-level, and grouped types at the HPV-level, by subgenus.

	а	Cumulative Detection of Infection, % (95% CI)			Detection	Time (months) to Detection (95% CI)				
	n-	6 Months	12 Months	24 Months	Rate ^b (95% CI)	Actuarial Mean ^c	Actuarial Median ^c	Conditional Mean ^d	Conditional Median ^d	
Subgenus 1										
HPV6	435	0.2 (0.0, 1.7)	2.0 (1.0, 3.9)	5.2 (3.4, 8.1)	2.0 (1.3, 3.0)	47.4 (46.5, 48.2)	NR	15.2 (12.2, 18.1)	15.3 (10.6, 18.1)	
HPV11 ^e	451	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		NR			
HPV40	442	0.0^{f}	0.7 (0.2, 2.3)	2.0 (0.9, 4.1)	0.6 (0.3, 1.3)	48.8 (48.3, 49.3)	NR	14.3 (9.7, 18.9)	13.1 (6.7, 22.9)	
HPV42	419	1.7 (0.8, 3.5)	4.0 (2.5, 6.5)	5.9 (3.9, 8.9)	2.3 (1.5, 3.4)	47.0 (46.1, 48.0)	NR	10.8 (7.9, 13.7)	9.4 (5.4, 11.7)	
HPV44	445	0.2 (0.0, 1.6)	0.5 (0.1, 1.9)	0.7 (0.2, 2.3)	0.3 (0.1, 0.8)	49.1 (48.8, 49.5)	NR	9.0 (3.8, 14.3)	7.6 (4.2, NR) ^g	
HPV54	426	0.0^{f}	0.8 (0.3, 2.3)	3.2 (1.8, 5.7)	1.3 (0.8, 2.3)	48.0 (47.2, 48.7)	NR	18.4 (14.8, 22.0)	18.2 (9.4, 19.7)	
Any Woman-Level	367	1.7 (0.8, 3.7)	6.4 (4.2, 9.5)	13.4 (10.0, 17.7)	5.9 (4.5, 7.8)	43.3 (41.8, 44.9)	NR	15.0 (12.8, 17.2)	15.3 (9.7, 18.0)	
Any HPV-Level ^h	2,618	0.3 (0.2, 0.7)	1.3 (0.9, 1.8)	2.8 (2.2, 3.7)	1.1 (0.8, 1.4)	48.3 (46.3, 48.5)	NR	14.0 (12.1, 15.9)	12.6 (9.7, 17.0)	
Subgenus 2										
HPV16	374	1.6 (0.7, 3.6)	2.2 (1.1, 4.4)	3.9 (2.3, 6.7)	1.8 (1.1, 2.9)	47.4 (46.5, 48.4)	NR	15.1 (10.7, 19.6)	12.7 (4.8, 21.8)	
HPV18	437	0.0^{f}	0.8 (0.2, 2.3)	1.4 (0.6, 3.3)	0.6 (0.3, 1.2)	48.8 (48.3, 49.3)	NR	15.8 (9.1, 22.5)	11.4 (8.4, NR) ^g	
HPV26 ^e	453	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		NR			
HPV31	430	0.5 (0.1, 1.9)	1.3 (0.5, 3.0)	2.4 (1.3, 4.6)	1.0 (0.6, 1.9)	48.3 (47.7, 49.0)	NR	14.5 (10.1, 19.0)	13.0 (5.1, 19.7)	
HPV33 ^e	448	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		NR			
HPV34 ^e	450	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		NR			
HPV35	450	0.2 (0.0, 1.6)	0.5 (0.1, 1.9)	0.7 (0.2, 2.2)	0.3 (0.1, 0.8)	49.2 (48.8, 49.5)	NR	8.4 (5.0, 11.8)	8.5 (4.6, NR) ^g	
HPV39	421	0.5 (0.1, 1.9)	1.0 (0.4, 2.6)	3.7 (2.1, 6.2)	1.4 (0.8, 2.3)	48.0 (47.3, 48.8)	NR	13.7 (10.5, 16.8)	12.6 (7.1, 17.2)	
HPV45	445	0.0^{f}	0.0^{f}	0.8 (0.3, 2.5)	0.3 (0.1, 0.8)	49.2 (48.8, 49.5)	NR	14.7 (12.8, 16.7)	14.6 (12.7, NR) ^g	
HPV51	405	0.3 (0.0, 1.8)	1.9 (0.9, 3.9)	3.4 (1.9, 5.9)	1.5 (0.9, 2.5)	47.9 (47.1, 48.6)	NR	14.9 (11.2, 18.5)	12.2 (9.3, 18.6)	
HPV52	418	0.7 (0.2, 2.2)	2.0 (1.0, 4.0)	2.6 (1.4, 4.8)	1.1 (0.6, 1.9)	48.3 (47.6, 49.0)	NR	10.7 (7.1, 14.3)	9.5 (4.1, 14.0)	
HPV53	419	0.5 (0.1, 1.9)	2.6 (1.4, 4.7)	4.3 (2.7, 7.0)	1.8 (1.1, 2.8)	47.6 (46.7, 48.4)	NR	12.7 (9.6, 15.7)	10.6 (8.5, 13.1)	
HPV56	432	0.0^{f}	1.3 (0.5, 3.0)	3.1 (1.7, 5.5)	1.0 (0.6, 1.9)	48.4 (47.7, 49.0)	NR	13.6 (10.7, 16.5)	13.5 (9.4, 16.3)	
HPV58	431	0.2 (0.0, 1.7)	1.5 (0.7, 3.3)	2.4 (1.3, 4.6)	1.0 (0.6, 1.9)	48.3 (47.6, 49.0)	NR	14.7 (9.8, 19.7)	11.7 (7.1, 22.8)	
HPV59	426	0.5 (0.1, 1.9)	0.5 (0.1, 1.9)	2.2 (1.1, 4.4)	0.9 (0.5, 1.8)	48.3 (47.6, 49.0)	NR	16.9 (11.6, 22.1)	15.6 (4.8, 21.0)	
HPV66	426	1.2 (0.5, 2.8)	2.2 (1.2, 4.2)	4.7 (2.9, 7.4)	1.7 (1.1, 2.7)	47.6 (46.8, 48.4)	NR	12.7 (9.2, 16.1)	11.9 (5.5, 16.9)	
HPV67	427	0.5 (0.1, 1.9)	1.3 (0.5, 3.0)	3.0 (1.7, 5.3)	1.1 (0.6, 2.0)	48.2 (47.5, 48.9)	NR	13.4 (9.6, 17.3)	13.1 (5.3, 17.5)	
HPV68	440	0.0^{f}	0.7 (0.2, 2.2)	1.0 (0.4, 2.7)	0.5 (0.2, 1.1)	48.9 (48.5, 49.4)	NR	13.2 (6.2, 20.1)	7.4 (6.6, NR) ^g	
HPV69 ^e	453	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		NR			
HPV70	450	0.0^{f}	0.2 (0.0, 1.7)	0.5 (0.1, 2.0)	0.2 (0.0, 0.7)	49.3 (49.0, 49.5)	NR	10.6 (6.4, 14.8)	7.6 (7.6, NR) ^g	
HPV73	435	1.2 (0.5, 2.8)	1.7 (0.8, 3.5)	3.7 (2.2, 6.2)	1.4 (0.8, 2.3)	48.0 (47.2, 48.7)	NR	12.2 (8.9, 15.5)	12.3 (4.6, 15.5)	
HPV82	441	0.2 (0.0, 1.6)	0.7 (0.2, 2.2)	1.0 (0.4, 2.7)	0.4 (0.1, 1.0)	49.1 (48.7, 49.4)	NR	10.8 (4.8, 16.8)	8.3 (4.5, NR) ^g	
Any Woman-Level	233	3.9 (2.0, 7.3)	9.8 (6.6, 14.5)	21.2 (16.2, 27.5)	9.5 (7.2, 12.5)	40.2 (37.9, 42.4)	NR	14.0 (11.9, 16.1)	12.8 (10.6, 14.6)	
Any HPV-Levelh	9,511	0.4 (0.2, 0.5)	1.0 (0.7, 1.3)	2.0 (1.6, 2.5)	0.8 (0.6, 1.0)	48.6 (46.6, 48.7)	NR	13.6 (12.3, 14.8)	12.3 (11.4, 13.5)	
Subgenus 3										
HPV61	443	0.9 (0.4, 2.5)	1.2 (0.5, 2.8)	2.7 (1.4, 4.9)	1.2 (0.7, 2.1)	48.1 (47.4, 48.8)	NR	15.7 (10.9, 20.4)	15.1 (5.4, 22.0)	
HPV62	416	0.7 (0.2, 2.3)	2.3 (1.2, 4.3)	4.1 (2.5, 6.8)	1.5 (0.9, 2.4)	47.9 (47.1, 48.7)	NR	11.0 (7.9, 14.0)	9.7 (5.1, 14.7)	
HPV71 ^e	451	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		NR			
HPV72 ^e	451	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		NR			
HPV81	446	0.0^{f}	0.2 (0.0, 1.7)	0.2 (0.0, 1.7)	0.1 (0.0, 0.6)	49.3 (49.2, 49.5)	NR		NR	

HPV83	444	0.2 (0.0, 1.6)	0.5(0.1, 1.9)	0.5(0.1, 1.9)	0.3(0.1, 0.8)	49.1 (48.8, 49.5)	NR	11.7 (1.6, 21.9)	6.5 (4.3, NR) ^g
HPV84	413	1.5 (0.7, 3.3)	2.6 (1.4, 4.7)	4.1 (2.5, 6.7)	1.7 (1.0, 2.7)	47.6 (46.8, 48.5)	NR	12.3 (8.7, 15.9)	10.6 (5.1, 16.9)
HPV89	405	1.8 (0.8, 3.7)	3.7 (2.2, 6.1)	6.8 (4.6, 9.9)	2.7 (1.9, 4.0)	46.5 (45.4, 47.6)	NR	13.2 (10.3, 16.1)	11.6 (6.9, 18.2)
Any Woman-Level	336	4.2 (2.5, 7.1)	8.0 (5.5, 11.6)	13.5 (10.1, 17.9)	5.8 (4.3, 7.7)	43.5 (41.9, 45.1)	NR	12.1 (9.9, 14.4)	10.1 (6.2, 13.1)
Any HPV-Level ^h	3,469	0.6 (0.4, 0.9)	1.2 (0.9, 1.6)	2.2 (1.7, 2.8)	0.9 (0.7, 1.1)	48.5 (46.5, 48.7)	NR	12.8 (10.8, 14.9)	11.4 (7.6, 14.7)
All 36 Types									
Any Woman-Level	192	3.7 (1.8, 7.5)	11.8 (8.0, 17.4)	30.4 (23.9, 38.1)	13.3 (10.2, 17.3)	37.2 (34.6, 39.9)	NR	14.1 (12.3, 15.9)	13.1 (12.0, 14.8)
Any HPV-Level ^h	15,598	0.4 (0.3, 0.5)	1.1 (0.9, 1.4)	2.2 (1.8, 2.6)	0.9 (0.7, 1.0)	48.5 (46.5, 48.7)	NR	13.5 (12.4, 14.5)	12.2 (10.6, 13.6)
A11	CT	C' 1 ·		· 1 · 1	1 ') 1	. 11			

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; HPV, human papillomavirus; NR, not reached.

-- indicates an insufficient number of women were at risk (i.e., 0) or experienced the outcome (i.e., 0 or 1) to estimate this value.

^a Sample size does not apply to conditional mean/median; sample size for conditional statistics is the number of double detections.

^b Rate per 1000 woman-months, excepting HPV-level analyses of grouped types, which are provided as rate per 1000 infection-months.

^c Time to detection including women/types that were censored. Actuarial means were found to be unreliable estimates of average time to detection due to right-censoring.

^d Time to detection conditional on event of interest (i.e., time to detection restricted to women/types that had a single detection during the study).

^e HPV type was never detected among women included in this analysis.

^fHPV type was not detected by this time point among women included in this analysis.

^gOne bound of the survival function's 95% CI never reached or fell below 50%.

^h 95% CIs for cumulative detection estimates generated using bootstrap resampling of woman-clusters. 95% CIs for detection rate per 1000 infection-months estimated via woman-clustered jackknife. 95% CIs for actuarial and conditional mean time to detection determined by woman-cluster resampling bootstrap. 95% CIs for actuarial and conditional median time to detection affixed by the times at which each (woman-clustered bootstrap-based) 95% CI bound of the actuarial and conditional survival functions (respectively) reached or fell below 50%.

M1-Table S2. Conservative clearance of infection present at baseline for individual HPV types, grouped types at the woman-level, and grouped types at the HPV-level, by subgenus.

	a	Percent of Infection Uncleared, % (95% CI)		Clearance	Time (months) to Clearance (95% CI)							
	п	6 Months	12 Months	24 Months	Rate ^b (95% CI)	Actuarial Mean ^c	Actuarial Median ^c	Conditional Mean ^d	Conditional Median ^d			
Subgenus 1												
HPV6	18	69.8 (41.8, 86.3)	56.4 (29.4, 76.6)	49.4 (23.5, 70.9)	31.1 (15.6, 62.2)	19.9 (13.3, 26.6)	12.6 (5.7, NR) ^e	6.6 (4.0, 9.1)	5.7 (1.4, 11.3)			
HPV11	2	NR	NR	NR	228.9 (57.2, 915.0)	4.4 (2.2, 6.5)	2.8 (2.8, NR) ^e	4.4 (2.2, 6.5)	2.8 (2.8, NR) ^e			
HPV40	11	80.8 (42.4, 94.9)	57.7 (22.1, 81.9)	19.2 (1.0, 55.4)	52.5 (23.6, 116.9)	14.0 (8.7, 19.2)	12.6 (5.1, NR) ^e	9.9 (5.3, 14.5)	7.8 (4.7, NR)°			
HPV42	34	84.9 (67.4, 93.4)	50.6 (31.6, 66.9)	24.3 (9.7, 42.4)	50.9 (33.2, 78.1)	16.0 (11.8, 20.1)	12.2 (8.0, 19.7)	9.5 (7.7, 11.4)	8.0 (7.1, 11.7)			
HPV44	8	60.0 (19.6, 85.2)	60.0 (19.6, 85.2)	45.0 (10.8, 75.1)	33.4 (12.5, 89.0)	20.3 (9.6, 30.9)	13.5 (4.4, NR) ^e	7.1 (3.5, 10.8)	4.8 (4.4, NR) ^e			
HPV54	27	88.9 (69.4, 96.3)	58.1 (37.0, 74.3)	28.4 (11.6, 48.0)	50.0 (31.9, 78.4)	16.8 (12.8, 20.7)	12.5 (8.8, 22.4)	12.5 (9.3, 15.7)	10.6 (8.1, 13.7)			
All Woman-Level	86	80.8 (70.5, 87.8)	62.5 (50.8, 72.1)	46.7 (34.6, 57.8)	33.3 (24.7, 45.0)	21.1 (18.0, 24.1)	20.0 (12.2, NR) ^e	10.0 (8.1, 12.0)	8.0 (5.8, 11.2)			
Any HPV-Level ^f	100	79.2 (71.3, 86.4)	53.9 (40.9, 62.5)	31.0 (21.6, 42.1)	46.4 (36.5, 59.3)	17.5 (14.7, 20.0)	12.5 (10.6, 14.5)	9.8 (8.4, 11.2)	8.0 (7.4, 9.9)			
Subgenus 2												
HPV16	79	92.1 (83.3, 96.4)	79.2 (67.9, 87.0)	50.9 (37.9, 62.5)	25.0 (17.9, 35.0)	24.0 (21.0, 26.9)	24.0 (18.1, NR) ^e	12.8 (10.8, 14.8)	13.6 (8.9, 15.6)			
HPV18	16	68.8 (40.5, 85.6)	50.0 (24.5, 71.1)	23.4 (6.5, 46.4)	64.2 (37.3, 110.6)	13.5 (9.5, 17.5)	11.9 (5.2, 18.2)	10.7 (7.3, 14.2)	11.7 (5.1, 12.4)			
HPV26	0											
HPV31	23	90.9 (68.1, 97.6)	71.7 (47.6, 86.2)	34.2 (14.3, 55.4)	41.6 (24.7, 70.3)	18.1 (13.5, 22.7)	13.5 (9.0, 30.2)	12.1 (8.5, 15.8)	12.0 (6.2, 13.5)			
HPV33	5	60.0 (12.6, 88.2)	NR	NR	89.4 (28.8, 277.3)	7.2 (4.7, 9.7)	7.6 (4.1, NR) ^e	5.3 (3.6, 7.1)	4.3 (4.1, NR) ^e			
HPV34	3	100.0^{g}	33.3 (0.9, 77.4)	NR	107.4 (34.6, 333.1)	9.3 (5.5, 13.1)	7.3 (6.7, NR) ^e	9.3 (5.5, 13.1)	7.3 (6.7, NR) ^e			
HPV35	3	100.0 ^g	66.7 (5.4, 94.5)	NR	43.1 (10.8, 172.5)	15.7 (8.1, 23.3)	20.4 (6.2, NR) ^e	13.3 (3.5, 23.2)	6.2 (6.2, NR) ^e			
HPV39	32	83.2 (64.2, 92.6)	65.7 (45.5, 79.9)	22.5 (7.7, 41.9)	41.6 (26.5, 65.2)	19.4 (14.2, 24.7)	17.7 (9.4, 19.7)	11.9 (9.2, 14.6)	11.9 (6.0, 17.7)			
HPV45	8	75.0 (31.5, 93.1)	45.0 (10.8, 75.1)	30.0 (4.4, 62.8)	52.4 (21.8, 125.8)	15.3 (7.5, 23.2)	9.9 (5.5, NR) ^e	8.4 (6.0, 10.8)	8.3 (5.5, NR) ^e			
HPV51	48	86.7 (72.7, 93.8)	58.9 (42.2, 72.2)	26.1 (11.4, 43.5)	40.1 (27.1, 59.3)	18.8 (15.0, 22.7)	17.9 (11.6, 21.8)	11.2 (8.9, 13.5)	10.1 (6.1, 13.2)			
HPV52	35	87.5 (70.0, 95.1)	66.0 (45.7, 80.1)	40.7 (20.6, 60.0)	32.8 (20.1, 53.6)	20.2 (15.9, 24.5)	20.7 (8.7, NR) ^e	11.9 (8.3, 15.5)	7.4 (5.1, 17.7)			
HPV53	34	93.8 (77.5, 98.4)	64.4 (44.9, 78.5)	45.2 (26.4, 62.2)	30.3 (18.8, 48.7)	22.5 (17.9, 27.2)	20.4 (11.5, NR) ^e	12.7 (9.6, 15.8)	9.7 (7.8, 17.2)			
HPV56	21	85.7 (62.0, 95.2)	59.2 (34.2, 77.4)	18.5 (3.4, 43.2)	45.6 (26.5, 78.5)	17.6 (11.5, 23.7)	16.2 (7.8, 21.8)	10.9 (7.5, 14.2)	8.1 (5.1, 16.2)			
HPV58	22	90.4 (66.8, 97.5)	62.2 (36.4, 80.0)	23.3 (6.6, 45.9)	47.2 (27.4, 81.2)	16.4 (11.9, 20.8)	12.9 (8.7, 21.1)	11.2 (8.6, 13.8)	9.9 (6.5, 12.9)			
HPV59	27	85.2 (65.2, 94.2)	47.4 (27.0, 65.4)	12.9 (3.3, 29.4)	65.0 (42.4, 99.7)	13.0 (10.4, 15.5)	11.0 (8.0, 16.2)	11.0 (8.9, 13.1)	10.3 (7.7, 14.7)			
HPV66	27	73.7 (52.6, 86.5)	41.0 (22.0, 59.1)	14.0 (3.7, 31.2)	73.0 (47.6, 111.9)	11.6 (8.9, 14.3)	8.5 (7.5, 14.7)	9.0 (7.2, 10.8)	8.0 (4.8, 10.2)			
HPV67	26	80.4 (59.2, 91.4)	51.7 (30.8, 69.1)	NR	68.3 (44.0, 105.8)	12.5 (9.9, 15.1)	12.0 (7.8, 17.7)	10.7 (8.2, 13.2)	8.0 (5.4, 14.5)			
HPV68	13	100.0 ^g	75.0 (40.8, 91.2)	50.0 (20.9, 73.6)	24.3 (10.9, 54.1)	22.8 (17.3, 28.2)	19.7 (9.8, NR) ^e	13.5 (10.4, 16.6)	11.7 (8.5, NR) ^e			
HPV69	0											
HPV70	3	100.0^{g}	100.0 ^g	50.0 (0.6, 91.0)	15.6 (2.2, 110.4)	24.7 (14.6, 34.9)	17.4 (17.4, NR) ^e		NR			
HPV73	18	83.3 (56.8, 94.3)	43.3 (18.8, 65.7)	21.6 (5.4, 44.8)	51.2 (29.1, 90.2)	15.0 (10.4, 19.6)	12.0 (9.7, 18.4)	10.3 (7.7, 12.8)	9.9 (3.7, 12.6)			
HPV82	12	55.0 (23.2, 78.3)	12.2 (0.7, 40.6)	NR	116.9 (62.9, 217.2)	8.0 (5.1, 10.8)	6.1 (4.1, 11.5)	7.4 (4.7, 10.1)	5.5 (2.8, 9.3)			
All Woman-Level	220	94.8 (90.8, 97.1)	87.1 (81.6, 91.1)	64.2 (56.3, 71.0)	15.6 (12.2, 19.8)	31.1 (29.1, 33.2)	NR	14.2 (12.6, 15.9)	14.6 (12.0, 16.3)			
Any HPV-Level ¹	455	85.6 (81.6, 88.8)	60.5 (55.8, 64.8)	30.1 (24.4, 34.5)	42.4 (37.8, 47.5)	20.0 (17.8, 21.4)	15.5 (13.5, 17.7)	11.1 (10.4, 11.9)	9.8 (8.5, 11.0)			
Subgenus 3												
HPV61	10	77.8 (36.5, 93.9)	66.7 (28.2, 87.8)	53.3 (17.7, 79.6)	30.7 (12.8, 73.7)	21.0 (12.5, 29.4)	26.7 (3.9, NR) ^e	12.3 (5.0, 19.7)	9.7 (3.9, NR) ^e			
HPV62	37	88.6 (72.4, 95.6)	67.7 (49.2, 80.7)	63.5 (44.3, 77.6)	22.2 (13.1, 37.4)	24.8 (20.3, 29.4)	NR	10.7 (6.8, 14.6)	7.4 (5.9, 8.8)			
HPV71	2	100.0^{g}	NR	NR	61.0 (8.6, 433.0)		9.9 (NR, NR) ^e		NR			
HPV72 ⁿ	2	100.0	100.0	100.0	0.0		NR					
HPV81	7	100.0 ^g	100.0 ^g	NR	36.2 (11.7, 112.2)	15.0 (13.8, 16.1)	$14.2 (13.5, NR)^{e}$	14.6 (13.3, 15.8)	14.2 (13.5, NR) ^e			
HPV83	9	88.9 (43.3, 98.4)	77.8 (36.5, 93.9)	58.3 (15.7, 85.5)	21.0 (6.8, 65.0)	24.7 (14.6, 34.9)	NR	8.1 (4.4, 11.7)	$6.1 (5.5, NR)^{e}$			
HPV84	40	79.4 (63.0, 89.1)	39.0 (23.1, 54.6)	25.5 (12.0, 41.4)	62.3 (43.0, 90.2)	14.5 (10.5, 18.5)	8.5 (6.7, 13.1)	9.2 (6.9, 11.5)	7.3 (6.1, 8.5)			
HPV89	48	87.2 (73.7, 94.0)	62.4 (46.0, 75.2)	39.2 (21.7, 56.3)	35.4 (23.3, 53.7)	22.3 (17.2, 27.4)	16.2 (9.7, NR) ^e	9.6 (7.7, 11.4)	8.8 (5.7, 11.3)			
----------------------------	-----	-------------------	-------------------	-------------------	-------------------	-------------------	-----------------------------	-------------------	------------------	--	--	--
All Woman-Level	117	86.6 (78.7, 91.7)	71.7 (62.0, 79.3)	56.4 (45.4, 66.0)	24.0 (17.9, 32.1)	26.2 (23.1, 29.3)	NR	10.3 (8.5, 12.2)	8.5 (6.1, 10.4)			
Any HPV-Level ^f	155	85.9 (78.8, 91.0)	60.2 (49.9, 67.4)	44.0 (33.7, 52.2)	35.5 (27.8, 45.4)	21.8 (18.0, 24.6)	16.2 (11.3, 25.0)	10.0 (8.7, 11.3)	8.2 (6.7, 8.8)			
All 36 Types												
All Woman-Level	261	94.9 (91.3, 97.0)	88.4 (83.6, 91.8)	74.7 (68.2, 80.1)	11.8 (9.2, 15.1)	33.3 (31.5, 35.0)	NR	13.8 (11.9, 15.7)	13.1 (9.8, 16.1)			
Any HPV-Level ^f	710	84.8 (80.7, 87.4)	59.5 (55.0, 63.3)	32.9 (28.4, 37.6)	41.4 (37.1, 46.2)	20.2 (18.3, 21.5)	15.3 (13.1, 16.6)	10.7 (10.1, 11.4)	8.9 (8.3, 9.9)			

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; HPV, human papillomavirus; NR, not reached.

-- indicates an insufficient number of women were at risk (i.e., 0) or experienced the outcome (i.e., 0 or 1) to estimate this value.

^a Sample size does not apply to conditional mean/median; sample size for conditional statistics is the number of conservative clearances.

^b Rate per 1000 woman-months, excepting HPV-level analyses of grouped types, which are provided as rate per 1000 infection-months.

^c Time to clearance including women/infections that were censored.

^d Time to clearance conditional on event of interest (i.e., time to clearance restricted to women/infections that had a conservative clearance during the study).

^e Bound(s) of the survival function's 95% CI never reached or fell below 50%.

^f 95% CIs for uncleared infection estimates generated using bootstrap resampling of woman-clusters. 95% CIs for clearance rate per 1000 infection-months estimated via woman-clustered jackknife. 95% CIs for actuarial and conditional mean time to clearance determined by woman-cluster resampling bootstrap. 95% CIs for actuarial and conditional median time to clearance affixed by the times at which each (woman-clustered bootstrap-based) 95% CI bound of the actuarial and conditional survival functions (respectively) reached or fell below 50%.

^g HPV type was not cleared by this time point among women included in this analysis.

^h HPV type was never cleared among women included in this analysis.

M1-Table S3. Conservative clearance of incident infection for individual HPV types, grouped types at the woman-level, and grouped types at the HPV-level, by subgenus.

	8	Percent of In	fection Uncleared,	% (95% CI)	Clearance	Time (months) to Clearance (95% CI)						
	n	6 Months	12 Months	24 Months	Rate ^b (95% CI)	Actuarial Mean ^c	Actuarial Median ^c	Conditional Mean ^d	Conditional Median ^d			
Subgenus 1												
HPV6	32	83.0 (63.9, 92.6)	47.3 (25.0, 66.7)	20.3 (1.7, 53.4)	48.3 (28.6, 81.5)	14.3 (11.0, 17.7)	10.5 (8.5, NR) ^e	8.6 (6.3, 11.0)	7.6 (4.8, 9.6)			
HPV11 ^f	1	NR	NR	NR	0.0	'	NR					
HPV40	14	92.3 (56.6, 98.9)	73.9 (38.5, 90.8)	NR	24.4 (9.1, 64.9)	16.7 (13.0, 20.3)	16.2 (8.7, NR) ^e	10.0 (6.1, 13.9)	8.7 (5.2, NR) ^e			
HPV42	34	87.3 (69.6, 95.1)	67.7 (46.6, 81.9)	41.9 (19.4, 63.0)	32.1 (18.6, 55.3)	18.8 (14.8, 22.8)	16.0 (10.8, NR) ^e	9.9 (7.5, 12.2)	8.6 (5.6, 13.7)			
HPV44	4	100.0 ^g	66.7 (5.4, 94.5)	NR	24.7 (3.5, 175.7)	14.5 (8.6, 20.4)	NR		NR			
HPV54	19	89.5 (64.1, 97.3)	78.3 (42.9, 93.2)	78.3 (42.9, 93.2)	14.5 (4.7, 45.0)	20.8 (16.8, 24.7)	NR	5.7 (1.9, 9.5)	3.7 (3.0, NR) ^e			
All Woman-Level	69	88.1 (77.6, 93.9)	68.7 (53.9, 79.6)	41.4 (19.1, 62.6)	27.8 (18.3, 42.2)	19.6 (16.5, 22.7)	22.1 (14.7, NR) ^e	9.4 (7.4, 11.4)	8.7 (5.3, 10.8)			
Any HPV-Level ^h	104	88.4 (81.3, 93.4)	72.7 (63.0, 79.9)	64.5 (53.6, 72.1)	18.3 (13.1, 25.9)	26.9 (23.5, 29.1)	NR	8.9 (7.6, 10.5)	NR			
Subgenus 2												
HPV16	22	88.5 (61.4, 97.0)	77.5 (42.1, 92.8)	NR	26.1 (10.9, 62.7)	15.2 (11.9, 18.6)	15.3 (9.0, NR) ^e	9.5 (5.9, 13.1)	9.0 (4.8, NR) ^e			
HPV18	10	88.9 (43.3, 98.4)	76.2 (33.2, 93.5)	76.2 (33.2, 93.5)	13.9 (3.5, 55.5)	24.6 (17.8, 31.4)	NR	6.7 (5.1, 8.3)	5.6 (5.6, NR) ^e			
HPV26	0											
HPV31	19	94.1 (65.0, 99.2)	70.6 (38.9, 88.0)	NR	28.2 (12.7, 62.7)	15.9 (13.2, 18.6)	19.7 (8.9, NR) ^e	11.6 (7.5, 15.6)	8.9 (5.3, NR) ^e			
HPV33	4	50.0 (5.8, 84.5)	NR	NR	153.1 (57.5, 408.0)	6.5 (4.5, 8.5)	5.5 (3.7, NR) ^e	6.5 (4.5, 8.5)	5.5 (3.7, NR) ^e			
$HPV34^{f}$	2	100.0	NR	NR	0.0	1	NR					
HPV35	4	100.0 ^g	100.0 ^g	NR	18.4 (2.6, 130.9)	20.5 (17.7, 23.3)	18.5 (18.5, NR) ^e		NR			
HPV39	19	94.7 (68.1, 99.2)	67.6 (37.9, 85.4)	48.3 (19.5, 72.3)	30.6 (14.6, 64.2)	19.6 (14.0, 25.3)	14.7 (8.5, NR) ^e	9.1 (6.8, 11.5)	8.5 (4.7, 12.6)			
HPV45	8	87.5 (38.7, 98.1)	87.5 (38.7, 98.1)	87.5 (38.7, 98.1)	10.5 (1.5, 74.5)	25.5 (20.1, 31.0)	NR		NR			
HPV51	23	86.7 (64.3, 95.5)	70.1 (39.9, 87.2)	48.1 (17.7, 73.4)	27.2 (12.9, 57.0)	19.2 (14.3, 24.1)	16.3 (11.3, NR) ^e	9.2 (5.5, 12.9)	9.4 (3.6, 15.2)			
HPV52	19	94.7 (68.1, 99.2)	53.3 (27.9, 73.3)	16.7 (1.3, 48.0)	50.0 (27.7, 90.3)	14.8 (10.8, 18.7)	13.7 (6.8, 23.0)	10.2 (7.0, 13.4)	9.0 (6.2, 13.7)			
HPV53	25	87.5 (66.1, 95.8)	76.5 (51.8, 89.7)	68.8 (41.7, 85.2)	22.2 (10.0, 49.5)	19.2 (15.5, 22.9)	NR	6.5 (3.8, 9.1)	4.2 (3.6, NR) ^e			
HPV56	16	85.7 (53.9, 96.2)	43.5 (14.0, 70.3)	NR	49.3 (23.5, 103.4)	11.8 (8.9, 14.7)	9.2 (7.9, NR) ^e	8.9 (6.2, 11.5)	8.2 (5.3, 9.2)			
HPV58	13	100.0 ^g	100.0 ^g	66.7 (5.4, 94.5)	5.2 (0.7, 36.7)	30.4 (23.9, 36.9)	NR		NR			
HPV59	18	82.2 (54.3, 93.9)	63.4 (31.1, 83.7)	63.4 (31.1, 83.7)	27.2 (11.3, 65.4)	21.8 (15.4, 28.2)	NR	6.0 (4.2, 7.9)	5.6 (3.4, NR) ^e			
HPV66	35	81.7 (63.7, 91.3)	47.6 (25.7, 66.6)	NR	57.8 (35.9, 93.0)	11.9 (9.5, 14.4)	10.3 (8.6, 14.9)	8.7 (6.5, 10.9)	8.6 (4.6, 10.3)			
HPV67	25	100.0 ^g	56.5 (31.2, 75.5)	NR	41.1 (22.7, 74.2)	13.3 (11.2, 15.4)	14.7 (8.3, NR) ^e	10.2 (8.4, 12.0)	8.5 (7.4, 13.3)			
HPV68	6	80.0 (20.4, 96.9)	53.3 (6.8, 86.3)	NR	38.5 (9.6, 153.9)	12.0 (8.5, 15.4)	NR	8.0 (4.6, 11.4)	5.6 (5.6, NR) ^e			
HPV69	0											
HPV70 ^f	5	100.0	100.0	100.0	0.0		NR					
HPV73	21	95.0 (69.5, 99.3)	63.3 (35.7, 81.7)	NR	44.7 (24.1, 83.1)	14.2 (11.6, 16.8)	16.3 (8.8, 17.2)	11.4 (8.7, 14.1)	9.0 (4.8, 16.3)			
HPV82	9	88.9 (43.3, 98.4)	31.8 (4.9, 64.7)	NR	58.0 (24.1, 139.3)	10.6 (7.8, 13.5)	9.4 (3.8, NR) ^e	8.0 (6.1, 9.8)	8.9 (3.8, NR) ^e			
All Woman-Level	68	95.4 (86.5, 98.5)	78.6 (64.3, 87.7)	65.2 (44.2, 80.0)	16.3 (9.7, 27.5)	29.8 (25.3, 34.2)	NR	9.1 (6.5, 11.6)	8.1 (4.9, 10.1)			
Any HPV-Level ^h	303	90.4 (86.3, 93.6)	72.1 (67.1, 77.3)	61.1 (54.6, 66.8)	20.5 (16.6, 25.6)	29.8 (24.6, 31.7)	NR	9.3 (8.4, 10.2)	NR			
Subgenus 3												
HPV61	16	92.9 (59.1, 99.0)	83.6 (48.0, 95.7)	NR	17.9 (5.8, 55.4)	19.0 (14.5, 23.5)	NR	8.5 (5.1, 11.9)	7.9 (5.2, NR) ^e			
HPV62	25	96.0 (74.8, 99.4)	78.8 (51.8, 91.7)	51.7 (22.1, 74.9)	27.2 (13.6, 54.4)	20.3 (15.4, 25.2)	29.0 (12.2, NR) ^e	12.4 (7.5, 17.3)	10.8 (3.7, 14.4)			
HPV71	0					/	/					
HPV72	0											
HPV81	2	100.0 ^g	100.0 ^g	NR	44.8 (6.3, 318.2)		12.2 (NR, NR) ^e		NR			
HPV83	7	100.0 ^g	20.0 (0.8, 58.2)	NR	66.0 (24.8, 175.9)	9.6 (7.9, 11.3)	8.8 (7.3, NR) ^e	8.7 (7.7, 9.8)	8.5 (7.3, NR) ^e			
HPV84	34	79.3 (59.4, 90.2)	52.6 (31.2, 70.2)	46.8 (25.4, 65.6)	39.0 (22.6, 67.1)	18.1 (13.4, 22.7)	13.9 (6.9, NR) ^e	6.9 (5.4, 8.4)	6.1 (4.5, 8.5)			

HPV89	43	90.2 (75.9, 96.2)	69.5 (51.3, 82.0)	54.9 (29.0, 74.7)	25.7 (14.9, 44.3)	21.0 (17.3, 24.7)	NR	8.3 (5.9, 10.7)	6.7 (4.2, 10.5)
All Woman-Level	71	89.4 (79.1, 94.8)	70.6 (56.6, 80.7)	52.4 (35.2, 67.0)	29.2 (19.6, 43.6)	20.3 (17.3, 23.2)	29.0 (12.9, NR) ^e	9.4 (7.1, 11.7)	6.8 (5.7, 10.8)
Any HPV-Level ^h	127	90.5 (83.7, 94.5)	73.0 (64.3, 79.8)	65.2 (53.8, 72.4)	19.4 (14.1, 27.1)	26.6 (23.5, 28.9)	NR	8.8 (7.3, 10.5)	NR
All 36 Types									
All Woman-Level	65	96.8 (87.7, 99.2)	85.1 (72.3, 92.3)	72.1 (50.6, 85.5)	11.8 (6.5, 21.3)	31.9 (27.9, 36.0)	NR	9.7 (6.8, 12.7)	8.7 (5.3, 12.6)
Any HPV-Level ^h	534	90.0 (86.9, 92.4)	72.5 (68.4, 76.8)	62.7 (57.9, 66.9)	19.8 (16.8, 23.4)	30.1 (25.3, 31.4)	NR	9.1 (8.4, 9.9)	NR

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; HPV, human papillomavirus; NR, not reached.

-- indicates an insufficient number of women were at risk (i.e., 0) or experienced the outcome (i.e., 0 or 1) to estimate this value.

^a Sample size does not apply to conditional mean/median; sample size for conditional statistics is the number of conservative clearances.

^b Rate per 1000 woman-months, excepting HPV-level analyses of grouped types, which are provided as rate per 1000 infection-months.

^c Time to clearance including women/infections that were censored.

^d Time to clearance conditional on event of interest (i.e., time to clearance restricted to women/infections that had a conservative clearance during the study).

^e Bound(s) of the survival function's 95% CI never reached or fell below 50%.

^fHPV type was never cleared among women included in this analysis.

^g HPV type was not cleared by this time point among women included in this analysis.

^h 95% CIs for uncleared infection estimates generated using bootstrap resampling of woman-clusters. 95% CIs for clearance rate per 1000 infection-months estimated via woman-clustered jackknife. 95% CIs for actuarial and conditional mean time to clearance determined by woman-cluster resampling bootstrap. 95% CIs for actuarial and conditional median time to clearance affixed by the times at which each (woman-clustered bootstrap-based) 95% CI bound of the actuarial and conditional survival functions (respectively) reached or fell below 50%.

M1-Table S4. Sensitivity analysis: Actuarial mean time (months) to detection of incident infection with survival functions extended exponentially to 0 for individual HPV types, grouped types at the woman-level, and grouped types at the HPV-level, by subgenus.

	Single Dete	ction	Double Detection				
	Mean (95% CI)	Successful Reps. (%)	Mean (95% CI)	Successful Reps. (%)			
Subgenus 1							
HPV6	223.1 (117.5, 441.9)	100.0	742.1 (487.6, 1,240.4)	100.0			
HPV11	1,844.4 (661.2, 17,133.2)	97.4					
HPV40	256.2 (87.7, 958.7)	100.0	2,508.8 (1,336.9, 7,994.4)	100.0			
HPV42	193.7 (122.3, 306.4)	100.0	723.5 (475.0, 1,206.4)	100.0			
HPV44	914.2 (464.1, 2,932.4)	100.0	6.631.4 (2.814.9, 21.385.5)	95.5			
HPV54	377.4 (244.7, 647.1)	100.0	926.4 (530.9, 1.961.8)	100.0			
Any Woman-Level	101.8 (78.8, 130.7)	100.0	230.4 (171.5, 321.4)	100.0			
Any HPV-Level ^a	348.9 (236.5, 514.0)	100.0	1.417.2 (1.078.0, 1.916.2)	100.0			
Subgenus 2		10010	1,11,12 (1,07,010, 1,91012)	10010			
HPV16	290.8 (178.3, 522.6)	100.0	713 4 (427 4 1 393 3)	100.0			
HPV18	827 9 (477 0 2 206 7)	100.0	2 254 4 (1 087 8 9 565 9)	99.5			
HPV26	18 369 3 (4 677 2 19 061 6)	62.6					
HPV31	276 1 (124 1 704 0)	100.0	1 426 7 (834 5 3 639 8)	100.0			
HPV33	1 123 2 (388 3 9 839 7)	99.7					
HPV34	8 656 8 (3 300 0 18 962 7)	87.0					
LIDV25	2,714.8(1,202.0,10,662.2)	00.8	6 8 15 1 (2 807 6 21 582 2)	05.1			
	2,714.8(1,205.0,10,002.2)	100.0	(2,07,0,21,305,3)	100.0			
11F V 39	394.0(224.1, 702.2)	100.0	(1,199.3) $(740.3, 2,393.7)$	04.2			
	280.1(97.0, 1,038.4)	100.0	0,035.5(2,005.9,10,014.5)	94.5			
	194.5 (88.8, 455.5)	100.0	985.5 (000.7, 1,970.5)	100.0			
HPV52	192.4(78.8, 592.6)	100.0	1,020.0 (985.3, 3,009.8)	100.0			
HPV55	3/0.7(253.7, 500.2)	100.0	883.3 (5/3.9, 1,50/.5)	100.0			
HPV56	266.4 (99.5, 1,073.1)	100.0	1,598.5 (961.1, 3,491.8)	100.0			
HPV58	843.1 (502.2, 1,695.8)	100.0	1,2/9.5 (723.0, 3,341.2)	100.0			
HPV59	385.4 (187.0, 940.9)	100.0	1,164.2 (585.9, 3,202.9)	100.0			
HPV66	158.3 (77.1, 368.3)	100.0	926.6 (608.8, 1,689.3)	100.0			
HPV67	419.5 (263.5, 718.4)	100.0	1,302.8 (796.3, 2,736.0)	100.0			
HPV68	2,739.6 (1,440.4, 10,049.3)	99.6	3,397.9 (1,647.4, 15,699.2)	98.9			
HPV69							
HPV70	2,209.5 (1,084.4, 8,069.4)	99.8	9,835.8 (3,851.2, 21,138.3)	84.7			
HPV73	370.0 (178.9, 899.8)	100.0	1,188.1 (769.3, 2,254.4)	100.0			
HPV82	1,791.4 (1,040.6, 4,279.5)	100.0	4,774.3 (2,205.4, 20,347.1)	98.2			
Any Woman-Level	46.5 (30.7, 74.7)	100.0	148.0 (106.4, 211.9)	100.0			
Any HPV-Level ^a	462.6 (305.6, 679.9)	100.0	1,892.1 (1,540.6, 2,339.2)	100.0			
Subgenus 3							
HPV61	562.5 (366.5, 972.5)	100.0	1,160.4 (680.3, 2,448.7)	100.0			
HPV62	129.6 (66.0, 459.9)	100.0	1,168.5 (753.2, 2,173.4)	100.0			
HPV71							
HPV72							
HPV81	1,931.4 (888.5, 10,161.0)	99.6	20,643.8 (5,167.0, 21,187.7)	65.0			
HPV83	2,608.7 (1,435.7, 9,580.1)	99.9	5,877.5 (2,391.1, 21,533.9)	93.9			
HPV84	167.1 (90.7, 313.0)	100.0	918.7 (579.4, 1,639.4)	100.0			
HPV89	229.1 (165.8, 325.9)	100.0	530.9 (351.7, 908.0)	100.0			
Any Woman-Level	56.4 (37.6, 91.8)	100.0	261.2 (189.7, 359.7)	100.0			
Any HPV-Level ^a	403.9 (281.2, 596.0)	100.0	1,715.7 (1,300.2, 2,258.2)	100.0			
All 36 Types							
Any Woman-Level	45.8 (28.9. 71.9)	100.0	106.7 (77.3, 146.1)	100.0			
Any HPV-Level ^a	426.0 (298.5, 591.6)	100.0	1,753.8 (1,457.7, 2,102.7)	100.0			

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; HPV, human papillomavirus; reps., replications.

-- indicates an insufficient number of women were at risk (i.e., 0) or experienced the outcome (i.e.,

0 or 1) to estimate this value.

^a 95% CIs for mean times to detection determined by woman-cluster resampling bootstraps.

		Liberal	Clearance		Conservative Clearance						
	Infections P	resent at Baseline	Incide	nt Infections	Infections Pr	esent at Baseline	Inciden	t Infections			
	Mean (95% CI)	Successful Reps. (%)	Mean (95% CI)	Successful Reps. (%)	Mean (95% CI)	Successful Reps. (%)	Mean (95% CI)	Successful Reps. (%)			
Subgenus 1											
HPV6	13.7 (9.3, 29.9)	100.0	12.1 (9.1, 17.0)	100.0	43.3 (17.8, 107.5)	100.0	17.5 (11.0, 35.5)	100.0			
HPV11	4.4 (2.8, 5.9)	75.6			4.4 (2.8, 5.9)	75.1					
HPV40	13.0 (6.8, 27.2)	100.0	11.5 (9.1, 14.2)	100.0	16.8 (9.2, 44.6)	100.0	31.5 (13.0, 173.5)	98.2			
HPV42	15.0 (11.6, 21.2)	100.0	19.4 (11.9, 32.2)	100.0	21.8 (12.4, 37.9)	100.0	33.0 (16.4, 66.6)	100.0			
HPV44	15.3 (7.0, 28.5)	100.0	11.3 (7.2, 18.2)	94.9	40.6 (9.5, 195.6)	99.7	44.4 (7.2, 81.2)	63.7			
HPV54	13.3 (10.0, 19.3)	100.0	15.0 (10.9, 26.9)	100.0	16.8 (12.7, 25.9)	100.0	99.4 (32.6, 470.3)	96.2			
All Woman-Level	15.6 (13.2, 20.7)	100.0	19.2 (13.3, 29.8)	100.0	34.3 (24.0, 50.2)	100.0	33.4 (18.3, 57.8)	100.0			
Any HPV-Level ^a	13.9 (11.9, 16.5)	100.0	28.9 (20.7, 38.9)	100.0	23.2 (17.0, 32.3)	100.0	80.6 (57.2, 117.3)	100.0			
Subgenus 2											
HPV16	28.5 (20.2, 39.7)	100.0	21.2 (10.9, 71.9)	99.9	44.6 (30.8, 66.3)	100.0	24.8 (11.6, 112.6)	99.5			
HPV18	12.5 (9.3, 18.2)	100.0	40.4 (11.8, 148.8)	99.5	13.5 (9.9, 20.7)	100.0	109.1 (23.4, 285.6)	87.0			
HPV26											
HPV31	15.5 (11.5, 21.7)	100.0	11.3 (8.5, 19.9)	100.0	21.2 (14.4, 42.8)	100.0	15.9 (13.2, 79.5)	100.0			
HPV33	9.9 (4.9, 38.2)	97.6	6.5 (4.6, 8.6)	97.8	9.9 (4.8, 38.2)	97.4	6.5 (4.6, 8.5)	97.8			
HPV34	9.3 (6.7, 14.0)	100.0	5.9 (5.8, 6.0)	100.0	9.3 (6.7, 14.0)	100.0					
HPV35	15.7 (6.2, 47.6)	89.8	16.6 (7.7, 22.5)	98.5	15.7 (6.2, 47.6)	90.6	36.8 (18.5, 58.2)	68.4			
HPV39	14.2 (11.4, 18.4)	100.0	17.5 (10.0, 35.0)	100.0	25.7 (14.3, 43.9)	100.0	39.6 (14.9, 107.3)	100.0			
HPV45	9.4 (6.7, 12.5)	100.0	9.4 (6.2, 14.5)	100.0	23.1 (8.1, 80.6)	100.0	212.4 (25.9, 298.4)	63.6			
HPV51	16.0 (13.0, 20.7)	100.0	13.7 (9.8, 17.9)	100.0	25.8 (15.9, 41.6)	100.0	37.6 (15.1, 117.8)	99.9			
HPV52	13.9 (10.3, 20.2)	100.0	15.4 (10.0, 27.0)	100.0	28.7 (17.5, 54.4)	100.0	17.2 (10.8, 33.7)	100.0			
HPV53	18.5 (15.0, 22.6)	100.0	13.7 (10.7, 23.1)	100.0	34.2 (19.8, 66.3)	100.0	64.4 (26.5, 188.3)	100.0			
HPV56	15.8 (9.9, 30.8)	100.0	10.7 (8.2, 15.2)	100.0	22.0 (11.8, 45.8)	100.0	11.8 (9.3, 34.4)	100.0			
HPV58	18.3 (11.7, 30.6)	100.0	21.5 (15.4, 29.4)	99.9	21.4 (12.4, 41.0)	100.0	87.1 (22.3, 155.7)	63.2			
HPV59	11.5 (9.2, 14.4)	100.0	13.7 (8.1, 21.3)	100.0	14.6 (10.7, 20.8)	100.0	64.4 (16.3, 231.0)	99.6			
HPV66	10.9 (8.7, 13.3)	100.0	9.7 (8.0, 11.6)	100.0	13.4 (9.4, 20.8)	100.0	11.9 (9.6, 17.5)	100.0			
HPV67	10.7 (8.6, 13.3)	100.0	10.9 (9.1, 13.6)	100.0	13.1 (10.1, 17.6)	100.0	18.3 (12.0. 35.3)	100.0			
HPV68	29.6 (15.6, 66.3)	100.0	14.0 (7.9, 52.1)	98.0	45.9 (21.3, 133.2)	99.8	24.8 (8.5, 82.6)	91.4			
HPV69											
HPV70	18.0 (4.7. 32.0)	95.2	14.4 (6.2. 23.2)	99.7	47.8 (17.4, 111.9)	65.7					
HPV73	11.3 (7.7, 16.9)	100.0	11.0 (8.8, 13.4)	100.0	19.4 (10.9. 35.4)	100.0	15.6 (11.8, 26.5)	100.0			
HPV82	7.1 (5.1, 9.6)	100.0	11.9 (7.2, 23.7)	100.0	8.0 (5.4, 11.4)	100.0	15.0 (8.0, 41.1)	99.5			
All Woman-Level	30.9 (23.9, 41.4)	100.0	21.5 (13.6. 33.4)	100.0	77.0 (57.0, 98.9)	100.0	90.0 (39.1, 185.4)	100.0			
Any HPV-Level ^a	15.5 (14.1, 17.8)	100.0	25.4 (18.2, 31.9)	100.0	27.9 (23.5, 32.7)	100.0	82.5 (61.0, 103.3)	100.0			
Subgenus 3	15.5 (11.1, 17.6)	100.0	25.1 (10.2, 51.5)	100.0	27.9 (23.3, 52.7)	100.0	02.5 (01.0, 105.5)	100.0			
HPV61	24.0 (11.4, 73.2)	100.0	23 1 (9 8 66 7)	99.9	28 2 (12 9 103 6)	999	58 3 (16 0 289 7)	96.6			
HPV62	205(158 286)	100.0	131(94 170)	100.0	520(277,103.0)	100.0	20.3(15.3, 20).7)	100.0			
HPV71	82(65.99)	100.0	13.1 (7.7, 17.0)			100.0	20.3 (13.3, 02.2)	100.0			
HPV72	0.2 (0.5, 5.9)	100.0									
HPV81	126(82274)	99.9			150(136392)	98.6					
HPV83	266(109.854)	100.0	104(76208)	100.0	637(1373044)	977	112(81324)	00 0			
HPV83	26.6 (10.9, 85.4)	100.0	10.4 (7.6, 20.8)	100.0	63.7 (13.7, 304.4)	97.7	11.2 (8.1, 32.4)	99.9			

M1-Table S5. Sensitivity analysis: Actuarial mean time (months) to clearance of infection with survival functions extended exponentially to 0 for individual HPV types, grouped types at the woman-level, and grouped types at the HPV-level, by subgenus.

HPV84	11.0 (8.2, 14.8)	100.0	11.5 (8.6, 15.5)	100.0	17.2 (11.0, 28.5)	100.0	36.6 (16.7, 71.8)	100.0
HPV89	12.3 (9.9, 15.3)	100.0	14.4 (11.7, 17.3)	100.0	39.1 (18.8, 65.5)	100.0	47.8 (22.0, 107.4)	100.0
All Woman-Level	18.4 (15.8, 23.8)	100.0	15.3 (13.1, 18.5)	100.0	55.7 (38.5, 77.5)	100.0	26.1 (18.1, 65.0)	100.0
Any HPV-Level ^a	14.9 (12.6, 18.2)	100.0	22.8 (17.1, 29.6)	100.0	34.7 (24.3, 47.3)	100.0	72.2 (46.9, 109.5)	100.0
All 36 Types								
All Woman-Level	32.3 (24.9, 43.8)	100.0	41.3 (21.7, 78.4)	100.0	104.1 (77.3, 137.8)	100.0	118.8 (49.4, 269.3)	100.0
Any HPV-Level ^a	15.0 (13.7, 16.5)	100.0	26.3 (20.1, 31.6)	100.0	28.6 (24.1, 32.7)	100.0	84.5 (63.7, 99.9)	100.0

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; HPV, human papillomavirus; reps., replications.

-- indicates an insufficient number of women were at risk (i.e., 0) or experienced the outcome (i.e., 0 or 1) to estimate this value.

^a 95% CIs for mean times to clearance determined by woman-cluster resampling bootstraps.



Abbreviations: HPV, human papillomavirus; mos., months (1 month = 30.437 days).

M1-Figure S1. Analytical framework for liberal clearance of infection present at baseline.

i. Woman-level analysis for a given HPV type: Woman must be positive for HPVx at baseline. She has a liberal clearance at 24 months, when she tests negative for HPVx.

ii. Woman-level analysis for grouped HPV types x, y, and z: Woman must be positive for one or more types at baseline. She never clears all three types at a single visit, so she is right-censored (24 months).

iii. HPV-level analysis for grouped HPV types x, y, and z: HPV types must be present at baseline. There will be a liberal clearance each first time woman tests negative for any type following a visit where she was positive for the same type. HPVx and HPVz have liberal clearances at 24- and 18-months, respectively; HPVy is right-censored (24 months).

Symbol Legend:

- **2** : Debut of woman's sexual relationship with a male partner occurred 0-6 months prebaseline.
- ↓ : Data are right-censored.
- ⇒ : Time to discrete event of interest. Gradient arrows indicate that biological clearance occurred at an unknown time before the clearance event at the arrowhead. Solid blue arrow counts time at risk contributed before censorship at the arrowhead.



M1-Figure S2. Months post-baseline at which women attended follow-up visits. Sample size per visit provided for woman- (n_w) and HPV- (n_{HPV}) level prevalence analyses. Protocol-designated times for visits 2-6 were 4-, 8-, 12-, 18- and 24-months post-baseline; visit 7 was auxiliary.



M1-Figure S3. Single detection of incident infection with any (A) HPV type, (B) subgenus 1, (C) subgenus 2, and (D) subgenus 3 type, at the HPV-level. Risk tables were extracted from standard Kaplan-Meier plots and appended to the above plots, which incorporate bootstrap-based confidence intervals.



M1-Figure S4. Double detection of incident infection with any (A) HPV type(s), (B) subgenus 1, (C) subgenus 2, and (D) subgenus 3 type(s), at the woman-level.



M1-Figure S5. Double detection of incident infection with any (A) HPV type, (B) subgenus 1, (C) subgenus 2, and (D) subgenus 3 type, at the HPV-level. Risk tables were extracted from standard Kaplan-Meier plots and appended to the above plots, which incorporate bootstrap-based confidence intervals.



M1-Figure S6. Liberal clearance of any (A) HPV type, (B) subgenus 1, (C) subgenus 2, and (D) subgenus 3 type for incident infections (red) and infections present at baseline (blue), at the HPV-level. Risk tables were extracted from standard Kaplan-Meier plots and appended to the above plots, which incorporate bootstrap-based confidence intervals.



M1-Figure S7. Conservative clearance of all (A) HPV type(s), (B) subgenus 1, (C) subgenus 2, and (D) subgenus 3 type(s) for infections present at baseline (blue) and incident infections (red), at the woman-level.



M1-Figure S8. Conservative clearance of any (A) HPV type, (B) subgenus 1, (C) subgenus 2, and (D) subgenus 3 type for incident infections (red) and infections present at baseline (blue), at the HPV-level. Risk tables were extracted from standard Kaplan-Meier plots and appended to the above plots, which incorporate bootstrap-based confidence intervals.

M1-Addendum S1. Woman-Level Analyses of Given HPV Types: For each outcome, we performed 36 woman-level analyses of individual HPV types, with one analysis for each HPV type tested. Each analysis of a given HPV type incorporated women's longitudinal positivity statuses for one individual type of HPV.

M1-Addendum S2. Woman-Level Analyses of Grouped HPV Types: For each outcome, we performed 4 woman-level analyses of grouped HPV types, with one analysis for each subgenus, and one analysis including all 36 HPV types. These analyses treat each woman's longitudinal HPV status as a composite. A woman was considered HPV-positive when she tested positive for one or more of the HPV types included in the group of interest, and HPV-negative only when she tested negative for all those types.

M1-Addendum S3. HPV-Level Analyses of Grouped HPV Types: For each outcome, we performed 4 HPV-level analyses of grouped HPV types, with one analysis for each subgenus, and one analysis including all 36 HPV types. These analyses handle women's longitudinal HPV statuses for each unique HPV type in the group of interest separately. In so doing, HPV-level analyses can account for a woman's simultaneous positivity and negativity for multiple different HPV types.

	Penile and Scrotal Samples at Baseline				Penile and Scrotal Samples at Follow-up				Baseline and Follow-up: Combined Genital Site(s)						
		-+	+-	++	Kappa ^b		-+	+-	++	Kappa ^b		-+	+-	++	Kappa ^b
Male 1															
Overall	591	5	15	37	0.77	712	6	18	20	0.61	1154	18	27	61	0.71
Subgenus 1	98	1	3	6	0.73	116	1	5	4	0.55	190	3	6	11	0.69
Subgenus 2	362	1	11	22	0.77	435	4	13	10	0.52	706	12	15	37	0.71
Subgenus 3	131	3	1	9	0.80	161	1	0	6	0.92	258	3	6	13	0.73
Male 2															
Overall	497	4	22	17	0.54	168	1	2	9	0.85	999	37	26	54	0.60
Subgenus 1	82	0	4	4	0.65	29	0	0	1	1.00	164	4	4	14	0.75
Subgenus 2	303	3	15	9	0.47	100	1	2	7	0.81	609	25	17	31	0.56
Subgenus 3	112	1	3	4	0.65	39	0	0	1	1.00	226	8	5	9	0.55

M2-Table S1. Agreement between sample collection sites and visits in males for type-specific HPV positivity, overall and by subgenus.^a

Abbreviation: HPV, human papillomavirus.

^a Subgenus 1 includes low oncogenic risk mucosal HPVs 6, 11, 40, 42, 44, and 54; subgenus 2 includes high oncogenic risk mucosal HPVs 16, 18, 26, 31, 33, 34, 35, 39, 45, 51, 52, 53, 56, 58, 59, 66, 67, 68, 69, 70, 73 and 82; and subgenus 3 includes commensal mucocutaneous HPVs 61, 62, 71, 72, 81, 83, 84 and 89 [18, 19].

^b Kappa values 0.41-0.60 indicate moderate, 0.61-0.80 substantial, and 0.81-1.00 almost perfect agreement [17].



M2-Figure S1. Distribution of time elapsed between male 1 last available sample and male 2 baseline sample within linked partnerships.

M2-Figure S1 Legend: While all male 2 provided a baseline genital sample, male 1 follow-up visits did not begin until October 2006. As such, we measured the time between males 1 and 2 providing genital samples based on the last sample male 1 provided. When male 1 provided a follow-up sample, we measured the time between male 1 follow-up and male 2 baseline; otherwise, we measured the time between male 1 baseline and male 2 baseline.



M2-Figure S2. Expected human papillomavirus (HPV) concordance between male 1 and male 2.

M2-Figure S2 Legend: Distribution of expected concordance for 36 individual HPV types. Assuming that the HPV positivity of males 1 and 2 is independent, the number of infections for which males 1 and 2 are expected to be concordant is equal to the product of the infection prevalence, divided by the total number of detectable infections (i.e., $\frac{P_{HPVx,Male1} \times P_{HPVx,Male2}}{T_{HPVx}}$).